



FINANCE FOR ZERO: Redefining Financial-Sector Action to Achieve Global Climate Goals

June 2023

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report has been prepared by the Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment. The authors are Lisa Sachs, Nora Mardirossian, and Perrine Toledano, with substantial input from Emily Bugden.

The authors are grateful for the excellent research support and assistance we received from Aryadita Balakrishnan, Reet Chatterjee, Yuko Hashimoto, Xun Li, Johan Lopez, Luca Meneghini, Pierre Piotr Pettiaux, Shaurir Ramanujan, Madeleine Songy, and Chloe Zhou.

We also extend deep thanks to the following experts who provided peer reviews of all or parts of the report: Frederick Alexander, Bill Baue, Andrew Bernstein, Barbara Buchner, Michael Burger, Paul DeNoon, Jordan Faires, Allison Fajans-Turner, Vanessa Fajans-Turner, Tom Gosling, Ilmi Granoff, Evan Greenfield, Cynthia Hanawalt, Denise Hearn, Jake Hiller, Andrew Howell, Stephanie Jones, Rajiv Joshi, Jenny Mandel, Paddy McCully, Paloma Muñoz Quick, Michael Northrup, Andrea Pereira, Lucie Pinson, Ken Pucker, Jeffrey D. Sachs, Peter Sandahl, Jérôme Schmitt, Maximilian Schreck, Paul Schreiber, Jérôme Tagger, and Harald Walkate.

We are grateful to Environmental Defense Fund for grant support to conduct this research.

The authors maintain full editorial control of the content of this report, and any errors are our own.

SUGGESTED CITATION

Lisa Sachs, Nora Mardirossian, and Perrine Toledano, "Finance for Zero: Redefining Financial-Sector Action to Achieve Global Climate Goals," Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment (June 2023).

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	4
Introduction	7
Financial Institutions Covered in this Report	11
Part 1. Clearly Define Climate-Related Goals, Strategies, and Metrics	12
a. Differentiating Risk from Impact	
b. Differentiating Portfolio Decarbonization from Impact	
c. The Use of Financed Emissions Calculations	
d. Effective and Accurate Target-Setting	
i. Restricting the Use of GHG Offsets	
ii. Using Absolute Emission-Reduction Targets	
iii. Using Near-Term in Addition to Long-Term Targets	
iv. Choosing Appropriate Base Years for GHG Calculations	
v. Separating Methane (and Other Potent GHG) Emissions from CO ₂ Emissions	
e. Scope of Coverage	
f. Antitrust Concerns, Fiduciary Duties, and Financial Interests	
Summary Table	
Part 2. Stop Direct and Indirect Lobbying, Shift Finance, and Use Your Influence	23
A. Stop Direct and Indirect Lobbying Activities Against Climate Action	
Summary Table	
B. Shift New Finance to Achieve the 1.5°C Trajectory	
a. Ending New Finance for Fossil Fuel Exploration and Expansion	
b. Financing Business and Sector Transitions	29
c. Reorienting New Capital Toward the Transition	
Summary Table	
C. Use Influence With Financed Entities to Support Their Transitions	
a. Engagement Tools and Strategies	
b. Increasing Engagement Impact	
Summary Table	
Part 3. Embed Accountability and Oversight at the FI Level and in External Initiatives	40
a. FI-Level Governance and Oversight	
b. Accountability by Voluntary Initiatives	
Summary Table	
Part 4. Contribute to Filling Gaps in Metrics and Methodologies	44
a. Carbon Footprinting	44
b. 1.5°C Trajectory and Science-Based Targets	
c. Defining What Constitutes a Climate Solution and a "Green" Company	
Conclusion	48
Annex A: Table of Relevant Initiatives	50
Anney R. Effective and Accurate Target-Setting	5/
i Restricting the Use of GHG Offsets	5 4
ii. Using Absolute Emission-Reduction Targets	57
iii. Using Near-Term in Addition to Long-Term Targets	58
iv. Choosing Appropriate Base Years for GHG Calculations	58
v. Separating Methane (and Other Potent GHG) Emissions from CO ₂ Emissions	

Executive Summary

As of 2023, the financial system is woefully misaligned with the world's climate goals. Six times the current annual level of investment in non-fossil fuel investments is needed between 2023 and 2030 to stay on a 1.5°C warming pathway.¹ The ratio of clean-energy lending and equity underwriting by banks relative to fossil fuels needs to reach 4 to 1 by 2030, whereas for 1,142 assessed banks, the ratio was between 0.8 and 1 at the end of 2021.²

As providers, underwriters, and fiduciaries of trillions of dollars of capital flows annually, financial institutions (FIs) play a critical role in decarbonizing the economy and scaling access to clean, affordable energy. Optimally, the roles and opportunities for the financial sector should be guided by an official pathway and associated policy tools, such as carbon pricing, public finance and guarantees, strategic subsidies, sectoral regulations, and so on. Unfortunately, that policy framework to shape and guide the financial sector does not yet exist.

In the absence of strong government leadership, there has been a proliferation of bottomup models, tools, metrics, methodologies, and initiatives designed to measure and evaluate the climate performance of financial institutions. While the rapid growth of these initiatives demonstrates the financial sector's engagement, meaningful progress in realigning global finance to support climate goals has been limited. These frameworks and tools often overstate or misrepresent the extent to which they support meaningful action toward achieving climate goals, and at times rely on misaligned targets or metrics that undermine their effectiveness as tools for setting or assessing corporate commitments. Overall, existing commitments and strategies are not sufficiently aligned with the actions needed from financial sector actors to achieve climate goals.

There are deep and inherent limitations to bottom-up approaches to achieving decarbonization, some that are within the capability of financial institutions to address but many that are beyond their remit. This report focuses on the things the financial sector can and should do even in the absence of a robust long-term policy framework.

Part 1 of this report urges FIs and their alliances to be clear in their commitments, pledges, and communications about their climate-related objectives and corresponding strategies, their limitations, if any, and how they measure success. Current climate-related pledges, alliances, frameworks, and tools at times confuse or conflate risk mitigation with climate action, relying on targets and metrics that may not be fit for purpose. Whether intentionally or unintentionally, FIs and their alliances can misrepresent or overstate the effectiveness of their approaches in contributing to climate action. This misrepresentation can be exacerbated by the use of misleading metrics or strategies, such as selling or legally spinning off high-emitting assets or using offsets in net-zero pathways.

FIs should communicate clearly and accurately about their climate-related pledges and commitments, including whether their goal is to contribute to climate action or to mitigate their own financial risk and how their business strategies will be aligned to achieve those goals. FIs should ensure that targets, metrics, and methodologies are aligned with their goals and business strategies and do not misrepresent the effectiveness of their strategies.

FIs' commitments and strategies are shaped by their financial interests and their interpretation of their fiduciary and other legal duties and obligations; because of perceived tensions between legal obligations and certain climate-oriented strategies, FIs and their alliances should provide clear, public explanations of how their interpreted fiduciary and other legal duties shape their climate-related strategies.

Part 2 of this report proposes how financial institutions can and should contribute to, and not undermine, climate goals, under current policy conditions. While many of these actions are relevant for a risk-mitigating approach for FIs and their alliances, these recommendations go beyond risk mitigation in order to guide those FIs and their beneficiaries that seek to have real climate impact.

The following are the key recommendations for FIs' strategies to support global climate goals:

Stop lobbying against climate action: The fundamental way that FIs can support the energy transition—as well as mitigate their exposure to climate risk, create clearer pathways for private finance in climate-related opportunities, and reconcile potential conflicts between fiduciary duty and climate action—is to ensure that their climate policy engagement and that of their financed entities do not undermine government regulations. Specifically, FIs should stop lobbying against government regulation, both directly and through any business associations, and they should require that their financed entities similarly stop anti-climate lobbying.

Government policy, plans, roadmaps, and regulations are decisive for achieving global climate goals. Governments drive innovation, shift markets, assign costs and liabilities, incentivize important investments and behaviors, and define fiduciary responsibilities, among other things. Government policies are the most important determinant of corporate performance on sustainability issues, and public policies apply to all types of actors, both publicly traded and privately owned. Universal policies are necessary to address systemic risk facing FIs and their beneficiaries and to reduce the potential for the opportunistic behavior of industry laggards.

Shift finance: The most decisive and important role for the financial sector in accelerating the energy transition is its ability to mobilize the trillions of dollars needed to close the growing gap in climate finance and achieve climate goals. The emphasis for the financial sector, therefore, should be on how *new finance* is being directed, and whether new investments, loans, underwriting, and other forms of financing are contributing to—and not undermining—a rapid and just transition. Current financial flows toward low-carbon solutions must be multiplied by a factor of four to six, financing for fossil fuel exploration and expansion must end, and all new financing should be conditioned on robust 1.5°C alignment.

Use FIs' influence with their financed entities: To accelerate the energy transition, FIs should use their influence with the financed entities in their portfolios to support their transitions in line with a 1.5°C trajectory.

Part 3 of this report discusses the importance of more robust accountability and oversight mechanisms for financial institutions and their alliances with respect to climate-related strategies. Currently, there is little consequence for FIs that misrepresent their strategies and their effectiveness, that do not align their business plans or practices with their stated strategies, or that miss their own targets. Without addressing this gap, there will continue to be little incentive for honest communication or for the hard work of changing business plans and models.

Part 4 of the report discusses how FIs and their alliances can contribute to improving knowledge, data, and pathways that underpin FIs' climate strategies and engagement. Climate action calls for urgent and transformative change in a complex and rapidly evolving environment, in which the answers, appropriate technologies, and tools are not all readily available. The transformation requires an analysis of regional, national, and sectoral pathways and for the coordination of public and private actors and other stakeholders. The report recognizes the key challenges confronting FIs in implementing the report's recommendations, particularly those related to uncertain pathways, nascent and uncertain technologies, and insufficiently robust metrics and accounting methods, and suggests that FIs can actively contribute to resolving those uncertainties.

Some of the recommendations in this report are bold relative to existing practice, which underscores the gap between existing approaches and the financing pathways that are needed to achieve climate goals. The opportunities and pathways for the financial sector will be clarified and bolstered by evolving public policy, and the financial sector ought to be supportive of that policy framework. We hope this report provokes and supports critical discussions among policy makers, financial institutions, and their stakeholders around the policy framework and appropriate set of practices and tools that are necessary to meaningfully orient financial institutions toward our global climate goals.

Introduction

Global average temperatures increased by more than 1.1°C from pre-industrial levels during the 2011–2020 decade,³ leaving very little time or maneuverability for meeting the targets of the 2015 Paris climate agreement. The physical impacts on humanity are worsening year on year, with fatal heat waves, storm surges, and dramatic rainfall.⁴ Scientists warn that "reaching 1.5 in the near-term, would cause unavoidable increases in multiple climate hazards and present multiple risks to ecosystems and humans."⁵ The financial costs of climate change are mounting. Oxford Economics found that warming of 2.2°C by 2050 could reduce global GDP levels by 20%.⁶ A United States government inter-agency working group estimated conservatively that climate and weather disasters cost USD 165 billion in the United States in 2022 alone, and that the United States could be losing USD 2 trillion annually by failing to address climate change.⁷

And yet, even accounting for all nationally determined contributions as of September 2022, the world is on track to warm by 2.1°C–2.9°C by 2100.⁸ In its 2023 *Sixth Assessment Report*, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is clear: "Climate resilient development prospects are increasingly limited if current greenhouse gas [GHG] emissions do not rapidly decline, especially if 1.5°C global warming is exceeded in the near-term,"⁹ which, according to the IPCC, is more likely than not.

Averting the deepest climate crisis and mitigating the substantial financial costs of global warming and its consequences will require the decarbonization of the world's energy systems by 2050, and other major shifts in land use, transportation, and manufacturing, among other sectoral transformations. The notion of not emitting more carbon than is being absorbed by 2050 has led to the widespread adoption of the concept of "net zero," which has "become the organizing paradigm" for state and non-state actors' engagement with climate policy, despite consequential risks of that framing.¹⁰

Governments are responsible for producing official pathways, building on the pathways and analyses of academic studies and international organizations, in order to guide technologically sound, cost-effective, integrated, and long-term transformation strategies.¹¹ These pathways provide a necessary "benchmark" for the transformations needed throughout an economy, "to enable better decision making by policy makers, better informed advocacy, and more clarity for the business community."¹² They highlight the critical questions and challenges for government to navigate, including the interrelated challenges of energy planning, land-use planning, socio-economic transitions, research & development in key technologies, industrial-sector pathways, and so on. They also determine the roles and opportunities for non-state actors, including the corporate and financial sectors, and inform the policy tools and levers governments can use to shape those opportunities and financing pathways.

To date, most of the world's regions lack a coherent long-term pathway and accompanying policy framework to achieve net zero by 2050, including guidance to financial institutions,

7

sub-national governments, and non-financial private actors on their respective roles and contributions. In some countries, technical pathways are not yet developed and the necessary financing is in any event unattainable under current circumstances. In other countries, such as the United States academic researchers have put forward long-term pathways,¹³ but there is no government-adopted pathway to guide long-term strategy. The Inflation Reduction Act, for example, aims for a 40% reduction of emissions by 2030, but without any government-provided pathway, or consistent set of policies. The IRA itself relies almost entirely on tax credits for low-emission energy, rather than on an integrated set of public policies.

In addition to governments, the private sector also has significant responsibilities in achieving climate goals. The role of non-state actors is emphasized by the United Nations High-Level Expert Group on Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities (UN HLEG).¹⁴ Most notably, as providers, underwriters, and fiduciaries of trillions of dollars of capital flows annually, financial institutions (FIs) play a critical role in decarbonizing the economy and scaling access to clean, affordable energy. Optimally, the roles and opportunities for the financial sector should be guided by an official pathway and associated policy tools, such as carbon pricing, public finance and guarantees, strategic subsidies, sectoral regulations, and so on. That policy framework to shape and guide the financial sector does not yet exist.

In the absence of an official policy that is well integrated across technologies and sectors, and backed by an appropriate range of policy instruments, there has been a proliferation of bottom-up models, tools, metrics, methodologies, and initiatives designed to measure, evaluate, and coordinate the climate performance of financial institutions;¹⁵ a non-exhaustive list is included as Annex A. While the rapid growth of these initiatives demonstrates the financial sector's engagement, meaningful progress in realigning global finance to support climate goals has been limited. Six times current annual levels of investments in non-fossil fuel investments are needed between 2023 and 2030 to stay on a 1.5°C warming pathway.¹⁶ The ratio of clean-energy lending and equity underwriting by banks relative to fossil fuels needs to reach a minimum of 4 to 1 by 2030, whereas for 1142 assessed banks, the ratio was between 0.8 and 1 at the end of 2021.¹⁷

An important premise of this report is that a coherent technological pathway and associated policy framework is urgently needed to guide the financial sector. There are deep and inherent limitations to bottom-up approaches to achieving decarbonization goals, some that are within the capability of financial institutions to address but many that are beyond their remit. This report focuses on the things the financial sector can and should do even in the absence of a robust long-term policy framework.

Part 1 of this report begins by urging financial institutions to communicate clearly and accurately about their climate-related pledges and commitments. At the most basic level, current approaches to net-zero pledges are inconsistent about whether their purpose is to drive global climate goals, to mitigate financial risks for financial institutions, or to align with transition trajectories, which are different objectives with different implications for strategy and metrics.¹⁸ The current range of climate-related pledges, alliances, frameworks, and tools at times confuse or conflate risk mitigation with climate action, relying on targets and metrics that may not be fit for purpose.

ደ

Financial institutions and their initiatives should be clear about whether their goal is to contribute to climate action or to mitigate risk and how their corresponding strategies will be aligned to achieve those goals. To the extent that FIs perceive tensions in their strategies with their fiduciary or legal obligations, these should be explained. Moreover, irrespective of FIs' climate-related strategies, they should ensure that targets, metrics, and methodologies are aligned with their stated goals and do not misrepresent the effectiveness of their strategies.

Even within approaches that purport to contribute to climate goals, there is confusion and disagreement about which approaches are necessary, effective, and achievable. Accordingly, Part 2 of this report proposes how financial institutions can and should contribute to, and not undermine, climate goals, addressing the main inconsistencies, gaps, and shortcomings of current approaches.¹⁹

The report recommends the following principles for FIs to support the climate goals of the Paris Agreement:²⁰

- **1.** Ensure that any direct and indirect lobbying and other political activities of FIs, and of their financed entities, are supportive of robust climate action.
- 2. Shift new finance to activities that support the 1.5°C trajectory, which implies multiplying the current financial flows to low carbon solutions by a factor of four to six.
- **3.** Use influence with financed entities to support their transitions in line with a 1.5°C trajectory.

While many of these actions are also relevant for a risk-mitigating approach of FIs and their alliances, these recommendations go beyond risk mitigation in order to guide those FIs and their beneficiaries that seek to have real climate impact.

Part 3 of this report discusses the importance of more robust accountability and oversight mechanisms for financial institutions and their alliances with respect to climate-related strategies. Currently, there is little consequence for FIs that misrepresent their strategies and their effectiveness, that do not align their business plans or practices with their stated strategies, or that miss their own targets. Without addressing this gap, there will continue to be little incentive for honest communication or for the hard work of changing business plans and models.

Part 4 of this report recognizes the key challenges confronting FIs in meeting the recommendations in Part 2, particularly related to uncertain transition pathways, nascent and uncertain technologies, and insufficiently robust metrics and accounting methods. In our complex and rapidly evolving environment, the answers, appropriate technologies, and tools are not all readily available. The transformation also requires analysis of regional, national, and sectoral pathways, and for the coordination of public and private actors and other stakeholders. This report discusses several of these methodological challenges and suggests that FIs can actively contribute to resolving the uncertainties.

Some of the recommendations in this report are bold relative to existing practice, which underscores the gap between existing approaches and the financing pathways that are needed to achieve climate goals. The opportunities and pathways for the financial sector will be clarified and bolstered by evolving public policy, and the financial sector ought to be supportive of that policy framework. We hope this report provokes and supports critical discussions among policy makers and financial institutions around the policy framework and appropriate set of practices and tools that are necessary to meaningfully orient financial institutions toward our global climate goals.



FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS COVERED IN THIS REPORT

The report focuses on three types of financial institutions as actors in achieving climate goals: (1) asset owners, (2) asset managers, and (3) banks. While not discussed at length in this report, other market participants, including insurance companies, rating agencies, stock exchanges, and investment consultants, also have critical roles to play. Many of the recommendations in this report are applicable to these FIs, as well.

'Asset owners' refers to institutional investors such as pension funds, endowments, sovereign wealth funds, and insurance companies that steward capital for beneficiaries and policyholders. They have legal obligations to act in the best interest (and in some cases according to the mandates) of their beneficiaries (such as individual pension holders). Asset owners often have longer time horizons than other institutional investors, especially if they are stewarding capital for retirees, decades into the future. Large, diversified asset owners are sometimes identified as 'universal owners,' as their portfolios reflect a representative slice of the market; they therefore have an interest in the long-term health of the overall economy.

'Asset managers' receive their mandates from asset owners to manage their assets in ways that generate financial returns. Asset managers invest the capital from asset owners into companies, which can also include other FIs as well as sovereigns and other entities, through various types of financial instruments (e.g., equities or fixed-income instruments). Asset managers compete to win mandates from asset owners, usually by demonstrating improved financial returns or lower transaction fees compared to peers. Increasingly, sustainability commitments and credentials are part of asset managers' pitches, appealing to many asset owners' growing interest in accounting for environmental and social factors in their investment decision making. Asset managers have legal duties as fiduciaries to act with a duty of care and prudence on behalf of their clients (the asset owners). They may also have obligations to shareholders. Three of the largest asset managers globally are BlackRock, State Street, and Vanguard, which collectively own more than 20% of shares in the average publicly traded S&P 500 company, up from 13.5% in 2008.²¹ These three asset managers are predominantly passive investors, meaning that they mainly invest their clients' capital through index funds or exchange-traded funds that track the market (according to different characteristics). In this way, they have become significant auto-allocators of capital. Most often, asset managers have short-term time horizons, as their performance is evaluated (by asset owners) on a shortterm basis, usually through quarterly reporting.

Banks play a critical role in shaping the economy and capital markets since they provide *new* finance to companies (either through loans or through underwriting the issuance of new securities). There are three main types of banking services: retail, corporate, and investment banks. Many banks provide all three services and are known as universal banks. Many of the largest global banks are universal banks. Retail banks provide financial services for individuals and small businesses (e.g., savings accounts, personal loans, business loans). Corporate banking involves providing loans and other forms of financing to corporate entities. Investment banks focus on capital markets, providing services such as underwriting the issuance of new debt and equity, syndicated loans, and mergers and acquisitions advice. This report will focus on corporate and investment banks as critical actors in the zero-carbon transition (even though often the largest banks include retail services as well). Banks are often publicly listed, meaning they have legal obligations to the firm and its shareholders, as well as to clients (retail and commercial). Finally, banks are heavily regulated and, in particular, are subject to capital requirements that drive a significant part of their strategy. Under capital requirements, banks must maintain capital to cover credit, market, liquidity, and operational risk. Currently there are no capital requirements intended to cover climate risk but the Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial system (NGFS) is researching how central banks' regulations could evolve in that direction.²²

Part 1. Clearly Define Climate-Related Goals, Strategies, and Metrics

One of the most prominent initiatives of the financial sector is the Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ), representing roughly 550 members across 50 jurisdictions, with trillions of dollars in assets under management.²³ GFANZ is comprised of seven suballiances for different financial institutions:

- The Net Zero Banking Alliance, with a collective USD 72 trillion in financial assets
- The Net Zero Asset Managers initiative, with USD 66 trillion in assets under management
- The Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance, with USD 11 trillion
- The Paris Aligned Asset Owners, with USD 3.3 trillion
- The Net Zero Insurance Alliance with USD 700 billion
- The Net Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance with 23 member firms
- The Net Zero Investment Consultants Initiative with 10 member firms²⁴

At its launch, a GFANZ press release claimed that the "amount of finance committed to achieving 1.5°C [is] now at [the] scale needed to deliver the transition," "over \$130 trillion of private capital is committed to transforming the economy for net zero," and that these commitments "can deliver the estimated \$100 trillion of finance needed for net zero over the next three decades."²⁵ In April 2021, Mark Carney said of GFANZ, "We're going to get more trillions in, and trillions put to work, in order to decarbonize our economy."²⁶ Over time, these assertions were picked apart.²⁷ The touted figure was the sum of assets under management or controlled by the member financial institutions, a far cry from new capital allocated to climate goals or solutions as part of GFANZ membership. Of the assets controlled by member institutions, few were in any way redirected, leveraged, or otherwise used to advance climate action.

GFANZ's misrepresentation is exacerbated by confusion about whether their members' pledges and their incorporated frameworks and tools are intended to drive global climate goals, to mitigate financial risks for financial institutions, or to align with transition trajectories; each of these is a different objective with different implications for strategy and metrics.²⁸ The current range of climate-related pledges, alliances, frameworks, and tools at times confuses or conflates risk mitigation²⁹ with climate action, relying on targets and metrics that may not be fit for purpose.

FIs and the various initiatives, alliances, frameworks, and tools that describe climatealigned approaches should communicate clearly and accurately about their climaterelated pledges and commitments, including whether their goal is to contribute to climate action or to mitigate risk and how business strategies will be aligned to achieve those goals. FIs should ensure that targets, metrics, and methodologies are aligned with their goals and business strategies, and do not misrepresent the effectiveness of FIs' strategies. FIs and their alliances should also provide clear, public explanations of how their interpreted fiduciary and other legal duties shape their climate-related strategies.

Specific common areas of confusion, misrepresentation, and misaligned strategies, targets, and metrics are discussed below.

a. Differentiating Risk from Impact

Shortly after the Paris Agreement was agreed, the G20's Financial Stability Board established the industry-led Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) as a set of guidelines for corporates and FIs to disclose the risks that climate poses to their businesses. TCFD recommends that corporates and FIs identify and disclose material climate-related information, including climate-related risks and corresponding potential financial impacts.³⁰ The TCFD and its recommendations have become foundational in framing the methods and approaches of many of the subsequent tools for corporate climate action.

The enterprise risk view employed by TCFD and others focuses on the risks *to* the corporation (or to a portfolio or FI) from climate change as opposed to how the corporation (or FI) impacts climate change and contributes to, or undermines, reaching climate goals. While a risk-based approach can result in some outcomes that align with societal climate goals, the actions required to manage risk to the company or FI may be insufficient or even directly at odds with the actions required to mitigate climate change. For example, an FI may reduce its exposure to financially material climate risk by simply selling off high-carbon assets to another entity, without producing any reductions in real-world emissions (see the discussion in Section 1.b. below).³¹

GFANZ recognizes the distinction between approaches to mitigate risk and those that seek to have climate impact: "Climate-related risk management focuses on the integration of climate-related financial risks into risk governance, processes, and strategies. The net zero transition plan should represent the strategic alignment of an FI's core business and build upon, but look beyond, an institution's own risk profile to support the net-zero transition in the real economy."³² Managing risk and contributing to climate goals are distinct objectives with important differences in approaches to realizing those objectives and metrics that would be used to assess the effectiveness of FIs' strategies.³³ Nevertheless, most pledges and commitments continuously conflate the two.

b. Differentiating Portfolio Decarbonization from Impact

One way in which FIs mitigate exposure to climate risk is to focus on portfolio decarbonization.³⁴ For instance, investors may seek fossil fuel-free or low-carbon equity portfolios or exchange-traded funds³⁵ as a means of mitigating exposure to climate risk. Other investors may choose fossil fuel-free or low-carbon portfolios for moral or other reasons. However, as with the conflation of climate risk mitigation and climate impact, so too is confusion perpetuated around the climate impact of low-carbon portfolios.

Equity portfolios constructed with no or low carbon-intensive assets may have lower exposure to climate risk than a portfolio with high-emitting assets, but they have no climate

effect in the real economy, as the outstanding shares already sold by fossil fuel companies are simply held by other owners. A focus on decarbonizing portfolios may also incentivize a fund to spin or sell off high-carbon assets, decarbonizing the seller's portfolio by shifting asset ownership to the buyer, with no impact on real economy emissions.³⁶ For example, analysis from the Race to Zero Finance Sector Expert Group found that 96% of Swedish pension fund AP2's disclosed carbon-footprint reduction between 2019 and 2020 was due to changes in their holdings, rather than due to behavioural changes by portfolio companies.³⁷

Some might argue that divestment influences the cost of capital, but in the widely distributed secondary public equity markets, "purchases and sales of small blocks of shares do not generally influence the market prices of securities or the behavior of the underlying enterprises."³⁸ Research suggests that the level of divestment needed to produce even a modest increase in the cost of finance is as high as 86% of outstanding shares.³⁹

The Finance Sector Expert Group for Race to Zero noted in a 2022 discussion paper that "short-term actions to decarbonize portfolios ... may not be an effective way to support Paris alignment in the real economy."⁴⁰ A June 2022 GFANZ report also recognized that withdrawing finance or divesting from high-emitting assets can "potentially have the unintended consequence of prolonging the life of high-emitting assets and even worsen their GHG emissions profile if they are transferred to those with less climate ambition, disclosure, or scrutiny."⁴¹ The report states that for both FIs and companies, "the responsible approach is to manage down the emissions from portfolios, not pass them to someone else."⁴²

c. The Use of Financed Emissions Calculations

A common methodology to link financial institutions' portfolios to GHG emissions in the real economy is that of 'financed emissions.' This methodology, now codified by the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF),⁴³ extends the logic of emissions footprinting under the GHG Protocol⁴⁴ to financial activities. Financed emissions are calculated by multiplying the ratio of the invested amount to the enterprise value including cash (EVIC)⁴⁵ by the company's emissions. It could be calculated on the basis of absolute emissions (in other words, metric tons of carbon dioxide [CO₂] equivalent) or on the basis of emissions intensity, measured either per unit of activity (for instance, exajoules (EJ) or terawatt-hours (TWh) for energy production/consumption or ton of product produced) or per loan or investment volume. A portfolio's financed emissions are calculated from the cumulative share of emissions across the portfolio. Weighted average carbon intensity (WACI) is also used as an alternative measure, which measures the carbon intensity of investees. It involves calculating the tons of CO₂ emitted per USD 1 million of company sales and then aggregating them using the percentage weight of the invested amount within the portfolio.⁴⁶

Although the calculation of financed emissions is widely used, it is plagued by both practical and methodological challenges. The practical challenges relate to what financed emissions purport to measure; because financed emissions focus on the emissions attributed to holdings in the portfolio of a financial institution, they are akin to a focus on portfolio alignment and are not an effective metric to assess an FI's *strategy* or *impact* on climatealigned trajectories. As described in Section 1.b. above, changes in financed emissions may result from the spinning off of carbon-intensive assets with no impact on absolute emissions.

The calculation of financed emissions is also plagued by methodological challenges. First, the methods of calculation (absolute versus physical intensity versus economic intensity versus weighted average carbon intensity), which industries are included, and other aspects of calculations vary by FI, so the metrics are not readily comparable.⁴⁷ Moreover, the enterprise value (denominator) can be affected by the choice of inflation factor; if inflation is ignored, assuming a positive inflation rate, a more recent denominator will be larger and financed emissions will appear smaller.⁴⁸ Similarly, any shock or contraction in the economy can lead to a sharp decrease in enterprise value, which will create the appearance of much greater financed emissions. Changes to reported emissions can similarly be driven by (1) changes related to allocations (increases or decreases in the amounts invested, including new investments and divestments); (2) changes in companies' emissions (irrespective of FIs' engagement); and (3) other technical issues (such as scope coverage increases).⁴⁹

From a risk disclosure perspective, the aforementioned methodological challenges require attention; indeed, in their TCFD report, Citibank tries to address the problem by disclosing a range of metrics "includ[ing] PCAF financed emissions calculated with committed funds, normalized PCAF results that control for EVIC fluctuations, and physical intensity, financial intensity and data quality scores, among others."⁵⁰ However, for the purposes of measuring and communicating impact, a substantially different approach is needed, as reporting on financed emissions without disaggregation and attribution analysis is often misleading, both with respect to whether the financed emissions in a particular portfolio have, in fact, changed as well as whether any changes correspond to absolute reductions in the real economy.

For FIs reporting on the effectiveness of strategies to affect real-economy decarbonization, relevant metrics should more clearly present (or represent) how different financial instruments, transactions, and strategies affect real-economy emissions. Useful components to disclose include the type of financing (primary finance versus secondary markets, equity, or debt, etc.) and whether and how changes to the emissions could have resulted from the FI's financing or engagement versus other factors. The indicator should reflect changes over a defined period as a result of strategic engagement, rather than a static snapshot at any given time. An established methodology reflecting these aspects is needed, and FIs could usefully contribute their knowledge to this undertaking.

d. Effective and Accurate Target-Setting

Whether for reporting on exposure to climate risk, alignment with various climate scenarios, or contributions toward climate action, the careful use of fit-for-purpose and accurate targets, methodologies, and metrics is critical. Whether intentionally or unintentionally, inappropriate targets, methodologies, or metrics can be manipulated or can misrepresent the goals and effectiveness of specific pledges, initiatives, or alliances. In the sections below, we briefly describe risks and loopholes in relation to targets and metrics; more information is included in Annex B.

i. Restricting the Use of GHG Offsets

Corporate- and financial-sector targets that rely on carbon offsets to reach climate targets distort and misrepresent climate exposure, alignment, and impact. Nevertheless, offsets have played an increasingly significant role in corporate climate pledges. The use of low-cost offsets to achieve climate targets, by offsetting abatable emissions, has distracted from true emission abatement strategies. The most dubious and discredited form of offset is the avoided emissions offset, which involves calculating non-emitted carbon against a counterfactual baseline. The only form of offset that can effectively cancel an emission source is one that removes emissions with long-term storage. Thus, the only acceptable use of offsets in getting to net-zero emissions is for high-integrity, rights-respecting, removal-based offsets, and only for non-abatable, residual emissions.

While carbon credits should not be used to offset corporate emissions (other than nonabatable, residual emissions), rights-respecting, high-integrity investments in carbonemissions reduction and carbon-removal credits (whether nature-based or emerging technologies) are still necessary in light of the current climate trajectory.⁵¹ These investments are increasingly referred to as "beyond value chain" removals and emission reductions. Indeed, the UN HLEG recommends that "high integrity carbon credits in voluntary markets should be used for *beyond value chain* mitigation but *cannot be counted toward a non-state actor's interim emissions* reductions required by its net zero pathway"⁵² (emphasis added). These investments should start immediately and FIs should increase their investment in this area and encourage clients and portfolio companies to do the same according to rightsrespecting and high-integrity principles such as those laid out in the Tropical Forest Credit Integrity (TFCI) Guide.⁵³

ii. Using Absolute Emission-Reduction Targets

Corporate carbon-emissions calculations are usually normalized, or made comparable and interpretable across scales, by converting them into metrics for emissions 'intensity.' Targets and strategies based on emissions intensity are even more poorly correlated with actual GHG emissions than those based on absolute emissions.⁵⁴ With per-activity emissions reductions, emissions intensity can fall, even as real (absolute) emissions continue to rise. Emissions-intensity metrics can also be muddied by corporate diversification. Decarbonizing the real economy requires replacing high-carbon energies with low-carbon solutions, in other words, reducing absolute emissions. Absolute emissions targets should be given primacy over intensity targets, restricting intensity targets for comparison purposes or as a measure of increased efficiency alongside the reduction in absolute emissions. In June 2022, Race to Zero moved to invert the traditional prioritization of intensity metrics in its *Interpretation Guide* so that absolute emissions-reduction targets are now required and intensity-based metrics are considered appropriate additions in specific cases.⁵⁵

iii. Using Near-Term in Addition to Long-Term Targets

Emission-reduction targets are often on a 2050 timeline. Short- and medium-term targets are critical for meeting those 2050 targets. Long-term targets do not adequately account for the near-term constraints of the finite carbon budget, the possibility of overshooting

and triggering feedback loops, or the path dependency resulting from 'carbon lock-in.'⁵⁶ Emission-reduction targets should align with the recommendations of the IPCC: "Global greenhouse gas emissions [have] to peak before 2025 at the latest, and be reduced by 43% [from 2019 levels] by 2030."⁵⁷ Additional sectoral targets should be defined to provide a more granular view of the emission trajectories that should be targeted by each sector in addition to those already developed by the International Energy Agency (IEA), Sydney University of Technology (UTS) and the NGFS (see Part 4).

iv. Choosing Appropriate Base Years for GHG Calculations

Standards for emissions reduction targets for companies and FIs should require rigorously chosen base years and base-year calculations, rather than strategically chosen ones that can distort targets and the true extent of progress.⁵⁸ Companies setting targets can manipulate base years by (1) choosing a base year with unusually high emissions⁵⁹ and (2) choosing a base year that is so far past that calculations account for emissions reductions that took place earlier.⁶⁰ Both of these practices lead to an overstatement of emissions reductions.

v. Separating Methane (and Other Potent GHG) Emissions from CO₂ Emissions

The metric of 'CO₂ equivalent' is the most comprehensive metric and the most widely used. It converts all GHGs into a CO₂ equivalent using the global warming potential of each GHG. While useful to succinctly communicate on emission-reduction pathways and compare them across companies or sectors, the CO₂ equivalent metric masks and conflates progress on meeting varying targets related to the specific emitted gases. In addition, the metric can look different depending on the time period being used to calculate the global warming potential. Depending on the industry, separate reporting and targets might be needed for each GHG type.⁶¹ When data quality impedes disaggregating GHG emissions, FIs can engage with their financed entities to improve the measurement and reporting of disaggregated emissions.

e. Scope of Coverage

FIs should be fully transparent about the scope of coverage of their climate commitments. In the case of FIs that are purporting to contribute to climate goals, for any scope of their coverage that is limited to a subset of assets or products, they must carefully and clearly explain the implication of the scope of coverage for the effectiveness of the FIs' strategies. Many of the GFANZ initiatives and other alliances only cover a limited set of asset classes.



Institution type	Initiative	Included	Not included
Asset owners	Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance (NZAOA)	Listed equity, publicly traded bonds, real estate, infrastructure, sovereign debt (for emissions accounting)	To be added in 2023: sovereign debt for target setting, mortgages, and private equity To follow: unlisted corporate debt, supranational debt, other
	Science-based Target initiative (SBTi) for FIs	Public and private equity, corporate and consumer loans, corporate debt, real estate, mortgages, electricity-generation project finance	To follow: sovereign debt, securities underwriting
	Paris Agreement Capital Transition Assessment (PACTA) for investors	Listed equity, corporate bonds, corporate loans	Real estate, infrastructure, sovereign debt
Asset managers	Net Zero Asset Managers initiative (NZAM)	Asset managers determine and disclose the coverage of their target as a proportion (%) of total assets under management (AUM), aiming to ratchet up that coverage to 100% by 2050	% AUM not covered by the target, determined by the asset manager
	PACTA for investors	Listed equity, corporate bonds, corporate loans	Real estate, infrastructure, sovereign debt
Banks	PCAF	Lending including business loans, mortgages, and motor loans	Underwriting/capital markets financing, certain off-balance sheet activities
	PACTA for banks	Loans (including credit facilities) to listed and unlisted companies	Underwriting, capital markets financing, certain off-balance sheet activities
Insurance companies	Net-Zero Insurance Alliance (NZIA)	Insurance and reinsurance portfolios	Members "aim to transition" investment portfolio to net-zero by 2050

Scope of coverage of climate commitments, as of October 2022

The exclusion of banks' underwriting risks is significant for assessing the climate impact of new finance because the majority of bank finance for fossil fuels (whether existing or new) now comes from underwriting.⁶² Barclays, for example, is the largest financier of fossil fuels in Europe, and 70% of its support for the fossil fuel sector (including companies with exploration or expansion plans) between 2016 and 2022 was issuance underwriting services.⁶³ All six major United States banks (JPMorgan Chase, Citi, Wells Fargo, Bank of America, Morgan Stanley, and Goldman Sachs) have made commitments to reach net-zero financed emissions by 2050, and some set 2030 targets and exclusion policies to restrict financing in the most high-emitting sectors.⁶⁴ However, not all of the 2030 targets include underwriting, and some fossil fuel exclusion policies cover project finance but not corporate finance.⁶⁵ While some financing for continued fossil fuels or for investment in clean energy by fossil fuel companies can be compatible with the 1.5°C scenario, the lack of transparency and clarity on the scope of targets and strategies undermines accountability for FIs' climate-related commitments.

For asset managers, the NZAM commitment includes a stipulation to "create investment products aligned with net zero emissions by 2050 and facilitate increased investment in climate solutions."⁶⁶ Indeed, asset managers have met the increased demand for climate-related and environmental, social, and governance (ESG)-linked products more generally⁶⁷ by offering an increased number of sustainability-focused products and services.⁶⁸ The NZAM's 2021 progress report, however, indicated that in some cases, the 2030 targets of the initiative's members covered as little as 0.55% of AUM.⁶⁹ The average effective decarbonization target of the initiative is just 20%, and this "assumes that the AUM covered by these targets is representative of the emissions profile of their entire AUM."⁷⁰ In reality, a minority of carbon-intensive companies account for most portfolio emissions. Typically for BlackRock, Vanguard, State Street, Allianz, and Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM), 10% of their equity holdings explain 85% of their portfolio emissions.⁷¹ In short, if targets do not cover 100% of AUM, there is a risk that even covering 90% of AUM will exclude up to 85% of emissions.

Similarly, sectoral policies—including those specific to fossil fuels and companies exposed to deforestation risk—are inconsistent in whether they cover all or some financial services, including capital markets underwriting, re/insurance, advisory, and mergers and acquisitions services. If a target cannot be holistic for lack of robust data or methodologies for certain asset classes and sectors, the scope and limitations should be transparently communicated and explained.

The scope of coverage of portfolio companies should similarly be scrutinized and carefully explained. According to the GHG Protocol, companies can pick one of three possible approaches to reporting their emissions: a financial control approach, an operational control approach, or an equity-share approach.⁷² This flexibility enables companies to omit significant emissions, with the most frequent ones among fossil fuel companies being emissions from non-operated assets.⁷³ For instance, with its 2020 climate targets, BP became the first oil major to publicly commit to reducing oil *production* (not just emissions). Yet its pledge of reducing production by 40% by 2030 excluded its 20% stake in Russian oil giant Rosneft.⁷⁴ BP also created a separate legal entity for at least one of its major fields in Iraq, allowing it to change the optics of its exposure to high-emitting assets.⁷⁵ The 2020 target also excluded downstream sales of products not produced by BP, cutting out more than half of the total barrels sold daily.⁷⁶ (BP's pledge of reducing by 40% was subsequently dialed back in 2023, as oil prices remained high).⁷⁷

Partial coverage of activities and assets in pledges and strategies can have the effect of misleading stakeholders and also inherently limits the contribution of FIs to climate goals.

f. Antitrust Concerns, Fiduciary Duties, and Financial Interests

Opponents of climate action have threatened some FIs and alliances with investigations and lawsuits, alleging that the alliances represent collective agreements not to finance investments in specific sectors and are therefore in violation of antitrust laws.⁷⁸ In March 2023, Munich Re withdrew from the Net-Zero Insurance Alliance purportedly to avoid antitrust risks.⁷⁹ There is no antitrust case precedent for a group of investors deciding to refuse financing to a specific industry or set of companies. While it is unclear how such a challenge would be treated by both United States federal and state courts, various factors would likely be taken into consideration, including market definition, whether the FIs have significant market control over the selling or provisioning of financing (or a monopsony control in the purchasing of bonds, for example), whether new entrants were prevented from entering the market, and other relevant market analysis. The burden of proof rests on the plaintiff in legal challenges, and the evidence can be challenging to establish and often easily refuted given the various ways to define a market and establish market control. In rule of reason cases, the arguments are fact-specific and open to interpretation, so a challenge of this type would likely be a difficult case for a plaintiff to win. Moreover, regulatory frameworks beyond the United States are evolving to more explicitly allow climate-related actions. For instance, the United Kingdom's Competition and Markets Authority recently published draft guidance on the application of competition rules to agreements between competitors with the objective of ensuring that "competition law does not impede legitimate collaboration between businesses that is necessary to the promotion or protection of environmental sustainability."80

Some FIs may also be uncertain as to how their fiduciary duties intersect with their climaterelated actions. Fiduciary duties are the obligations governing those who manage other people's money. The precise legal nature of such obligations varies across jurisdictions but usually includes duties of loyalty (to act in the best interest of the beneficiary) and prudence (acting with care and diligence).⁸¹ While specific laws and interpretations around fiduciary duty vary, traditional interpretations are oriented toward maximizing returns.

What varies with respect to fiduciary duties—as they are legally defined and as they are interpreted by directors and by the courts—is whether and to what extent accounting for environmental and social factors is part of fiduciary duties—either explicitly or as factors contributing to long-term value for beneficiaries.⁸² In the United States (US), the extent to which fiduciary duties *require* or *allow* FIs to manage exposure to climate-related risk or to mitigate the systemic risk and impact of climate change depends on context.⁸³ Some interpretations are clear that at least considering climate-related risk as a factor in long-term value calculations is core to fiduciary duties. The UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative and the UN Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI) write that "investors that fail to incorporate ESG issues are failing their fiduciary duties and are increasingly likely to be subject to legal challenge."⁸⁴ The NZAOA commitment likewise states that members must embed the initiative's commitments "in order to meet [their] fiduciary duty to manage risks and achieve target returns".⁸⁵ The NZAOA writes that asset owners should engage with asset managers, "acknowledg[ing] fiduciary alignment, which includes the need to address climate change as a systemic risk to asset owner clients.⁸⁶

In the United States, anti-ESG political rhetoric and legal challenges from state attorneys general and other public officials have chilled some FIs' climate ambitions.⁸⁷ In September 2022, a number of US banks threatened to exit GFANZ on the basis of perceived legal risks.⁸⁸ However, as noted by the UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative and UNPRI, above, FIs are also increasingly subject to legal and regulatory challenges for failing to meaningfully address climate change. In early 2023, BNP Paribas was sued for failing to comply with new human rights and environmental due diligence laws by supporting new oil and gas projects.⁸⁹ (FIs are also facing legal and regulatory challenges related to making misleading claims over climate-related activities, as discussed in Part 4.)

In the United States, corporate directors are afforded substantial deference in their business decisions, which constrains the ability to hold them liable for violating their fiduciary duty. The 'business judgment rule' affords a strong presumption that corporate directors are acting on an informed basis, in the best interest of the company.⁹⁰ The evidence is clear that climate change poses systemic and idiosyncratic financial risks, and that corporates face increasingly progressive regulations toward greater climate alignment as well as increasing reputational and legal risks of *inaction* in the face of the climate crisis. Accordingly, any legal challenges to FIs who choose to take climate action would face a steep hurdle.

In addition to misrepresenting the compatibility of climate action with FIs' fiduciary duties and with competition law, anti-ESG rhetoric also misrepresents the financial interests of FIs and their stakeholders in accounting for climate change. Indeed, as discussed in Section 1.a., many FI pledges and actions are oriented toward accounting for climate-related risks to maximize risk-adjusted returns. Nevertheless, the overarching financial interests of FIs do affect the scope of climate-related pledges and activities, and the anti-ESG rhetoric, misguided as it is, may exacerbate FIs' hesitance to address climate change in all ways (risk mitigation, alignment, and impact).

Ultimately, policy-makers and regulators should resolve these perceived conflicts with clarifications about the responsibilities of the financial sector to contribute to states' climate commitments and goals, and through regulation, subsidies, public finance, and other instruments that shape the opportunities, costs, and liabilities for climate-(mis) aligned activities. The net-zero financial-sector initiatives' guidance documents state that commitments are made with "the expectation that governments will follow through on their own commitments to ensure the objectives of the Paris Agreement are met."⁹¹ Government regulation—both financial regulation and regulation of the real economy—is the public's tool to align the interests of profit-maximizing FIs with the public interest.⁹² At the same time, FIs should be transparent about how their interpretations of their fiduciary duties and their financial interests shape their climate-related practices, including risk mitigation, climate alignment, and climate impact.

Summary Table

The following table summarizes how strategies, targets, and metrics can support realeconomy decarbonization and achievement of the climate goals.

Торіс	Recommendations for FIs
Decarbonizing the real economy	• Focus 'net-zero' commitments and initiatives on the reduction of real-economy emissions and on reducing demand for fossil fuels throughout other sectors in the economy, whether directly or indirectly.
	• Look to each company's strategy, investments, and operational plans to assess decarbonization progress along science-based pathways, with offsets restricted to residual emissions.
Shift from portfolio	• Develop a strategy of impact based on FIs' levers to impact the real economy (rather than focusing on decarbonizing a portfolio).
alignment to real-economy outcome	• Develop and use financed emissions metrics that represent real-economy change as a result of strategic financing and engagement, including transparent attribution analysis.
Avoid the pitfalls of emission-	• Plan for a no-offset pathway for all sectors. For non-abatable residual emissions, use high-integrity, rights-respecting, removal-based offsets.
target setting	• Prioritize absolute science-based emissions targets over emissions-intensity targets to orient strategy; keep emissions-intensity targets for specific uses (specific sectors and for comparison purposes).
	• Use existing sectoral pathways to specify short- and medium-term targets (e.g., 2–3 years, and 2030), in addition to long-term targets, that align with the IPCC's recommendation that global emissions peak by 2025. Contribute to developing further granular sectoral pathways, as needed (see Part 4).
	• Honestly and rigorously select base years that align with stated goals and IPCC recommendations.
	 Measure and report disaggregated GHG emissions by emission type; work with financed entities to enable the disaggregated calculations.
Holistic approach	• Ensure commitments and initiatives cover all financial services, including capital markets underwriting in sectoral policies. Carefully specify and explain the implications of any scope of coverage limited to a subset of assets or products.
	• Explain when targets are limited because of the lack of robust data or methodologies for certain asset classes and sectors.
	• Require portfolio companies to undertake an equally holistic approach.
Legal obligations	• Explain how interpreted fiduciary duties and financial interests shape FIs' climate- related commitments and practices.

Part 2. Stop Direct and Indirect Lobbying, Shift Finance, and Use Your Influence

Part 2 of this report discusses how financial institutions can and should contribute to, and not undermine, climate goals.

A. Stop Direct and Indirect Lobbying Activities Against Climate Action

Government action is necessary for a successful energy transition and for meeting climate goals. Governments, through their policies, regulations, and public financing, shape markets, assign costs and liability, de-risk and enable financing, support research and development, leverage private finance, price risks, and otherwise organize an entire economy, including public and private actors. Government policies also can (and should) address both the supply side and demand side of decarbonization pathways, and apply to both publicly traded and privately owned companies to avoid leakage, transferred emissions, and misaligned supply and demand. Thus, while voluntary and corporate-led initiatives play a role in achieving goals (as discussed in sections B and C below), they are inherently limited in their potential to achieve economy-wide transformations. Only government action can put us on a path toward a 1.5°C trajectory, enabling the meaningful participation and alignment of the financial sector. Government policy is also the most important determinant of corporate performance on sustainability issues,⁹³ and public policies apply to all types of actors, both publicly traded and privately owned.

One of the most important ways that FIs can accelerate the energy transition—mitigating their exposure to climate risk, creating clearer pathways for private finance, and reconciling potential conflicts between fiduciary duty and climate action—is to stop lobbying against climate action, and to require that their clients and portfolio companies do the same.

KEY GOVERNMENT ACTIONS NECESSARY TO ACHIEVE THE ENERGY TRANSITION INCLUDE:⁹⁴

- Determine the national roadmap to achieve net-zero emissions in line with the Paris Agreement.
- Translate the national roadmap into intermediate and sector-specific emission-reduction goals and timelines.
- Invest directly in parts of the energy system, including power transmission, public transportation, and building retrofitting, and ensure adequate funding for states and cities.
- Determine land-use patterns in both urban and rural areas, including but not limited to zoning public land for energy infrastructure.
- Enact clean-energy standards for electricity, vehicle-performance standards, and energy-efficiency standards for appliances and industrial equipment to guide sector and market transitions.
- Provide carefully designed incentives, financing, and guarantees to the private sector to accelerate the development of new technologies and enable private investments, and phase out direct and indirect subsidies to the fossil fuel sector.

- Fund research into new technologies necessary for energy generation and its efficient use and storage.
- Implement policies to support a just transition, including a consideration of the differential impacts on workers and communities.
- Specify an adequate social cost of carbon, and implement carbon pricing in select areas for both public policies and market-based mechanisms to guide necessary emissions abatement.
- Promulgate disclosure and reporting requirements for the private and financial sectors that incentivize absolute emissions reductions.
- Stop licensing new coal, oil, and gas projects as well as new coal power plants.

FIs already decisively shape politics. The financial sector is one of the largest contributors to political campaigns in the United States, and funds contributed to lobbying have also soared in the past decade. In 2022, FIs' total lobbying spending in the United States exceeded USD 663 million (of USD 4.11 billion in total lobbying spending),⁹⁵ and political payments made to members of Congress during the election cycle amounted to USD 303 million⁹⁶ (both amounts increased more than 50% since 2006;⁹⁷ see Figures 1 and 2).

The lack of transparency in corporate influence in politics makes it difficult to say definitively how FIs are using their direct influence and engagements on climate-related measures. However, an InfluenceMap assessment of the lobbying positions of 80 FIs shows that, both directly and through their industry associations, many FIs are more 'obstructive' than 'supportive' of climate policy.⁹⁸ For instance, the Bank Policy Institute, a lobbying group, recently submitted public comments to federal bank regulators in the United States urging them not to take their climate pledges seriously and, accordingly, to scale back their proposal to require banks to ensure their climate pledges are consistent with internal strategies and risk-related statements.⁹⁹ Moreover, of the 30 largest listed FIs assessed by InfluenceMap, half are "members of real-economy industry associations which have lobbied directly in line with fossil fuel interests, including the US Chamber of Commerce and the American Gas Association."¹⁰⁰



Figure 1. Lobbying efforts by FIs (2022 versus 2006, in USD)

	2022	2006	Increase in 15 years
Accountants	16,890,000	10,416,000	62.15%
Commercial banks	64,822,888	39,628,357	63.58%
Credit unions	9,673,068	3,950,000	144.89%
Finance/credit companies	37,604,494	18,384,433	104.55%
Hedge funds	8,630,000	1,590,000	442.77%
Insurance	158,454,609	133,555,508	18.64%
Misc. finance	47,006,053	23,331,952	101.47%
Mortgage bankers and brokers	11,885,000	42,028,161	-71.72%
Payday lenders	5,005,000	1,710,000	192.69%
Private equity and investment firms	19,570,000	3,583,493	446.12%
Real estate	135,572,239	80,461,473	68.49%
Savings and loans	890,000	3,625,025	-75.45%
Securities and investment	137,779,163	65,625,809	109.95%
Student loan companies	4,366,401	5,607,000	-22.13%
Venture capital	4,908,880	3,767,623	30.29%
TOTAL FIS	663,057,795	437,264,834	51.64%

Figure 2. FIs' political payments to members of Congress during the 2022 and 2006 election cycles, in USD

	2022	2006	Increase in 15 years
Accountants	10,054,674	8,713,747	15.39%
Commercial banks	16,663,292	17,646,301	-5.57%
Credit unions	3,235,724	3,367,896	-3.92%
Finance/credit companies	6,319,484	5,507,094	14.75%
Hedge funds	9,857,820	2,951,412	234.00%
Insurance	34,642,005	25,171,537	37.62%
Misc. finance	15,044,837	8,135,187	84.94%
Mortgage bankers and brokers	5,328,009	4,615,593	15.43%
Payday lenders	912,437	844,243	8.08%
Private equity and investment firms	24,613,824	5,551,904	343.34%
Real estate	68,684,400	50,960,224	34.78%
Savings and loans	241,154	1,261,7535	-80.89%
Securities and investment	95,319,776	50,991,318	86.93%
Student loan companies	329,677	1,173,600	-71.91%
Venture capital	12,065,121	4,295,063	180.91%
TOTAL FIS	303,312,234	191,186,872	58.65%

The financial sector is not alone in obstructing legal and regulatory efforts to tackle climate change. One study calculates an estimated social cost of USD 60 billion resulting from corporate lobbying against a specific climate regulation in the United States.¹⁰¹ Industry associations and coalitions such as the American Petroleum Institute and the International Petroleum Industry Environmental Conservation Association played significant roles. The latter, for example, played a key role in coordinating a campaign designed to delay measures to control fossil fuel production from as early as 1987.¹⁰² Several guides for companies and investors call for them to review the Paris alignment of trade associations' lobbying activities and withdraw from those that are misaligned.¹⁰³ However, a November 2022 Ceres report found that only 8% of the 100 largest US companies have conducted an internal assessment of their trade associations' climate-policy alignment and that only 3% disclose they have taken action to address the misalignment of their trade associations and evolve their climate-policy positions.¹⁰⁴

The UN HLEG report states that "non-state actors cannot lobby to undermine ambitious government climate policies either directly or through trade associations or other bodies," and that non-state actors must "align their external policy and engagement efforts, including membership in trade associations, to the goal of reducing global emissions by at least 50% by 2030 and reaching net zero by 2050." ¹⁰⁵

Some of the GFANZ alliances and standard-setters have increasingly acknowledged the need for more concerted efforts to bring FIs' lobbying activities, and those of their portfolio companies, into alignment with climate goals. A 2022 NZAOA paper acknowledges "that there is a significant gap between best practices for net-zero-aligned lobbying and current corporate behaviours" and emphasizes that investors can have an impact on driving decarbonization "by integrating corporate climate lobbying expectations in their existing engagement dialogues with companies."¹⁰⁶ An April 2023 NZAOA document "recognises that members can only achieve their net-zero goals if broader society also decarbonises, which will require supportive policy and regulatory environments," and calls on its members to advocate for "stronger public policy that supports decarbonisation and designing investment stewardship practices so as to hold portfolio companies accountable for the alignment of their climate policy engagement with their climate commitments."¹⁰⁷ NZAM and the Paris Aligned Investment Initiative (PAII) make clear in their commitments that any policy advocacy by signatories should support achieving global net-zero emissions by 2050 or sooner.¹⁰⁸ The NZAOA, the Investor Agenda, and SBTi explicitly recommend FIs use influence within, and ultimately cut ties with, non-1.5°C-aligned trade associations.¹⁰⁹

Despite these recommendations, the InfluenceMap analysis shows no notable shift among the largest FIs with respect to their industry association membership, nor public commitments with respect to the climate activities of those associations.¹¹⁰

Some advocates and scholars have noted that advocating for economy-wide regulations is actually in the financial interest of universal owners, who will be affected by the widespread economic costs of climate change¹¹¹ but do not have the same tools, knowledge, incentives, or capabilities to engage with individual companies as banks and asset managers do.

As scholars Goshen and Hamdani wrote,

If institutional owners are not cynically virtue signaling ... but are truly interested in averting the systematic risk of climate change, they should recognize that the government is better equipped for systematic stewardship. All stakeholders should focus on urging institutions to channel the hundreds of millions of dollars they spend on political donations and lobbying to pressure the government for a comprehensive and effective energy policy. Universal owners' political capture machines should be repurposed to promote government policies that further climate goals.¹¹²

The same is true for all FIs and should be a central tenet of the GFANZ alliances and similar efforts.

Summary Table

Institution	Action
All FIs	Align all internal direct and indirect lobbying and political activities with the goals of the Paris Agreement, including by
	• Ending any direct lobbying or political activity that undermines legal and regulatory efforts on aligning with 1.5°C or that would delay climate action.
	• Ending memberships with trade associations and coalitions whose activities are undermining climate action, including blocking fossil fuel phase-out.
	 Requiring financed and investee companies to do the same.

B. Shift New Finance to Achieve the 1.5°C Trajectory

The most decisive and important role for the financial sector in accelerating the energy transition is its ability to mobilize the trillions of dollars needed to achieve the climate goals, closing the USD 5 trillion annual climate-financing gap.¹¹³ The emphasis for the financial sector, therefore, should be on how *new finance* is being directed and whether new finance is contributing to and not undermining a rapid and just transition.

Much of the focus of 'climate alignment' by investors has been on secondary markets, where securities already sold by a company are traded among secondary purchasers. In addition to divesting high-emitting assets, 'sustainable finance' "has largely consisted of a taxonomic exercise that aims at labelling *old* finance (debt and equity finance already emitted and exchanged on secondary markets) under various declinations of sustainability (socially and/or environmentally responsible, green, ethical, etc.) designed to match a variety of investors' preferences."¹¹⁴ These divestments and labels do not influence the capital stock of the target companies. What does systematically influence the capital stock of target companies is access to new capital (or capital available on better terms)¹¹⁵ on primary markets, through initial public offerings (leveraging new capital in the form of equity), and through new bond issuances (new debt capital) for established publicly listed companies. This section describes how new finance needs to rapidly transition to accelerate global decarbonization. (Section 2.C. describes how FIs can use their influence with financed entities in existing portfolios to support their transitions in line with a 1.5°C trajectory).

This section describes how FIs should

- End financing for fossil fuel exploration and expansion
- Condition new financing on robust 1.5°C alignment, especially in the financing of fossil fuel projects, high-emitting sectors, and sectors exposed to deforestation risk
- Shift new capital flows toward achieving climate goals.

a. Ending New Finance for Fossil Fuel Exploration and Expansion

The 2021 IEA Net Zero by 2050 scenario showed that, after 2021, any investment in new coal mines, unabated coal power plants and oil and gas fields would be incompatible with a 1.5°C scenario.¹¹⁶ The IEA notes that oil and gas demand "could be met without approving the development of any new long lead-time upstream conventional oil and gas projects."¹¹⁷ The UN's annual Production Gap report in 2021 further estimates that by 2030, under current projections, the world would exceed fossil fuel production levels compatible with the carbon budget for a 1.5°C scenario twice over,¹¹⁸ contributing to lock-in and stranded asset risk. In order to meet the global climate targets, therefore, not only must any new exploration of fossil fuels cease immediately but a significant portion of already developed reserves (actively producing or under-construction oil and gas fields and coal mines) must remain unexploited,¹¹⁹ and some fossil fuel-based production and the most carbon-intensive power-generation assets must be phased out ahead of their economic life.¹²⁰ As the UN HLEG November 2022 report succinctly summarized, "There is no room for new investment in fossil fuel supply and there is a need to decommission and cancel existing assets."¹¹²¹

The IEA acknowledges that "some parts of the existing fossil fuel infrastructure perform functions that will remain critical for some time, even in very rapid energy transitions."¹²² This is typically the case for gas infrastructure to capture associated gases that are currently flared, vented or leaked. Currently, this wasted gas accounts for 7% of global gas consumption,¹²³ indicating a missed opportunity to use the gas for energy consumption and leading to an enormous amount of emissions (between 12% and 26% of scope 3 emissions from oil and gas).¹²⁴ In cases where gas infrastructure remains critical, financing should be first directed to projects that take advantage of existing infrastructure with idle capacity or those that can be converted to hydrogen infrastructure to limit the lock-in of capital in fossil fuel infrastructure.¹²⁵

Currently, despite public net-zero pledges and emission-reduction targets, most oil and gas companies continue to invest in both exploration for new reserves and expanding production. These are correlated because the companies' overall production naturally declines if existing reserves are not being replaced. These investments are inconsistent with a 1.5°C trajectory.¹²⁶ Only three companies (Shell, TotalEnergies, and ENI) have public plans for oil production to decline by 2030 (though the plans are vague and continue to include increased gas production, which is inconsistent with a 1.5°C trajectory).¹²⁷ Only one company, BP, announced a plan to cut both oil and gas production by 40% by 2030, which it reduced to 25% in February 2023, in light of high oil and gas prices.¹²⁸

Continued financing of any firms that have plans to expand exploration or production is inconsistent with a 1.5°C alignment. Yet debt capital (bank loans and bonds) accounts

for 90% of new capital flows into the oil and gas sector, providing liquidity for fossil fuel expansion.¹²⁹ None of the GFANZ alliances requires members to stop financing companies involved in fossil fuel expansion. FIs can use Urgewald's Global Coal Exit List¹³⁰ and Global Oil and Gas Exit List¹³¹ to identify companies that are not aligned with a 1.5°C trajectory either because of expansion plans or the absence of production reduction plans. These lists, already used by many FIs worldwide as well as by major institutions such as the French Financials Market Authority, are updated annually, and data is provided on the 1.5°C scenario overshoot impact of expansion plans. Other lists are available to FIs through data providers, but most do not contain the same data granularity and do not assess whether companies are still developing fossil fuels.¹³²

b. Financing Business and Sector Transitions

Beyond policies to stop financing companies involved in new fossil fuel exploration, FIs should ensure that all other new financing across the economy is consistent with—and supportive of—the rapid transition toward a 1.5°C scenario. Each sector merits its own analysis of what 1.5°C alignment looks like; some sector pathways are already more developed than others (see Part 4). Prior to the allocation of any new capital, FIs can interrogate the business plans of the target company to ensure 1.5°C alignment and build conditions and guardrails into financing instruments. While all sectors have relevant transition pathways, three sectors and areas of business activity stand out with respect to the importance of such an analysis, as well as to the need for new financing solutions: fossil fuel projects, high-emitting sectors, and sectors exposed to deforestation risk.

Managed Phase-Out of Fossil Fuel Projects

Early closures of high-carbon infrastructure will require concerted planning and financing for proper decommissioning, remediation, and a just transition, especially when regulations do not require companies to provision for decommissioning.¹³³ FIs could help manage phase-out and early closures through dedicated financing products, for instance through the use of transition bonds where proceeds are earmarked for asset retirement (and closely externally audited to avoid the risk of greenwashing).¹³⁴ Through access to a lower cost of capital and/or access to new cashflows, dedicated financing mechanisms "can reduce the total returns needed from operations over the plant's remaining life, deliver riskadjusted returns for investors, lower costs for customers and taxpayers on an accelerated timeline, and free up capital for investment in the plant's early retirement, replacement, or retrofit."¹³⁵ On average, a 3% decrease in the cost of capital is necessary to induce the early decommissioning of roughly one third of the global coal plant fleet for advanced economies and China, and a 6% decrease is needed for such early decommissioning in developing countries.¹³⁶ As in other critical areas of climate finance, the most effective financing strategy is for public and private finance to work in a coordinated way; mechanisms for blended finance for early decommissioning are emerging with the advent of Just Transition Energy Partnerships, also discussed in Section 2B.c. below.

Although the need for the private sector to support a just transition alongside managed phase-out is widely recognized, including by the UN HLEG report¹³⁷ and the International Labour Organization,¹³⁸ practice is still woefully lagging. Among 180 high-emitting companies

benchmarked in 2021, the World Benchmarking Alliance found the vast majority fail to demonstrate efforts toward a just transition.¹³⁹ At the project and company level, FIs should support the development of place-based plans to achieve a just transition for workers and communities through social dialogue, including budgeting for worker compensation and retraining and remediation costs.

In a statement coordinated by UNPRI in April 2020, 161 investors representing USD 10.2 trillion in assets under management "commit[ed] to take action to support the just transition by integrating the workforce and social dimension in [their] climate practices."¹⁴⁰ This group committed to drawing on the recommendations of UNPRI's 2018 *Climate Change and the Just Transition: A Guide for Investor Action*, which, among other things, recommends "working with portfolio companies to make company-level capital allocation decisions that support a just transition" and for real assets investments, "target[ing] investment in communities and regions affected by the transition to deliver positive social and environmental impacts."¹⁴¹ However, the statements and recommendations for FIs' action to achieve a just transition remain high level and include lists of optional strategies rather than clear guidance on what action they should prioritize in the short term.

While GFANZ highlights the need for FIs to help manage the phase-out of fossil fuel projects, its recommendations are disclosure-based and lack specific recommended best practices or timelines, giving firms the flexibility to set low-ambition targets. However, GFANZ's workstream on Managed Phaseout of High-emitting Assets has indicated it will develop a framework and support the development of tools to identify assets relevant for Managed Phaseout as well as financing mechanisms, in order to establish Managed Phaseout as part of net-zero transition planning.¹⁴²

Decarbonizing High-Emitting Sectors

As of 2020, worldwide fossil fuels are mostly consumed by industry (39.5%), transport (37.3%), and buildings (16.7%). Industry and buildings also consume electricity (10% and 33% of their final energy demand, respectively), and worldwide electricity still mostly relies on fossil fuel generation.¹⁴³ Rapidly decreasing the demand for fossil fuels is as important as limiting the supply of fossil fuels,¹⁴⁴ including to avoid supply crunches and price hikes. Government plans, clear regulations, and public finance (*as discussed in* Box 1 in Part 2A) are critically needed to curb demand for fossil fuels at the required pace, but FIs can play an important role in both insisting on—and financing—credible 1.5°C-aligned business strategies that reduce fossil fuel demand.

For instance, according to the Mission Possible Partnership, the credible 1.5°C pathway of Direct Reduction Iron-Electric Arc Furnace (DRI-EAF) steel production requires that the production of steel using natural gas start peaking before 2025 and be replaced by production using 50% of Biomethane or 50% of green hydrogen. By 2040, all production consistent with a 1.5°C scenario uses DRI-EAF relying on 100% green hydrogen and green electricity.¹⁴⁵ Retrofitting steel capacity as well as building new low-carbon steel capacity is costly;¹⁴⁶ transition bonds, involving the earmarking of the use of proceeds for transition activities, can help lower the cost of capital and increase access to sources of cash flows (subject to external auditing and accountability mechanisms) to the various hard-to-abate

sectors (including steel, cement, petrochemicals, shipping, and aviation).¹⁴⁷ Several FIs have shown interest in developing the transition bonds market under the leadership of the International Capital Market Association.¹⁴⁸

Decreasing Deforestation

Along with the phase-out of fossil fuels, the world must end deforestation and the destruction of natural ecosystems. Deforestation both releases stored CO₂ back into the atmosphere and removes the trees that would have been available to absorb atmospheric CO₂. Between 2001 and 2019, according to the National Aeronautics and Space Administration, the loss of forests through deforestation and fires led to a release of an average of 8.1 billion metric tons of CO₂ per year.¹⁴⁹ Certain high-risk sectors contribute the most to deforestation, such as soy, beef, palm oil, pulp and paper, rubber, and timber.¹⁵⁰

GFANZ encourages the members of its net-zero alliances to "strive to eliminate commodity driven deforestation from their investment and lending portfolios" by "assess[ing] exposure to deforestation risk, establish[ing] financing policies for forest-risk agricultural commodities, and disclos[ing] deforestation mitigation activities."¹⁵¹ Such policies can build on the "No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation" commitments commonly made by downstream companies, traders, mills and growers in agriculture,¹⁵² which prohibit "financing for any project that involves the degradation or loss of natural forests or other natural ecosystems" including peatland.¹⁵³ Several additional resources, specific to commodities or to deforestation more generally, provide resources on corporate practices and means of engagement.¹⁵⁴

Despite these guidelines and recommendations, FIs' adoption of deforestation policies and engagement remains patchy. In 2022, Forest 500 analyzed 150 of the FIs most exposed to deforestation. They found that 92 of those FIs (61%) did not have deforestation policies; together, those 92 FIs provided USD 3.6 trillion in finance in 2022 to companies involved in "forest-risk supply chains."¹⁵⁵ Only 17% of the 557 GFANZ members (as of January 2023) recognized deforestation as a risk, while only 6% "have signed a commitment to eliminate commodity driven deforestation from their portfolios and joined the Finance Sector Deforestation Action coalition."¹⁵⁶ While, as discussed above, identifying deforestation as a risk is a distinct (if overlapping) approach from proactively ending deforestation, and no coalition or initiative provides adequate guidance on the latter, these statistics reflect the relatively low engagement of FIs with deforestation throughout the supply chains of their financed entities. As envisioned by the November 2022 Finance Sector Deforestation Action's "Financial Sector Commitment Letter on Eliminating Agricultural Commodity-Driven Deforestation," FIs should condition new financing to sectors exposed to deforestation risk on the companies' having rigorous deforestation policies and systems to monitor their implementation.157

c. Reorienting New Capital Toward the Transition

Finance to accelerate climate-related goals has increased at a cumulative average annual growth rate of 7% between 2011 and 2021.¹⁵⁸ Meeting the annual financing gap would require a cumulative average annual growth rate of 21% by 2030.¹⁵⁹ The IPCC 2022 report

found that investment in the shift to a low-carbon world is about six times lower than it needs to be. 160

The IEA indicated in its 2022 World Energy Outlook report that while "continuing investment in fossil fuels is needed to keep supply and demand in balance while energy transitions are in progress ... the extent of this requirement is entirely dependent on the speed at which clean energy investment scales up. In the [Net Zero Emissions] Scenario, for every USD 1 spent globally on fossil fuels in 2030, more than USD 9 is spent on clean energy."¹⁶¹ Investments are needed both to massively scale commercially available solutions such as renewable energies and heat pumps and to develop new technologies that will be responsible for more than 40% of GHG emission reductions in 2050.¹⁶² Investments in restoring nature may also be helpful and are discussed in Annex B.

According to a study by BloombergNEF, to support the world economy's achievement of the 1.5°C scenario, the ratio of clean-energy lending and equity underwriting by banks relative to fossil fuels needs to reach 4 to 1 by 2030, whereas for the 1,142 studied banks, it lay between 0.8 and 1 at the end of 2021 (with the Net-Zero Banking Alliance banks hardly performing better).¹⁶³ The underwriting activities for low-carbon activities have been mostly supported by "small, climate-focused banks, national banks or multilateral development banks."¹⁶⁴ A Cambridge University study commissioned by BNP Paribas indicates that banks are lagging on transition financing in part because of their passive approach to fielding financing requests, rather than identifying opportunities. While more work is needed to prepare a pipeline of bankable projects, particularly in emerging economies, the Cambridge University study also found that, even under current policy contexts, banks over-rely on standard approaches, products, clients, and opportunities to minimize time and effort and spend comparatively less time on identifying new opportunities or creating enabling financial products.¹⁶⁵

Net-zerofinancial-sectorinitiatives' commitments and recommendations toward reorienting new capital are inadequate. For example, the NZAOA asks members to develop financing transition targets and "ideally show a positive trend in climate solution investments over time,"¹⁶⁶ which does not reflect the urgency and scale of increased financing needed.

For many sectors in transition,¹⁶⁷ sustainability-linked bonds¹⁶⁸ and loans to fund lowcarbon technology interventions, renewable energy deployment, decommissioning, and other capital expenditures related to the energy transition could lower the cost of capital for necessary transition finance.¹⁶⁹ Private equity and venture capital can be further dedicated to portfolio companies that are driving innovative technologies or interventions. Constraints to the scale-up of these financial instruments include the lack of stringent standards for the use of proceeds and the lack of standardization around the definition and measurement of investments in climate solutions. This lack of standardization allows for the misuse of funds raised through these instruments and undermines accountability,¹⁷⁰ and the lack of robust definitions and means of measurement limits the overall strategic effectiveness of private equity and venture capital portfolios to address the range of financing needs at scale. Improved pricing structures (conditioning the cost of capital on the achievement of key performance indicators [KPIs]) would increase both the effectiveness and uptake of financial instruments designed for climate impact.¹⁷¹ More efforts are urgently needed to identify and define the investments—by sector, mechanism, and use—that contribute effectively to climate solutions, and to create enabling environments to bring them to scale. FIs can help accelerate that discussion.

Scaling the financing needed to close the investment gap—regionally and globally—will require public policies to leverage private capital, de-risk investments, create markets and opportunities, and complement finance with supportive technical support.¹⁷² The UN HLEG report explains that there is an urgency to craft "a new deal for development that includes financial institutions and multinational corporations working with governments, Multilateral Development Banks and Development Finance Institutions to consistently take more risk and set targets to greatly scale investments in the clean energy transition in developing countries."173 Indeed, a reform of international public finance is overdue. In particular, developing countries need higher levels of concessional debt finance characterized by longer loan maturity, lower interest rates, and extended grace periods to be able to invest in the enabling infrastructure for investments and provide sovereign guarantees.¹⁷⁴ Multilateral development banks (MDBs) also have a role in providing credit guarantees or currency guarantees, backed by their preferred creditor status.¹⁷⁵ For this to happen, it is necessary to reassess MDBs' and other development finance institutions' (DFIs') profitability targets and "transparently analyz[e] whether the capital adequacy ratio is too conservative and the extent to which it could be lowered without compromising the AAA rating given by the credit rating agencies."¹⁷⁶ It also entails reviewing the International Monetary Fund-World Bank Debt Sustainability Analysis, which conflates solvency and liquidity,¹⁷⁷ and increasing debt-to-GDP ceilings, provided certain conditions¹⁷⁸ are in place.¹⁷⁹

FIs can also collaborate with MDBs and DFIs to develop large-scale financial innovation mechanisms and platforms, such as the Global Innovation Lab for Climate Finance,¹⁸⁰ to craft bankable models that unlock private investment by addressing the key risks raising the cost of finance.¹⁸¹ Climate Investor One is another example of a "financing facility for early-stage project development, construction financing, and refinancing to fast-track renewable energy projects in developing countries," targeting an installed capacity of 1,700 megawatts per year; it has already mobilized investment from six financial institutions.¹⁸² Similarly, Goldman Sachs has joined the Asian Development Bank and Bloomberg Philanthropies in setting up a Climate Innovation and Development Fund focused on innovation across the sustainable transport sector in Asian markets.¹⁸³ Co-investment with MDBs can also involve purchasing MDB bonds or buying the sustainability-linked bonds of governments whose proceeds are earmarked for the sustainable transition,¹⁸⁴ or supporting country-led Just Transition Energy Partnerships, which include mechanisms to crowd in private sector capital.¹⁸⁵

Despite the attention to the tremendous financing and investment gap for the global energy transition, the patchwork of actions by local and national governments and by companies and FIs still lacks a coherent framework. Complementary efforts are needed to identify the institutional arrangements to finance the energy transition, including the mix of public and private finance, the respective roles of the MDBs, commercial banks, and investment funds of various kinds, and the optimal financing mechanisms at project and regional levels.

Summary Table

Торіс	Recommendations for FIs
End financing for fossil fuel expansion	• Deny capital to companies involved in fossil fuel expansion, including new debt capital (bonds), or underwriting for initial public offerings, bond, and equity issuances.
Condition new financing on	• Condition new finance on the existence of a robust 1.5°C-aligned plan among carbon-intensive sectors.
robust 1.5°C alignment	• Develop and invest in new financing products to accelerate the transition away from a fossil fuel-based economy, such as transition bonds (subject to external auditing and accountability mechanisms).
	Require energy- and utility-sector portfolio companies/clients to
	» End capital expenditure for new fossil fuel exploration projects and new coal plants.
•	Limit financing for new oil and gas infrastructure to critical infrastructure projects only, such as those that capture wasted gas. Investments should be prioritized and designed to avoid locking in capital in fossil fuel infrastructure.
	» Plan for the managed phase-out of existing fossil fuel production and coal power generation assets ahead of their economic life.
	Achieve a just transition for workers and communities through social dialogue, including budgeting for worker compensation and retraining and remediation costs.
	• Condition new financing on a commitment to Zero Deforestation. A No Deforestation, No Peatland, No Exploitation commitment can be adopted and implemented as a starting point for the zero-deforestation policy.
Shift new capital	Reorient new capital toward the transition by
flows toward achieving climate goals	» Massively scaling investments to commercially available solutions and to developing new technologies to support GHG-emissions reductions.
	» Financing MDBs, which are well placed to leverage private finance and to complement finance with technical support.
	Initiating complementary efforts to identify the institutional arrangements to finance the energy
	• Scale existing instruments such as sustainability-linked bonds and loans that fund and scale decarbonization and clean energy technologies.
	• Support international reform of MDBs and DFIs by sharing expertise and developing large-scale financial innovation platforms.

C. Use Influence With Financed Entities to Support Their Transitions

In addition to decisions about allocating and conditioning new finance, FIs hold significant influence with their portfolio companies (and asset managers, in the case of asset owners), and can have significant impact in shaping their portfolio companies' and clients' strategies, operations, capital expenditure, and lobbying activities to contribute to achieving the 1.5°C scenario.¹⁸⁶

Supporting companies to rapidly transition along 1.5°C pathways requires looking deeper than companies' targets or pledges to companies' strategies and business plans, actual

production and capital expenditure plans,¹⁸⁷ and their reliance on offsets or carbon capture or removal in both setting and meeting their targets.¹⁸⁸ All strategies and business plans should be aligned with a robust transition plan, describing how the company will transition according to its sector's pathway using commercially available sector-specific technologies.

GFANZ provides a useful list of questions to analyze the credibility and feasibility of robust transition plans for portfolio companies and their industrial sectors, which should support FIs' active engagement with companies:

- Has the pathway been validated by the scientific community for credibility around temperature alignment?
- Have the model and scenarios been peer reviewed? What are the current use cases of the scenarios (e.g., alignment, risk)?
- Has the pathway been submitted for international model intercomparison exercises (e.g., IPCC database)?
- Has the pathway been evaluated by industry and other key stakeholders (e.g., regulators) to assess its commercial feasibility?
- How are just transition and fair share considered in regional/country-specific pathways?¹⁸⁹

According to GFANZ, FIs can use sectoral pathways "to anticipate investment flows needed to bring on new technologies and to replace existing assets"¹⁹⁰ (see Section 2B on new finance). Of course, while a number of sectoral pathways have been developed, there are gaps in current pathways. For instance, roadmaps or pathways are missing for certain sectors or geographical regions (see Part 4 for further discussion).

The effectiveness of FIs' engagement with portfolio companies and clients depends on a range of factors, including the type of engagement, the extent of the engagement, the resources leveraged, and how public the engagement is. Notably, even when individual FIs cannot alone change business practices or the availability of finance to non-1.5C-aligned companies, FIs can influence societal and market assessments of risk, and their public commitments shift norms and practices. Moreover, the fact that the potential impacts of any one FI may be more limited, or the fact that finance may be available from less-responsible financiers, does not absolve individual FIs of their individual responsibility for their policies and practices.

This section lays out effective engagement strategies for FIs to shift the practices of their clients and portfolio companies.

a. Engagement Tools and Strategies

Tools for Commercial Banks to Influence Their Clients' Transitions

As discussed above, no bank can be considered as aligned with climate goals if it finances, through loans or underwriting, the expansion of fossil fuel production and consumption (except for the limited cases for gas infrastructure as discussed in Section 2B.a. above). Beyond that baseline requirement, banks can use their influence with new and existing clients to drive 1.5°C-aligned behavior.¹⁹¹ Banks can condition financing—or the terms of

financing through detailed covenants—on their clients' setting and meeting robust transition plans, on the basis of sectoral policies for 1.5°C alignment (see Section 2B.b). Traditionally the objective of covenants is to protect the debt's holder against reimbursement default.¹⁹² Given that climate is a material financial risk that could threaten the financial health of the client company, conditioning financing on transition plans is compatible with the logic of covenants.¹⁹³ Further, banks can require express and binding representations from their clients with respect to climate commitments and compliance with laws and standards, with accelerated repayments following a breach of such warranty.¹⁹⁴

Tools for Asset Managers to Influence Their Portfolio Companies' Transitions

Asset managers, especially large passive-asset managers (such as BlackRock, State Street and Vanguard), can have concentrated and long-term ownership of companies' debt and equity, meaning they are uniquely positioned to escalate the impact of various engagement tactics.

Escalation strategies can differ by asset class. For debtholder engagement, there is an opportunity, particularly during critical moments of refinancing¹⁹⁵ to require debt issuers to include climate strategies and transition plans as part of debt obligations.

On the equity side, asset managers have a number of shareholder rights they can exercise to influence the real economy. First, they can submit or co-file shareholder resolutions or vote on resolutions submitted by other shareholders. Proposing and supporting shareholder resolutions not only indicates to the target company's management the expectations of shareholders with respect to climate action but helps to normalize industry-wide proclimate business practices.¹⁹⁶ Notably, Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act allows proposals to be rejected if they deal with a matter relating to the company's ordinary business operations; accordingly, proposals tend to be related to disclosures rather than to changes in business practices or real-world outcomes.¹⁹⁷ Even so, support for climate-related (and other environmental and social) proposals remains low among institutional investors, even among firms that tout their environmental and social credentials.¹⁹⁸ Importantly, shareholder resolutions are more likely to pass where companies perceive a likely threat of future regulation,¹⁹⁹ underscoring the importance for FIs to support public policies and regulatory enforcement in addition to putting pressure on companies on an ad hoc basis.

Companies also usually have standing votes for shareholders on directors, audited reports, and executive remuneration each year. Evidence suggests that voting against directors in annual proxy votes can be more impactful and resource-efficient than filing shareholder resolutions, even where the vote only gains a minority percentage of the total votes.²⁰⁰ The PAII makes the recommendation to investors that "where a company is not on track to achieve its transition plan or targets set for two years or more, [they should] vote against the board, remuneration policy, annual report and accounts."²⁰¹ This tactic has gained traction in recent years and was reported widely when a campaign succeeded in replacing several members of Exxon's board during the 2021 proxy season.²⁰² LGIM implements a similar policy under its Climate Impact Pledge, voting against the directors of companies that do not comply with their minimum requirements for progress on climate in key high-emitting

sectors.²⁰³ NGO Majority Action has been instrumental in identifying key directors for voting campaigns at companies that are not aligned with climate goals.²⁰⁴

Finally, asset managers that also own private equity assets have the most direct ability to influence real economy emissions by buying and restructuring non-1.5°C-aligned companies to ensure credible and meaningful transition planning for 1.5°C. Their longer time horizon as compared to public markets as well as their full ownership governance models grant them a strong lever. Yet, this opportunity has hardly been pursued by private equity enterprises so far.²⁰⁵

Tools for Asset Owners to Influence Their Portfolio Companies' Transitions

Many asset owners have more long-term interests than asset managers and recognize climate change-related system risk to the overall health of their portfolios. Asset owners have critical influence in the system, as both clients to asset managers and owners/lenders to companies. They can have impact by moving both sets of actors toward metrics for real-economy decarbonization.

Accordingly, asset owners can exert their influence over asset managers' engagement activities in at least two ways. First, they can select (or terminate) asset managers on the basis of their climate or other sustainability engagement strategies (which may be laid out in the asset manager's fund prospectus); the more publicly they do so, the more influential their efforts (as discussed in the next section). For example, Japan's Government Pension Investment Fund awarded mandates to LGIM and cut them for BlackRock after it publicly "raised the weighting of 'stewardship activities' in its selection criteria for passive equity managers" in 2017.²⁰⁶ A 2022 NZAOA paper recognizes that "asset owners have a responsibility to pick those managers that best align their actions with asset owners' long-term interests, including climate change mitigation.²⁰⁷

Once in a business relationship, asset owners can also direct their asset managers with respect to the managers' engagement and voting practices.²⁰⁸ The same NZAOA paper emphasizes that asset owners' engagement with their asset managers is critical to

align [asset managers'] stewardship activities and public messaging with asset owners' long-term interests. This alignment asks asset managers to represent, as fiduciaries, that climate risk is not only a systemic financial risk to portfolios but an existential risk to the fundamental businesses of their asset owner clients.²⁰⁹

Beyond direct discrete engagements with companies, asset owners' interest in long-term growth across the whole economy also uniquely incentivizes them to push asset managers to publicly support climate action at sector-wide and cross-sector levels.

Asset owners' strongest lever to ensure asset managers use their engagement powers to achieve climate goals is the mandate they set with their asset managers. These mandates should explicitly and clearly state that the asset owner's objective is "to support real-world change towards net zero by 2050," in line with NZAOA alliance's commitment.²¹⁰

Despite the influence that asset owners have with asset managers, their level of engagement remains low.²¹¹ The Global Impact Investing Network (GIIN) has helpfully identified several constraints and challenges asset owners face in "pursuing impact alongside asset managers."²¹² Among others, the GIIN sees shortcomings in asset owners' clear articulation of impact objectives, in the ability of asset owners to understand asset managers' impact-oriented strategies, in continued tensions between financial returns and other impact objectives, and in the limited ability to influence asset managers given established fund structures, among others. The GIIN gives guidance and positive examples to asset owners on ways to strengthen their engagement in the existing policy context, as well as "industry tools, resources, and infrastructure [that would] facilitate deeper consideration of impact."²¹³

b. Increasing Engagement Impact

There are several ways in which FIs can make their engagements and levers of influence more impactful.

First, FIs should set clear targets, disclose engagement strategies and outcomes, communicate and execute escalation strategies, and have clear consequences for poor performance.²¹⁴

Second, engagement processes are more likely to yield results if a company perceives that the process may threaten access to financial, reputational, or social capital,²¹⁵ or could result in the loss of insurance coverage and increased legal liability.²¹⁶ Certain companies, such as those that are consumer-facing, are more susceptible than others to public-facing stakeholder pressure.²¹⁷ Media coverage of FIs' capital-allocation decisions and engagement activities can help amplify the effect of both beyond the scope of their own portfolios.

Third, engagement is more impactful when it focuses on ends-based asks (those pertaining to direct outcomes) rather than the more common means-based asks (such as additional corporate disclosures or reporting).²¹⁸ Some early studies have found little or no correlation between disclosures and actual corporate environmental performance.²¹⁹

Fourth, engagement across a sector or value chain (including with peer companies, suppliers, regulators, and customers) strengthens investors' abilities to both identify viable solutions and overcome the ecosystem hurdles to be tackled by policy-makers or through engagement across industries.²²⁰

Fifth, the likelihood of engagement success can be improved by acting collectively in coalitions, especially where the coalition has a high amount of AUM or proportion of stock or bondholding²²¹ (antitrust considerations with respect to collective action are briefly discussed in Section 1.f. above).

Summary Table

Institution	Recommendations		
Commercial banks	• Actively engage with prospective and existing debtholders, making ends-based asks, particularly during critical moments of refinancing.		
	• Require express and binding representations from clients regarding their 1.5°C alignment, accelerating repayments following a breach of such warranty.		
	• Condition financing on publicly disclosed sectoral policies and expectations (for loans and underwriting) for ending fossil fuel expansion and for setting and meeting robust transition plans, and review compliance with ends-based asks.		
	 Increase influence and shift norms by publicly disclosing 		
	» Debt-denial policies for fossil fuel expanders		
	» Engagement criteria		
	» Engagement objectives		
	» Escalation tactics		
	» Details of all engagement activities.		
Asset managers	• Actively engage with debtholders, making ends-based asks, particularly during critical moments of refinancing.		
	• Require debt issuers to include robust climate commitments as part of debt obligations.		
	• Vote against directors, audited reports, and executive remuneration for 1.5°C non- aligned companies, such as those planning or facilitating fossil fuel expansion.		
	• Align all shareholder resolution voting with a 1.5°C trajectory by submitting, co- filing, or voting on resolutions indicating expectations with respect to 1.5°C-aligned climate action and normalizing industry-wide pro-climate business practices.		
	 Increase influence and shift norms by publicly disclosing 		
	» Debt-denial policies for fossil fuel expanders		
	» Voting record		
	» Details of all engagements.		
	• For asset managers with private equity, buy and restructure non-1.5°C-aligned companies to ensure credible and meaningful transition planning.		
Asset owners	• Influence asset managers to adopt the above approaches for influencing portfolio companies' transitions through		
	» Selection/termination of asset managers		
	» Requests for proposals that center climate impact		
	» Ongoing evaluations: set targets and strategies for asset managers.		
	» Public-facing announcements of asset manager selection and termination.		
	» Mandates set with managers that explicitly state that the asset owner's objective is to accelerate climate action.		
	 Vote against directors, audited reports, and executive remuneration for 1.5°C non- aligned companies, such as those planning or facilitating fossil fuel expansion, during the Annual General Meetings of publicly listed companies, and publicly disclose reasons. 		
	• Align all shareholder resolution voting with a 1.5°C trajectory.		
	 Increase influence and shift norms by publicly disclosing 		
	» Debt-denial policies for fossil fuel expanders		
	» Criteria, targets, strategies, and requirements for asset managers.		

Part 3. Embed Accountability and Oversight at the FI Level and in External Initiatives

Despite the proliferation of net-zero commitments and initiatives among FIs, significant changes to align business plans and strategies with these commitments have lagged.²²² The first sections of this report articulated some of the reasons for this misalignment, especially when targets and strategies were misaligned with commitments.

As attention to the accountability gap grows, regulators are increasingly attentive to greenwashing. In the United States, the Securities and Exchange Commission has proposed a rule to combat greenwashing by investment advisors and investment companies²²³ and has already brought investigations or actions against Deutsche Bank's investment arm, BNY Mellon Investment Advisor, and Goldman Sachs Asset Managers.²²⁴ In the United Kingdom, advertising regulators have banned HSBC ads, saying they were "misleading" about the bank's efforts to cut emissions,²²⁵ and in the European Union (EU), proposed draft rules would require companies to provide evidence to support their climate claims.²²⁶

In the UN HLEG's report, the Chair's note at the outset of the report is entitled "It's Time to Draw a Red Line Around Greenwashing."²²⁷ The report itself was largely organized around two principles: that net-zero pledges and activities needed to be more robust and also more accountable. This section discusses this need for greater accountability to ensure the credibility of FIs' net-zero pledges, claims, and communications.

a. FI-Level Governance and Oversight

Achieving commitments and targets involves changing institutional behavior and internal change management. To be successful, commitments must be embedded in corporate governance, including at the board and C-suite levels, as well as in day-to-day management. Having in place clear internal oversight structures and mandates, incentives, and monitoring and review processes is necessary to ensure climate commitments are taken seriously by all the internal stakeholders who need to prioritize meeting them. Establishing effective grievance mechanisms to address complaints and whistle-blower protections is also critical to advancing accountability.

Boards are responsible for embedding climate commitments into an institution's purpose and strategy, setting objectives to guide and incentivize internal teams, and ensuring they are being implemented.²²⁸ SBTi recommends FIs establish a climate governance structure, including making "portfolio alignment with the Paris Agreement a board priority—including explicit attribution of this responsibility within the board."²²⁹ Only one net-zero financial-sector commitment calls for board review of climate targets,²³⁰ and none requires board approval of their commitments to join or stay members. Chief executive officer commitments are uncertain with respect to their effect on strategy without board involvement.²³¹ This challenge is particularly salient for executive commitments to far-off net-zero targets, where signatories may view them as 'next management's problem.²³² Executives may feel protected, knowing that their commitments as individuals will likely not be legally binding on themselves or their companies.

To motivate executives to care about meeting climate targets, boards should also link executive remuneration to meaningful and stringent climate-related KPIs,²³³ as suggested by the PAII Net Zero Investment Framework²³⁴ and the Investor Agenda Expectation Ladder²³⁵ but not required by any of the net-zero financial-sector initiatives. With climate risk increasingly recognized as a financial risk, a small but growing number of FIs have started to link remuneration to climate-related objectives.²³⁶

Effective grievance mechanisms and whistle-blower protections are also key elements of an FI's accountability architecture. Appropriately designed grievance mechanisms enable an FI to receive and address complaints of non-compliance with commitments from employees, researchers, civil society, and value chain actors regarding the FI's climate targets, performance, and the associated impacts. The UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights set out criteria to ensure grievance mechanisms are effective,²³⁷ which can be applied to designing grievance mechanisms that suit the climate context as well.

b. Accountability by Voluntary Initiatives

To the extent that the external methodologies, initiatives and alliances solicit and indicate member commitments, much more effort is needed to promote accountability. As described extensively above, none of the initiatives reviewed for this report require members to commit to driving real climate action, let alone the most effective implementation strategies to do so. Instead, the only true requirements are setting and publishing targets, annually disclosing progress, and paying membership fees.²³⁸ Even the most robust net-zero financial-sector initiative, the NZAOA, offers that "if a member is unable to meet one or several of [its six] minimum requirements the member shall provide and disclose reasonable explanation as to why that is."²³⁹ In other words, disclosure is required, not improved practices or real-world impact.

While GFANZ and its initiatives publish detailed guidance documents to support members in developing and implementing more meaningful strategies for climate action, none of the recommendations in these guidance documents are required for members. Stakeholders, including journalists and policy-makers, may understandably confuse these guidance documents with indications of the members' commitments and activities.

The GFANZ initiatives limit public access to information regarding their members' performance and the associated measures taken to hold them accountable. The NZAOA acknowledges it enters into non-disclosure agreements (NDAs) to ensure information about its engagements with members that fail to meet its minimum requirements, and any punitive measures it takes, cannot be communicated externally.²⁴⁰ This practice has also been highlighted with regard to other private sector-led initiatives.²⁴¹ SBTi has been criticized for its use of NDAs with the companies that submit targets for verification, preventing the initiative from naming those whose climate targets have been rejected and explaining why any specific target has been approved or denied.²⁴² Agreements of this kind impede transparency, accountability, and the initiatives' credibility with key stakeholders and the

public. Best practice among financial-sector initiatives would involve publishing information about non-compliance among its members and taking action to hold members accountable.

Currently, the GFANZ initiatives lack the ability and necessary mechanisms to meaningfully hold members accountable. While some initiatives receive input from experts and environmental organizations through advisory committees,²⁴³ the initiatives' members account for most or all of the seats on their highest-level governing bodies,²⁴⁴ which may limit their ambitions, agendas, and accountability measures.

Initiatives would be better equipped to hold FIs accountable for their climate-related commitments, reduce greenwashing, improve the initiatives' credibility, and, ultimately, to drive impact if they supported independent audits, channels for third parties to report misalignment between commitments and practice, or an independent oversight mechanism. Initiatives could support their members by providing them with tailored recommendations for improvement or, where necessary, discontinue their participation where practices fail to improve over time.

The current accountability gap in net-zero financial-sector initiatives has been publicly acknowledged. In August 2022, after being criticized for not disclosing any sanctions against members that failed to follow through on commitments,²⁴⁵ Race to Zero confirmed it would share more information on its new "compliance mechanism" aimed at driving "real world impact" that would apply to the GFANZ alliances in September 2022.²⁴⁶ At the time, members of GFANZ's leadership expressed support for Race to Zero setting up a new compliance mechanism to "identify and remove members who fail to meet its criteria."²⁴⁷ The independent accountability body was envisioned to be one "where civil society groups, including non-governmental organisations, could report financial institutions for not following Race to Zero's criteria."²⁴⁸ Yet as of June 1, 2023, there were no further indications



that Race to Zero would set up such a compliance mechanism to review GFANZ members. In fact, in October 2022, GFANZ weakened its link to Race to Zero, no longer requiring members to meet its criteria as a condition of membership.²⁴⁹

Summary Table

Methodologies, tools, and data to measure and monitor corporate and FI alignment with the

Sector	Recommendations			
Recommendations	Embed commitment into corporate governance and accountability measures by			
for FIs	• Requiring board sign-off on all climate commitments and targets and including explicit oversight of these in the mandate of a specific board committee.			
	 Integrating climate commitments into corporate and investment strategy. 			
	• Linking executive remuneration to climate-related KPIs.			
	• Establishing a climate governance structure that prioritizes contributions to meeting global climate targets.			
	• Establishing effective grievance mechanisms to address complaints and enforcing whistle-blower protection policies.			
Recommendations for net-zero financial-sector initiatives	Hold FI members accountable and support external accountability by independent entities by			
	• Requiring FIs to embed their commitments into internal governance and accountability as laid out above.			
	 Adopting an accountability architecture that ensures independent review of FI efforts to meet climate commitments. 			
	• Publishing information about non-compliance and taking corrective action.			
	• Avoiding barriers to transparency, such as entering NDAs with members.			
	Diversifying governing bodies.			
	• Supporting independent periodic audits, channels for third parties to report misalignment between commitments and practice, or an independent oversight mechanism.			

Part 4. Contribute to Filling Gaps in Metrics and Methodologies

1.5°C trajectory have gaps and limitations that need to be addressed in order to drive and support FI contributions to the 1.5°C trajectory. These challenges will require collaboration between many actors, including the public sector and academia, and FIs can play a critical role through knowledge sharing and engagement to support these efforts.

a. Carbon Footprinting

For over 20 years, corporates and FIs have used the GHG Corporate Reporting Protocol to calculate their 'carbon footprint.' Carbon footprinting refers to a process of accounting for the carbon (or GHG) emissions of an entity's annual activities; the process has become a key input into any form of climate risk assessment. The GHG Corporate Reporting Protocol is the most widely used GHG accounting standard, with 92% of Fortune 500 companies reporting against it in 2016.²⁵⁰ The Protocol has been influential in shaping TCFD, SBTi, GFANZ, and many other initiatives.

However, while widely used, the GHG Protocol still has room to grow to provide the level of standardization and comparability necessary to provide companies and investors with actionable data. Under the reporting frameworks based on the GHG Protocol, reporting companies are not required to disclose how they calculated their emissions estimates, if they measured the data themselves, if they sought data from the other companies in their supply chains, or what type of research they did to rigorously prepare for their disclosures. In addition, the system boundaries (defining the sources of emissions to be counted) are not necessarily fixed and comprehensive, and some emission streams can be underreported. For example, the Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment's study of the steel sector revealed that following the GHG Protocol would underreport emissions as compared to other accounting frameworks for steel.²⁵¹

The inconsistency of carbon accounting methods is acute for scopes 1 and 2, but is especially apparent for scope 3 (upstream and downstream emissions in the value chain).²⁵² The GHG Protocol is explicitly "not designed to support comparisons between companies based on their Scope 3 emissions,"²⁵³ since decisions on which approaches to take and which aspects of scope 3 are financially significant are often left up to the company's discretion. This means that reported value chain emissions will vary wildly as companies determine on their own which scope 3 emissions are worth reporting without informing or consulting with investors or other stakeholders.

Importantly, the lack of a harmonized, comparable accounting framework is not an insurmountable challenge to FIs' meaningfully engaging with their portfolio companies or generally measuring effective real-economy decarbonization as a result of their efforts (for instance through the analysis of production and capital expenditure plans), but harmonization of carbon-accounting methodologies will make such accounting more rigorous, more comparable, and less gameable. The Coalition on Materials Emissions

Transparency (COMET) initiative, of which the Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment (author of this report) is a founding member, is working to develop such a harmonized framework for materials emissions.²⁵⁴

b. 1.5°C Trajectory and Science-Based Targets

Science-based targets (SBTs) emerged in recent years as a tool that aims to define corporate emission-reduction targets consistent with the science of 1.5°C achievement.²⁵⁵ SBTs are designed to evaluate whether an entity's GHG emissions trajectory is 'aligned' with global climate goals. There are many different SBT methodologies, each taking a different approach to the challenging questions of scenario usage (and thus carbon budget), emissions allocations, baseline year, and scope.

In 2015, the Science-based Target initiative (SBTi) emerged to unite and rank these SBT methodologies. SBTi has also played a key role in evaluating corporate- and financial-sector climate targets. SBTi has been very influential, and its approaches and recommendations have been embedded in almost all GFANZ initiatives.

SBTi has evaluated the different methodologies and recommended two: the Sectoral Decarbonization Approach (SDA) and the Absolute Contraction Approach.²⁵⁶ Many other corporate climate action frameworks use and reference the SDA approach, including the Transition Pathway Initiative.

In order to assess and validate an emissions target, all SBT methods benchmark corporate emissions against a climate-and-energy scenario that models a pathway for global or sectoral emissions. There are a variety of scenarios and scenario producers. The most prominent sectoral pathways that are aligned with 1.5°C are the IEA's Net Zero Emissions by 2050 scenario,²⁵⁷ the UTS's One Earth Climate Model (OECM),²⁵⁸ commissioned by the NZAOA, and the NGFS's Net Zero 2050 scenario.²⁵⁹ The OECM provides the highest level of granularity within broad sectors of the economy; for instance, it includes distinct pathways for iron and steel, chemicals, cement, and aluminum. The NGFS pathway provides the least granularity, providing only one pathway for the entire industrial sector.

To a large extent, the ambition of SBTi targets (and other target-setting bodies) is constrained by which benchmark scenarios they use. Every scenario has critical decisions embedded within it that are not always made transparent (e.g., the IEA does not publish detailed regional data for its Net Zero by 2050 scenario). In addition to the careful assumptions that need to be made on uncertain technologies, perhaps the most important consideration are decisions about the remaining carbon budget, with varying degrees of probability and predictability. Overall, when aggregating all the 1.5°C-aligned pathways used by the SBTi, the world economy stays within the 500-gigaton carbon budget and reaches net-zero CO₂ by 2050, assuming at least 1–4 gigatons of CO₂ removal per year by 2050, which is in line with the 2021 IPCC estimates for a 1.5°C carbon budget with 50% probability.²⁶⁰ However sectoral pathways rely on a combination of scenarios, including IPCC (2018), OECM, IEA's Net Zero Scenario, and IEA's (2017) Beyond 2°C Scenario, each relying on different assumptions about carbon budget, probability, and mitigation pathways, which are not always aligned with the 1.5°C scenario, especially for those pre-dating the IPCC's Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C.²⁶¹ The academic literature suggests that the SBTi-recommended methodologies may not be the most climate aligned. The two primary academic studies on science-based target methodologies are Rekker et al. (2022)²⁶² and Bjørn et al. (2021).²⁶³ They conducted evaluations of the various SBT approaches, finding that some methods excluded by SBTi may be more academically robust in terms of their ability to ensure corporate alignment with a 1.5°C carbon budget. Bjørn et al.'s study contrasts SBTi's recommended methodologies with the Centre for Sustainable Organizations'²⁶⁴ context-based approach, finding the Centre's methodology may be the most aligned in terms of emissions imbalances (i.e., the difference between science-based targets and global allowable emissions). Nevertheless, SBTi recommends against that method and in favor of the methods produced by SBTi itself (SDA and Absolute Contraction Approach) without providing transparent explanations, which, for some, reflects a conflict of interest.²⁶⁵

FIs should show support to and stay abreast of all science-based multistakeholder efforts aimed at strengthening the 1.5°C-aligned scenarios—in particular, at the regional and sectoral levels. Moreover, there should be more alignment and consensus among FIs on what scenarios to use (in particular, when it comes to carbon budget and probability). This would facilitate communications with investees as well as support accountability. Cherrypicking among scenarios creates confusion that delays ambitious action.

c. Defining What Constitutes a Climate Solution and a "Green" Company

Governments have the critical and challenging role to drive private finance into appropriate parts of the economy to enable the transition.

In an effort to incentivize finance to true climate solutions and other environmentally sustainable activities and to fight against greenwashing, the EU developed a pioneering taxonomy,²⁶⁶ which was published in 2020 and slowly rolled out in 2022. The taxonomy defines an environmentally sustainable activity as one that contributes to one or more environmental objectives (climate change mitigation, climate change adaptation, sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources, transition to a circular economy, pollution prevention and control, protection of healthy ecosystems) without negatively impacting the others, and while respecting human and labor rights as established by the UN and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).

Technical screening criteria, including emissions caps, are defined to assess an activity. The criteria are meant to be reviewed every 5 years to take into account the evolution of science and technology. Companies and financial actors will have to report on the alignment of their activities with the taxonomy. The taxonomy is also impacting the design of other initiatives such as the green bond framework; the proceeds of green bonds issued in the EU can only be invested in green activities as defined in the taxonomy.²⁶⁷ The EU taxonomy has incentivized 30 other countries²⁶⁸ to define their own green or climate taxonomy according to its blueprint, and many seek to harmonize with the EU.²⁶⁹

However, the EU taxonomy is still facing headwinds with criticism on the confusion created by some criteria, the need for very granular data, the lack of comprehensiveness, and a lack of

clarity, which could send the wrong signal to the investors. Companies may not be 'taxonomyaligned' because the activity is in scope but in insufficient transition (e.g., a steel mill that is still too polluting); because the activity is not impactful enough to deserve inclusion within the scope (e.g., professional services); or because the activity is by definition harmful to the environment (e.g., a non-abated coal plant) and will never be in scope.²⁷⁰ The reasons for nonalignment are not disaggregated.

Advocates and commentators have also argued that the process has been captured by corporate interests. This was the subject of open letters from hundreds of investors,²⁷¹ scientists,²⁷² and NGOs²⁷³ to the EU commission, mostly denouncing the inclusion of fossil gas but also nuclear energy (a climate-safe technology that has been criticized for non-climate-related risks). As a response, a coalition of experts and NGOs has set up the "Independent Science-Based Taxonomy"²⁷⁴ which reportedly replicates the robust EU taxonomy's technical criteria while removing those that they consider environmentally harmful or not science-based. Like the EU taxonomy, they intend to evolve toward a traffic-light approach in order to clear up the confusing signals currently sent by the "non-alignment" qualification (as explained above) and to update "every 3 to 5 years to reflect technological, scientific and legislative developments."²⁷⁵

The EU taxonomy is in constant development through the work of its technical expert group, the promulgation of "delegated acts" or implementing regulations, and regular consultations with various economic actors.²⁷⁶

While insufficient and imperfect, the taxonomy is a laudable regulatory effort to give direction to investors and companies on how to reorient finance and efforts toward environmentally sustainable solutions.

Given the remaining work ahead in defining environmentally sustainable activities and in operationalizing reporting against the definition, all stakeholders, including FIs, need to be supportive and share relevant knowledge and expertise—in particular, in countries engaged in defining taxonomies, so long as FI support for government efforts does not lead to FIs holding the pen.





This report has underscored the deep insufficiencies of bottom-up approaches to financing the energy transition as well as highlighted the main inconsistencies, gaps, and shortcomings of current approaches to net zero.

The following are the key points that emerge from this report:

- 1. A coherent technological pathway and associated policy framework is urgently needed to guide the financial sector toward national, regional, and global climate and energy transition goals. There are deep and inherent limitations to bottom-up approaches to achieving decarbonization, some that are within the capability of financial institutions to address but many that are beyond their remit. The financial sector should be guided by an official pathway and associated policy tools, including carbon pricing, public finance and guarantees, strategic subsidies, sectoral regulations, and so on.
- 2. In the absence of a coherent official pathway, the proliferation of commitments, alliances, frameworks and tools have intentionally or unintentionally overstated the effectiveness of their approaches with respect to climate action. Fls should communicate clearly and accurately about climate-related pledges and commitments, including whether the goal is to contribute to climate action or to mitigate risk; how business strategies will be aligned to achieve those goals; and perceived limitations or conflicts that may undermine climate-related pledges. Fls should ensure that targets, metrics, and methodologies are aligned with goals and business strategies, and do not misrepresent the effectiveness of Fls' strategies.
- **3.** Government policy, plans, roadmaps, and regulation are decisive for achieving global climate goals. Governments drive innovation, shift markets, assign costs and liabilities, incentivize important investments and behaviors, and define fiduciary responsibilities, among other things. Government policies are the most important determinant of corporate performance on sustainability issues, and public policies apply to all types of actors, both publicly traded and privately owned. The fundamental way that FIs can accelerate the energy transition—as well as mitigate their exposure to climate risk, create clearer pathways for private finance in climate-related opportunities, and reconcile potential conflicts between fiduciary duty and climate action—is for them to stop lobbying against government regulation and governance, require that their financed entities similarly stop anti-climate lobbying, and ensure that any other political engagement, including of financed entities or of other associations, is supportive of robust climate action.
- 4. The most decisive and important role for the financial sector in accelerating the energy transition is its ability to mobilize the trillions of dollars needed to achieve climate goals, closing the growing gap in climate finance. The emphasis for the financial sector, therefore, should be on how *new finance* is being directed and whether new investments, loans, underwriting, and other forms of financing are contributing to—and not undermining—a rapid and just transition. Current financial flows toward low-carbon solutions must be multiplied by a factor of four to six.

- **5.** The main opportunity FIs have to accelerate the energy transition with respect to existing portfolios is for FIs to use their influence with financed entities to support their transitions in line with a 1.5°C trajectory, including ensuring that their financed companies are not lobbying against government regulation.
- **6.** Few FIs or their alliances have meaningful accountability for failing to meet even their own targets or for misrepresenting their strategies and effectiveness. There is little consequence for FIs that do not adhere to the commitments of the alliances of which they are members or do not align their business plans with their stated strategies. Accordingly, there is little incentive for honest communication or for the hard work of changing business plans and models. Especially as the regulatory framework is nascent, FIs and their alliances and initiatives should develop more robust mechanisms for accountability and oversight.
- 7. Finally, climate action calls for urgent and transformative change in a complex and rapidly evolving environment, in which the answers, appropriate technologies, and tools are not all readily available. The transformation requires analysis of regional, national, and sectoral pathways, and for the coordination of public and private actors and other stakeholders. The report recognizes the key challenges confronting FIs in meeting the report's recommendations, particularly related to uncertain pathways, nascent and uncertain technologies, and insufficiently robust metrics and accounting methods.

In the near term, we hope this report provokes engaged discussion among financial institutions, their alliances, the frameworks that purport to guide or assess FIs' climate actions, and other stakeholders that are engaged in FI's net zero approaches. However more importantly, we hope that this report supports the development of a robust policy framework that is necessary to align financial flows – and financial institutions – with global climate goals.

Annex A: Table of Relevant Initiatives

In the preparation of this report, we have reviewed the commitments and guidance documents for each of the leading commitment-based initiatives for financial institutions (FIs), as well as the initiatives and tools these guidelines draw upon.²⁷⁷ Each of these frameworks speaks to a different element of the target-setting process.

Туре	Name	Description
 Private sector sustainability initiatives Broad focus on sustainability Not specific to financial sector Involve commitment 	United Nations (UN) Global Compact	A voluntary corporate sustainability initiative. Companies commit to aligning with a set of principles around human rights, labor, environment, and anti-corruption.
Umbrella private sector net- zero initiatives • Focus on net-zero emissions • Not specific to financial sector • Involve commitment • Encompass other initiatives	Race to Zero Campaign	A UN-backed alliance of businesses, cities, regions, investors, and climate coalitions committed to achieving net-zero emissions by 2050. Companies and municipalities can join the Race to Zero by being part of its partner coalitions, such as the Climate Pledge, the Net-Zero Asset Managers Initiative, and the Cities Race to Zero.
Private sector climateinitiativesFocus on climateNot specific to financial sector	The Climate Pledge	Co-founded by Amazon and the organization Global Optimism. Companies that join the Climate Pledge commit to net-zero emissions by 2040 through regular reporting, carbon elimination, and credible offsetting.
Involve commitment	First Movers' Coalition	Abuyers' club of companies committing to make green purchase agreements in hard-to-abate sectors such as aluminum, aviation, chemicals, concrete, shipping, steel, and trucking.
 Umbrella financial sector environmental initiatives Focus on environment Financial sector specific Encompass other initiatives 	UN Environment Programme Finance Initiative (UNEP FI)	A UN-convened network of banks, insurers, and investors committed to the implementation of sustainable practices in the financial sector. The UNEP FI was involved in the development of the Principles for Responsible Investment and is responsible for establishing the Principles for Responsible Banking and the Principles for Sustainable Insurance. It encompasses three of the net-zero financial-sector initiatives (the NZAOA, NZIA, and NZBA). It was also partner to the development of the Task Force on Nature-Related Financial Disclosures.
Financial-sector ESG initiativesBroad focus on ESGFinancial sector specificInvolve commitment	Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI)	A UN-backed investor initiative that promotes responsible and ESG investment. Its signatories, which include asset owners, investment managers, and service providers, commit to six principles around ESG implementation and disclosure and are required to publicly report on their responsible investment activities.
	Principles for Responsible Banking (PRB)	UNEP FI's framework for sustainable banking. Its signatories commit to six principles for bank strategy, investment, and lending practices, including alignment with the Paris Climate Agreement and environmental target setting.
	Principles for Sustainable Insurance	UNEP FI's framework for ESG integration for insurance companies. Its signatories commit to four principles around ESG incorporation, disclosure, and promotion.

Туре	Name	Description
Umbrella net-zero financial- sector initiatives • Focus on net zero emissions • Financial sector specific • Involve commitment • Encompass other initiatives	Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ)	A coalition of FIs committed to the transition to a net-zero carbon-emissions economy. Asset managers, banks, insurers, and other financial-sector companies can join GFANZ by signing on to any of its member alliances— the NZAM, PAAO, NZAOA, NZIA, NZBA, Net-Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance, and Net-Zero Investment Consultants Initiative.
Net-zero financial-sector initiatives • Focus on net zero emissions • Financial sector specific	Net-Zero Banking Alliance (NZBA)	One of GFANZ's industry-specific member alliances, targeted at banks. Its signatories commit to aligning their lending and investment practices to a target of net-zero emissions by 2050.
Involve commitment	Net-Zero Insurance Alliance (NZIA)	One of GFANZ's industry-specific member alliances, targeted at insurers. Its signatories commit to aligning their insurance and reinsurance underwriting portfolios to net-zero by 2050.
	Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance (NZAOA)	One of GFANZ's industry-specific decarbonization alliances, targeted at institutional investors. Its signatories commit to aligning their investment portfolios to net-zero by 2050.
	Net-Zero Asset Managers Initiative (NZAMI)	One of GFANZ's industry-specific member alliances, targeted at asset managers. Its signatories commit to supporting the transition to net-zero emissions by aligning assets under management to net-zero by 2050, setting interim decarbonization targets, disclosing certain climate metrics, and engaging key stakeholders on climate issues.
	Net-Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance	One of GFANZ's industry-specific member alliances, targeted at financial services providers. Its signatories commit to aligning their practices with net-zero emissions by 2050 by setting decarbonization targets.
	Net-Zero Investment Consultants Initiative	One of GFANZ's industry-specific member alliances, targeted at investment consultants. Its signatories commit to aligning their operations and advisory services to net-zero carbon emissions by 2050.
	Paris Aligned Asset Owners initiative (PAAO)	One of GFANZ's industry-specific member alliances, targeted at asset owners. The PAAO is overseen by the Paris Aligned Investment Initiative. Its signatories commit to transitioning their investments to achieve net-zero portfolio greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 2050.
	Paris Aligned Investment Initiative (PAII)	A forum of investors from four regional groups (IIGCC, Ceres, IGCC, and AIGCC). Oversees the PAAO, a GFANZ alliance. The PAII developed the Net Zero Investment Framework, which provides guidance for investors to align their portfolios with net-zero through reduced emissions and investment in climate solutions. It has also developed commitments for asset managers and asset owners.
Investor partnerships/ coalitions • Focus on net zero emissions	The Investor Agenda	A collaboration between several groups and initiatives including the CDP, PRI, UNEP FI, and the four regional investor coalitions (Ceres, IGCC, IIGCC, and AIGCC). Develops guidance for investors on corporate engagement, managing climate-related investment risk, policy advocacy, and climate- related disclosure and publishes expectations for Investor Climate Action Plans.

Туре	Name	Description
Regional investor partnerships/ coalitions • Regional focus • Financial sector specific	Ceres	A coalition of North American institutional investors focused on sustainability and decarbonization. Ceres has investor, company, and policy networks and provides research and roadmaps for sustainable action.
	Investor Group on Climate Change (IGCC)	A coalition of Australian and New Zealand institutional investors focused on the issue of climate change. IGCC members participate in working groups and contribute to research and reports on sustainability topics.
	Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC)	A coalition of European institutional investors focused on the issue of climate change. The IIGCC has corporate and policy programs that encourage members to engage with companies and policy-makers on climate issues. It also publishes research and reports.
	Asia Investor Group on Climate Change (AIGCC)	A coalition of Asian institutional investors dedicated to the issue of climate change and low-carbon investing. The AIGCC focuses its research on the Asia-Pacific region.
Disclosure and reporting frameworks/initiatives • Provide guidance for climate/ sustainability disclosure	Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF)	A group of FIs cooperating on the development and implementation of an accounting system for emissions associated with loans and investments. PCAF develops and maintains the Global GHG Accounting and Reporting Standard for the Financial Industry.
	Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP)	A non-profit organization that runs a voluntary disclosure system for investors, companies, and municipalities to report their environmental impacts. The CDP maintains several disclosure templates, or questionnaires, and rates parties based on their responses. These ratings are then made available to the public.
	Task Force on Climate- Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)	A group of 31 corporate and financial industry experts chaired by Michael Bloomberg. The TCFD develops and publishes recommendations for what information companies should disclose regarding climate-related risks and opportunities.
	Task Force on Nature- Related Financial Disclosures	A group of 40 corporate and financial industry experts. The Task Force on Nature- Related Financial Disclosures develops and publishes recommendations for what information companies should disclose regarding how nature affects their businesses and vice versa.
	Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)	Part of the non-profit International Financial Reporting Standards Foundation, which works to develop and maintain quality accounting standards. The SASB Standards identify sustainability issues that are financially material to different industries. Companies can use the SASB "materiality framework" to guide their sustainability reporting.
	International Sustainability Standards Board	A body established by the International Financial Reporting Standards Foundation to develop a standard framework for sustainability-related disclosure. The International Sustainability Standards Board has committed to building upon the SASB Standards in developing this framework.
	GHG Protocol	Supplies the most commonly used standards for carbon accounting, or measuring and disclosing GHG emissions. According to the organization, nine out of 10 Fortune 500 companies report emissions in line with GHG Protocol guidance.
	Global Reporting Initiative	Governed by the Global Sustainability Standards Board. The Global Reporting Initiative develops and maintains a set of standards for sustainability reporting.
	European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG)	A private association charged with the development of draft European Union (EU) Sustainability Reporting Standards. EFRAG is funded both by the EU and private member organizations.

Туре	Name	Description
Climate and sustainable finance regulations • Enforced by regulatory bodies • Focused on climate/ sustainability disclosure	United States' Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)- proposed climate rules	Still in the proposal stage. The "issuer rule" would require reporting companies to disclose information about emissions, climate targets, and climate-related risks and risk management. The "investor rule" would require ESG funds to disclose certain details about their environmental and social governance (ESG) strategies in documents such as prospectuses and annual reports. These rules are at the top of the SEC's agenda for 2023.
	EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation	This EU regulation mandates the disclosure of certain ESG metrics by FIs at both the entity and product levels. Among other requirements of the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation, investment products must be categorized as either Article 6, Article 8, or Article 9—designations that reflect the amount of consideration for ESG factors in the investment process and determine what metrics must be disclosed by the fund managers.
	EU Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD) and Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive	Under the NFRD, large companies must report on sustainability topics including environment, treatment of employees, diversity, anti-corruption and bribery, and human rights. The Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, which entered into force in January 2023, amends the NFRD to encompass a broader set of companies (including listed small and medium-sized enterprises) and strengthen requirements for environmental and social disclosure.
	EU taxonomy	The EU taxonomy lays out a catalog of economic activities that contribute to climate goals, as well as technical screening criteria for determining when/how certain economic activities qualify as sustainable. It is sometimes considered the "lexicon" for other EU climate regulations, which reference this catalog.
	UK Climate-related Financial Disclosure regulations	These UK regulations, enacted in 2022, require large companies and certain limited liability partnerships to disclose on climate-related risks and opportunities according to the recommendations of the TCFD.
	UK Sustainability Disclosure Rules	Currently under consultation. These rules would set requirements for fund- and manager-level disclosures on the sustainability of investment products. They would include a fund-labeling regime and guidance for preventing "greenwashing."
 Engagement partnerships/ coalitions Focus on investor stewardship and engagement 	Climate Action 100+ (CA100+)	An initiative focused on investor stewardship and engagement with corporations on the issue of climate change. CA100+ is coordinated by PRI and the four regional investor coalitions. It publishes a "Net Zero Company Benchmark" that evaluates corporations for alignment with net-zero goals using data on company reporting, emissions, and internal policies.
 Decarbonization pathway guidance/evaluation Develops frameworks for and evaluate company decarbonization pathways 	Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi)	A partnership between the CDP, UN Global Compact, World Wildlife Fund, and World Resources Institute that provides general and sector-specific guidance for companies setting net-zero and emission-reduction targets. Companies can commit to setting "science-based targets," or SBTs, that are validated by the SBTi as aligning with their guidance criteria.
	Transition Pathway Initiative	A research initiative that provides data and analysis of companies' climate strategies and impacts. The Transition Pathway Initiative publishes assessments of companies' "Carbon Performance," or alignment of their emissions and emission-reduction targets with the Paris Agreement benchmarks of 1.5°C and 2°C.
 Policy/lobby watch Provides transparency on corporate lobbying and policy engagement 	InfluenceMap	An independent research provider that maintains a database of global climate policy lobbying by corporations and industry associations. InfluenceMap gives companies scores that reflect their lobbying efforts and climate policy engagement.
	OpenSecrets	A non-profit organization that tracks American political donations and lobbying efforts.

Annex B: Effective and Accurate Target Setting

As described in Section 1.d, the careful use of fit-for-purpose and accurate targets, methodologies, and metrics is critical. Inappropriate targets, methodologies, or metrics can be manipulated or can misrepresent the goals and effectiveness of specific pledges, initiatives, or alliances. Below, we elaborate on the risks and loopholes with targets and metrics. Because corporate target setting and reporting are integral inputs to financial institutions' decision making and strategies, we include examples of corporate metrics and targets, both to underscore the analysis required of FIs and to identify where FIs can support the development and use of more robust measurement and policies around target setting and reporting.

i. Restricting the Use of GHG Offsets

Corporate- and financial-sector targets that rely on carbon offsets other than carbon removals distort and misrepresent climate exposure, alignment, and impact. Removal offsets also should only be used to compensate for residual emissions for which no feasible reduction opportunity exists.

Current practice is far off this mark. The use of carbon offsets has gained traction in recent years; the voluntary (unregulated) market for offsets is experiencing exponential growth and is projected to reach about USD 700 million in 2027, with an 11.7% compounded annual growth rate between 2022 and 2027.²⁷⁸ Offsetting, by definition, is not "about trapping past emissions but about enabling current and future emissions to continue,"²⁷⁹ and the use of offsets has distracted from true emission-abatement strategies, especially since many offsets are available at low cost.

The most dubious and discredited form of offsets is avoided emissions offsets, which involve calculating non-emitted carbon against a counterfactual baseline; for instance, some offsets compare emissions in a typical coal or heavy oil-based power plant against those in a gas conversion or renewable energy project, and consider the difference to be an 'offset.'²⁸⁰ Some corporates then use these types of 'offsets' to negate emissions on a balance sheet without in fact removing any carbon from the atmosphere. They are also particularly dubious with respect to additionality; many of these projects would have taken place even without the sale or purchase of credits tied to these 'avoided emissions.' Two leading verification bodies—Verra and Gold Standard—have excluded grid-connected renewable projects outside of the poorest countries from the list of offsets they certify given the absence of additionality for these projects.²⁸¹ Despite this, many companies, including FIs, still heavily rely on renewable energy offsets.²⁸² In fact, a Bloomberg investigation found that three quarters of the 2 million offsets French courier and banking group La Banque Postale SA bought in 2021 came from renewable projects.²⁸³

Another class of 'avoidance offsets' are those that supposedly provide finance to avoid deforestation or other land-degrading practices that would release stored carbon.²⁸⁴

In addition to credibility issues related to establishing a baseline, forecasts, and the question of additionality, these 'avoidance offsets' further raise an issue of the 'permanence' of the avoidance commitments and strategies. A 2023 investigation revealed that "more than 90% of rainforest carbon offsets [REDD+] by [the] biggest certifier [Verra] are worthless."²⁸⁵

The Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi) forbids the accounting of avoided emissions in targets and emission reduction,²⁸⁶ and the Oxford Principles for Net Zero Aligned Carbon Offsetting propose that avoided emissions offsets should be rapidly phased down.²⁸⁷

A second set of dubious offsets are carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies that capture emissions at point source and store it underground, which lack credibility largely because of their current financing and application. Most CCS projects that have been done to date (81%)²⁸⁸ have been used for enhanced oil recovery (EOR) (inducing increased fossil fuel extraction) since this is currently one of the few ways to make CCS economically viable.²⁸⁹ Given that in the case of EOR, the CO₂ is both marketed and released to the atmosphere eventually, CCS for EOR has not led to offset crediting, and non-EOR uses of CCS are too expensive for offset crediting.²⁹⁰ The offset market could help boost effective CCS technologies (that truly sequester the carbon) but these are still in development and remain expensive, so reliance on CCS as an offset should be restrained for hard-to-abate sectors (rather than the use of CCS for EOR), and ultimately should follow high-integrity principles.²⁹¹

The final form of offsets is emissions-removal offsets, of which there are broadly two types: technological offsets, such as Bio-Energy with Carbon Capture and Storage and Direct Air Carbon Capture and Storage (DAC), and ecosystem-based offsets or "nature-based solutions" (NbS). In 2021–2022, removal offsets only made up 3% of the voluntary offset market, according to the four largest voluntary-offset project registries, and none of them was associated with long-term storage, which is the only form that can effectively cancel an emission source elsewhere.²⁹² In order to be credible, other criteria related to removal offsets should be considered. For instance, DAC can be highly energy intensive; they should be powered by renewable energy sources to avoid greater emissions from the power they require.²⁹³ Similarly, BECSS should only be based on sustainable biomass.²⁹⁴ Whether these technologies benefit from carbon credits or not, both the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and the International Energy Agency²⁹⁵ warn against benchmarking against pathways that rely heavily on them, especially in the near term, given that they are unproven at scale.²⁹⁶ However, investment in true removal approaches is also necessary, as discussed below, so further investments in these technologies are warranted – just not as offsets.

NbS offsets typically aim to protect or restore ecosystems that act as natural carbon sinks; however, NbS projects are difficult to measure and monitor, and may be damaged or destroyed by extreme weather events such as wildfires, leading to concerns about their permanence and higher risks of carbon overshoots. Moreover, NbS projects have faced systematic accusations of land-tenure disputes and dispossession from Indigenous Peoples and forest communities, and high levels of violence.²⁹⁷ Where demand for NbS-land use competes with farmland, this may escalate risks around food security.²⁹⁸ A 2021 report by Oxfam calculated that the total amount of land required to fulfil planned carbon removal via NbS would be equivalent to five times the landmass of India, or all of the farmland on the planet.²⁹⁹ Communities in the Global South have expressed concerns about "unequally

distributed [financial] benefits from offset projects, neocolonial approaches to property rights, and the sense that the North will continue to consume [greenhouse gases/GHGs]."³⁰⁰

Despite these limitations, offsets have played an increasingly significant role in corporate climate pledges. For instance, most oil majors continue to plan for business-as-usual fossil fuel expansion, while planning to meet their net-zero commitments through large and often unrealistic levels of offsets in their capital expenditure disclosures. This dynamic has been termed "predatory delay,"³⁰¹ as advocates argue that it distracts from the real action needed in the near term to achieve decarbonization.³⁰²

Offsets should only be used for non-abatable, residual emissions, and in those cases, offsets should be high-integrity, rights-respecting, removal-based offsets.

Some initiatives are putting increased restrictions on offsets, in recognition of the technical and social challenges. The SBTi and the CA100+ benchmarks, for instance, introduce substantial restrictions on the use of offsets. The SBTi states that offsets should only be used for "residual" emissions, which cannot be more than 5%–10% of total emissions.³⁰³ The CA100+ states that offsets should not be used in sectors with technological alternatives, such as the power sector.³⁰⁴ The Net-Zero Insurance Alliance³⁰⁵ and the Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance (NZAOA) (in its Target Setting Protocol 3.0)³⁰⁶ also exclude the use of offsets in their members' interim targets, and the NZAOA's pathways rely only on nature-based removals to avoid relying on unreliable technological solutions.³⁰⁷ Other initiatives have less clear restrictions; for instance, the Net-Zero Banking Alliance calls for "applying evolving leading practice."³⁰⁸

While investments in carbon credits should not be used to offset corporate emissions (other than non-abatable, residual emissions), investments in carbon credits for removals or emission reductions (whether nature-based or through emerging technologies) are still necessary, in light of the current climate trajectory.³⁰⁹ These investments are increasingly referred to as "beyond value chain" removals. Indeed, the United Nations High-Level Expert Group on Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities recommends that "high integrity carbon credits in voluntary markets should be used for beyond value chain mitigation but cannot be counted toward a non-state actor's interim emissions reductions required by its net zero pathway"³¹⁰ (emphasis added). Similarly, the NZAOA protocol clearly states that "members are highly encouraged to contribute to a liquid and wellregulated carbon removal certificate market before 2030 as such a market is important for accelerating decarbonisation," and "to invest in projects and technologies of durable CO₂ avoidance and removal to scale future markets rapidly."311 The NZAOA explains that these investments cannot count toward decarbonization targets but toward separate "financing transition targets."³¹² Some groups and researchers are exploring an alternative path that would allow corporates to reap reputational benefits for "beyond value chain" investments in removals.³¹³ These investments should start immediately, and FIs should increase their investment in this area and encourage clients and portfolio companies to do the same according to high-integrity principles such as those laid out in the Tropical Forest Credit Integrity (TFCI) Guide.314

ii. Using Absolute Emission-Reduction Targets

Corporate carbon-emissions calculations are usually normalized, or made comparable and interpretable across scales, by converting them into metrics for emissions "intensity." Emissions-intensity metrics are a relative measure: they convert absolute emissions into emissions per unit of a specific activity, making it easier to compare companies of different sizes. Targets and strategies based on emissions intensity are even more poorly correlated with actual GHG emissions than those based on absolute emissions.³¹⁵ With per-activity emissions reductions, emissions intensity can fall, even as real (absolute) emissions continue to rise. Oil Change International has demonstrated this by modelling Shell's 2017 climate target of a 50% reduction in emissions intensity from 2015 levels by 2050; on a typical 3.5% per annum growth trajectory, this would reflect a ~10% rise in absolute emissions.³¹⁶ Emissions-intensity metrics can also be muddied by corporate diversification: as investment in renewable energy rises as a proportion of total activity, the emissions intensity of a single corporation or of a portfolio or FI may decrease even as companies are increasing overall fossil fuel production and absolute emissions.

Emissions-intensity metrics undermine incentives to decrease or phase out fossil fuel production since diversification gives the appearance of reduced emissions. But additional low-carbon capacity never compensates for the emissions of remaining high-carbon activities. Decarbonizing the real economy requires replacing high-carbon energies with low-carbon solutions. Absolute emissions reductions, not just intensity reductions, are necessary to stay in the scope of the Paris Agreement.

The GFANZ target-setting protocols suggest the use of absolute-emissions metrics but leave the absolute or intensity format of targets open for each organization to choose.³¹⁷ The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative³¹⁸ and NZAOA³¹⁹ give a choice of target format but call for members to report on both absolute- and intensity-based metrics. The Net Zero Asset Managers initiative,³²⁰ Net-Zero Banking Alliance,³²¹ and SBTi framework for FIs³²² are less prescriptive, leaving the choice open to users. The Net-Zero Investment Consultants Initiative³²³ and Net-Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance³²⁴ do not specify, with only very high-level criteria for target setting currently. This flexibility leads to a substantial risk that the carbon budget "may be substantially overshot if companies systematically choose the … method that gives them the least challenging target."³²⁵

This should change, to ensure absolute-emissions targets are given primacy over intensity targets (restricting intensity targets for comparison purposes or as a measure of increased efficiency alongside the reduction in absolute emissions). In June 2022, Race to Zero moved to invert the traditional prioritization of intensity metrics in its Interpretation Guide, so that absolute-emissions-reduction targets are now required and intensity-based metrics are considered appropriate additions in specific cases.³²⁶ For instance, for the power sector, intensity targets might make sense given the need to electrify the economy to replace the direct use of fossil fuels; expanding electrification means that absolute emissions will first increase until they decrease with the intensified penetration of renewables.

When FIs use intensity targets for their portfolio metrics, the above problems are compounded by the fact that FIs use different metrics for intensity targets (for example, emissions intensity can be expressed by tons of emitted carbon dioxide per million units of currency invested or per unit of economic activity, and the measurement can apply to an entire portfolio or to only some of the FI's activities),³²⁷ further undermining the usefulness of intensity metrics as a tool for comparison.

iii. Using Near-Term in Addition to Long-Term Targets

Emission-reduction targets are often on a 2050 timeline. Short- and medium-term targets are critical for meeting those 2050 targets. Race to Zero has recognized the importance of near-term action to reduce GHG emissions, stating that transition plans must describe actions to be taken over immediate (1-year), short (2–3-year), and medium (by 2030) timeframes.³²⁸

All of the GFANZ initiatives³²⁹ require a 2050 target, and while most also require a 2030 target, only the NZAOA requires a 2025 target.

The World Benchmarking Alliance's November 2022 benchmark of 400 of the world's most influential financial institutions found that only 37% have disclosed long-term net-zero targets, and "disappointingly, of these commitments only 2% have been translated into interim targets [e.g., 2025 and 2030] applied across the institution's financing activities."³³⁰

Long-term targets do not adequately account for the near-term constraints of the finite carbon budget, the possibility of overshooting and triggering feedback loops, or the path dependency resulting from Committed Cumulative Carbon Emissions or 'carbon lock-in.'³³¹ Without intermediate targets, it is also more difficult to assess the progress made and trigger contingency mechanisms in case emission reductions are lagging.

Emission-reduction targets should align with the recommendations of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: "Global greenhouse gas emissions [have] to peak before 2025 at the latest, and be reduced by 43% [from 2019 levels] by 2030."³³² Additional sectoral targets should be defined to provide a more granular view of the emission trajectories that should be targeted by each sector in addition to those already developed by the International Energy Agency, Sydney University of Technology, and the Network for Greening the Financial System (see Part 4).

iv. Choosing Appropriate Base Years for GHG Calculations

Standards for emission-reduction targets for companies and FIs should require rigorously chosen base years and base-year calculations, rather than strategically chosen ones that can distort targets and the true extent of progress. A 2021 Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment analysis revealed that companies use a wide range of base years.³³³

Companies setting targets can manipulate base years by (1) choosing a base year with unusually high emissions³³⁴ and (2) choosing a base year that is so far past that calculations account for emissions reductions that took place earlier.³³⁵ Both of these practices lead to an overstatement of emissions reductions.

SBTi recommends companies "choose the most recent year for which [verifiable data on scopes 1, 2, and 3 emissions] are available as the base year" and that this year should be

"representative of a company's typical GHG profile" and support sufficiently forward-looking ambition.³³⁶ When a "representative" year for emissions is not available, SBTi suggests taking an average of carbon emissions across several years as a baseline.³³⁷ Additionally, updated SBTi Criteria and Recommendations (Version 5.0, October 2021) state that the "choice of base year must be no earlier than 2015."³³⁸ However, SBTi does not report on whether and how company targets meet these criteria (see further discussion in Section 4b).

v. Separating Methane (and Other Potent GHG) Emissions from CO₂ Emissions

The metric of 'CO₂ equivalent' is the most comprehensive metric and the most widely used. It converts all GHGs (carbon dioxide [CO₂]), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), fluorinated gases (mostly perfluorocarbons [PFCs], hydrofluorocarbons [HFCs], and sulfur hexafluoride [SF6]) into a CO₂ equivalent using the global warming potential of each GHG.

While useful to succinctly communicate on emission-reduction pathways and compare them across companies or sectors, the CO₂ equivalent metric masks and conflates progress on meeting varying targets related to the specific emitted gasses. In addition, the metric can look different depending on the time period being used to calculate the global warming potential. For instance, "over 20 years, [a ton of] methane would trap about 80 times as much heat as [a ton of] CO₂ [whereas] over 100 years, that original ton of methane would trap about 25 times as much heat as the ton of CO₂."³³⁹

Depending on the industry, separate reporting and targets might be needed for each GHG type: for instance, the agriculture sector emits more N₂O and CH₄ than CO₂ (not accounting for forestry/land use changes) while the transportation sector emits more CO₂ than CH₄ and N₂O.³⁴⁰



Endnotes

- 1 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Working Group II Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report (IPCC, 2022), https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/#FullReport. [henceforth referred to as Climate Change 2022, WGII AR6].
- 2 BloombergNEF, "Financing the Transition: Energy Supply Investment and Bank Financing Activity," February 28, 2023, https://about.bnef.com/blog/financing-the-transitionenergy-supply-investment-and-bank-financing-activity/.
- 3 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Synthesis Report for the Sixth Assessment Report, Hoesung Lee, Katherine Calvin, Dipak Dasgupta, Gerhard Trisos, José Romero, Pauline Aldunce, et al. (IPCC, 2023), https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syrf [hereafter referred to as the AR6 Synthesis Report]; Robbie Andrew, Lynette Bettio, Pep Canadell, Anny Cazanave, Robert Dunn, Pierre Friedlingstein, Karsten Haustein et al., WMO Statement on the State of the Global Climate in 2019, WHO no. 1248 (Geneva: World Meterological Organization, 2020), https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=10211; James Hansen, Makiko Sato, and Reto Ruedy, Global Temperature in 2022, (New York: Columbia University, January 12, 2023), https://www.columbia.edu/~jeh1/mailings/2023/Temperature2022.12January2023.pdf.
- 4 IPCC, Climate Change 2022, AR6 WGII.
- 5 IPCC, Climate Change 2022, AR6 WGII.
- 6 Oxford Economics, "The global economic costs of climate change inaction," December 20, 2022, https://www.oxfordeconomics.com/resource/the-global-economic-costs-ofclimate-inaction/.
- 7 Candace Vahlsing, "The Importance of Measuring the Fiscal and Economic Costs of Climate Change," The White House, March 14, 2023, https://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/ briefing-room/2023/03/14/the-importance-of-measuring-the-fiscal-and-economic-costs-of-climate-change/.
- 8 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), 2022 NDC Synthesis Report (Sharm el-Sheikh, UNFCC, October 26, 2022), https://unfccc.int/ndc-synthesis-report-2022#Projected-GHG-Emission-levels.
- 9 IPCC, AR6 Synthesis Report.
- 10 Shelley Welton, "Neutralizing the Atmosphere," Yale Law Journal 132, no. 1 (2022): 171–249, https://www.yalelawjournal.org/feature/neutralizing-the-atmosphere.
- 11 The importance of official pathways was recognized in the Paris Agreement, Article 4.19, which calls on all governments to "strive to formulate and communicate long-term low greenhouse gas emission development strategies, mindful of Article 2 taking into account their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances." Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Dec. 12, 2015, T.I.A.S. No. 16-1104, Article 4.19.
- 12 Haley, B. et al, Annual Decarbonization Perspective: Carbon Neutral Pathways for the United States 2022 (Evolved Energy Research, 2022).
- 13 Haley, B., Jones, R.A., Williams, J.H., Kwok, G., Farbes, J., Hargreaves, J., Pickrell, K., Bentz, D., Waddell, A., Leslie, E., Annual Decarbonization Perspective: Carbon Neutral Pathways for the United States 2022 (Evolved Energy Research, 2022).
- 14 United Nations' High-Level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters: Net Zero Commitments by Businesses, Financial Institutions, Cities and Regions (United Nations' High-Level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, n.d.), https://www.un.org/sites/un2.un.org/files/high-level_expert_group_n7b.pdf.
- 15 Nicole Pinko, Angela Ortega Pastor, Bella Tonkonogy, and June Choi, *Framework for Sustainable Finance Integrity: A Tool for Guiding Action Across the Financial System* (San Francisco: Climate Policy Initiative, October 2021), https://www.climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Framework-for-Sustainable-Finance-Integrity.pdf.
- 16 IPCC, Climate Change 2022, AR6 WGII.
- 17 BloombergNEF, "Financing the Transition."
- 18 Ben Caldecott, Jakob Thomae, James Mitchell, and Matt Scott, How Can Net Zero Finance Best Drive Positive Impact in the Real Economy: Discussion Paper (Finance Sector Expert Group for Race to Zero and Race to Resilience, UN High-Level Champions for Climate Action, April 2022), https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/ FSEG-report-2_v3.pdf.
- 19 The report focuses on the mobilization of finance for climate mitigation and decarbonization, though the principles and actions are applicable to—and could be extended to cover—other areas of climate finance, including for adaptation.
- 20 While the Paris Agreement officially says that parties will limit warming to well below 2°C and "pursue efforts" to limit warming to 1.5°C, subsequent advisories by the UNFCCC have warned that 1.5°C warming is the upper limit before cataclysmic tipping points are reached (see, for instance: *United Nations Climate Change*, "Climate Plans Remain Insufficient: More Ambitious Action Needed Now," press release, October 26, 2022, https://unfccc.int/news/climate-plans-remain-insufficient-more-ambitious-action-needed-now; *United Nations Climate Change*, "Simon Stiell: The Global Stocktake Is a Key Roadmap for Climate Action," January 17, 2023, https://unfccc.int/news/simon-stiell-the-global-stocktake-is-a-key-roadmap-for-climate-action.). Accordingly, governments and market players, including GFANZ and European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) now commonly associate the Paris Agreement with a 1.5°C goal (GFANZ, *Act Now: Financial Leaders Urge More Climate Action from the G20* [Glasgow: GFANZ, n.d.], https://assets.bbhub. io/company/sites/63/2021/10/GFANZ-call-to-action.pdf; ESMA, "Climate Benchmarks and ESG Disclosure," https://www.esma.europa.eu/esmas-activities/sustainable-finance/ climate-benchmarks-and-esg-disclosure.)
- 21 Sam Potter, "BlackRock-Led 'Big Three' May Forestall Chaos in Stock Markets," Bloomberg, July 20, 2021, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2021-07-20/blackrock-ledbig-three-may-forestall-chaos-in-stock-markets.
- 22 Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System (NGFS), "Origin and Purpose," https://www.ngfs.net/en.
- 23 "The architecture of the global financial system has been transformed to deliver net zero." Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero (GFANZ), "Amount of Finance Committed to Achieving 1.5°C Now at Scale Needed to Deliver the Transition," press release, November 3, 2021, https://www.gfanzero.com/press/amount-of-finance-committed-to-achieving-1-5c-now-at-scale-needed-to-deliver-the-transition/.
- 24 GFANZ, 2022 Progress Report (Glasgow: GFANZ, November 2022), https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/63/2022/10/GFANZ-2022-Progress-Report.pdf.
- 25 GFANZ, "Amount of Finance," press release, November 3, 2021, https://www.gfanzero.com/press/amount-of-finance-committed-to-achieving-1-5c-now-at-scale-needed-todeliver-the-transition/.
- 26 Climate Champions, "Mark Carney: We're Going to Get Trillions Put to Work to Decarbonize Our Economy," UNFCC Race to Zero, April 21, 2021, https://racetozero.unfccc.int/mark-carney-were-going-to-get-trillions-put-to-work-to-decarbonize-our-economy/.
- 27 Tom Metcalf and Alastair Marsh, "Green Trillions Face 'Acid Test' After Bankers Toast COP Pledges," *Bloomberg*, November 6, 2021, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2021-11-06/green-trillions-face-acid-test-after-bankers-toast-cop-pledges; Calvello, "The \$130 Trillion GFANZ Coalition," 2022; UN Climate Summit News, "#COP26 Fact Check: USD 130 Trillion For Climate Finance Sounds Like A Lot, But Does It Add Up?" November 4, 2021, https://unclimatesummit.org/cop26-fact-check-usd-130-trillion-forclimate-finance-sounds-like-a-lot-but-does-it-add-up/; Owen Walker and Camilla Hodgson, "Greenwashing': Do the Maths on Mark Carney's US \$130-Trillion Net Zero Pledge Stack Up?" *Financial Post*, November 9, 2021, https://financialpost.com/commodities/energy/greenwashing-do-the-maths-on-mark-carneys-us130-trillion-net-zero-pledgestack-up.
- 28 Caldecott et al., How Can Net Zero Finance Best Drive.
- 29 Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures, Recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (Geneva: TFCFD, June 2017), https://www. fsb-tcfd.org/recommendations/; Afsaneh Mastouri, "Managing Climate-Transition Risk in Credit Portfolios," Morgan Stanley Capital International, January 31, 2022, https://www. msci.com/www/blog-posts/managing-climate-transition/02983798099.
- 30 Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures, Recommendations of the Task Force.
- 31 Jack Arnold, Martin Lockman, Perrine Toledano, Martin Dietrich Brauch, Shraman Sen, and Michael Burger, *Transferred Emissions Are Still Emissions: Why Fossil Fuel Asset Sales Need Enhanced Transparency and Carbon Accounting* (New York: Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment (CCSI), May 2023), https://ccsi.columbia.edu/fossil-fuel-asset-sales.
- 32 GFANZ, Final Report: Financial Institution Net-Zero Transition Plans: Fundamentals, Recommendations and Guidance (Glasgow: GFANZ, November 2022), 19, https://assets.bbhub. io/company/sites/63/2022/09/Recommendations-and-Guidance-on-Financial-Institution-Net-zero-Transition-Plans-November-2022.pdf.

- 33 See for instance: Principles for Responsible Investment, "What is the Inevitable Policy Response?" United Nations Environment Programme, n.d., https://www.unpri.org/inevitable-policy-response/what-is-the-inevitable-policy-response/4787.article. The conflation and confusion between risk mitigation and impact permeates the broader environmental, social, governance (ESG) finance landscape as well. Ellen Quigley, "Universal Ownership in Practice: A Practical Investment Framework for Asset Owners," *Global Research Alliance for Sustainable Finance and Investment (GRASFI)*, May 28, 2020, https://papers.stm.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3638217; Sanjai Bhagat, "An Inconvenient Truth About ESG Investing," Harvard Business Review, March 31, 2022, https://hbr.org/2022/03/an-inconvenient-truth-about-esg-investing; Kenneth P. Pucker and Andrew King, "ESG Investing Isn't Designed to Save the Planet," *Harvard Business Review*, August 1, 2022, https://hbr.org/2022/08/esg-investing-isnt-designed-to-save-the-planet; *The Economist*, "ESG Should Be Boiled Down to One Simple Measure: Emissions," July 21, 2022, https://www.economist.com/leaders/2022/07/21/esg-should-be-boiled-down-to-one-simple-measure-emissions.
- 34 David Blood, Carter Powis, Dia Desai, Dominic Tighe, Ida Hempel, Jared Westheim, Luc Oster-Pecqueur et al., *Measuring Portfolio Alignment: Technical Considerations* (Geneva: TFCFD, 2021), https://www.tcfdhub.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/PAT_Measuring_Portfolio_Alignment_Technical_Considerations.pdf; Jakob Thomä, Stan Dupré, Michael Hayne, Chris Weber, Fabien Hassan, and Mark Fulton, "Assessing the Alignment of Portfolios With Climate Goals," Working Paper (Paris: 2° Investing Initiative, October 2015), https://2degrees-investing.org/resource/assessing-the-alignment-of-portfolios-with-climate-goals/.
- 35 Fossil Free Funds, "Search Mutual Funds and ETFs: Compare the Fossil Fuel Investments of Different Funds," 2020, https://fossilfreefunds.org/funds.
- 36 Julian F. Kölbel, Florian Heeb, Falko Paetzold, and Timo Busch, "Can Sustainable Investing Save the World? Reviewing the Mechanisms of Investor Impact," Organization & Environment, July 20, 2019, https://papers.csm.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3289544.
- 37 Caldecott et al., How Can Net Zero Finance Best Drive.
- 28 2° Investing Initiative, 'Science-Based Targets' For Financial Institutions, slide deck (Paris: 2° Investing Initiative, February 2020), 18, https://2degrees-investing.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/02/2DII-Targets-Impact.pdf. For a discussion on the effectiveness of divestment, see: Tom Gosling, "Does Divestment Work?" December 20, 2021, https://www. tom-gosling.com/blog/does-divestment-work; Jonathan Berk and Jules H. van Binsbergen, *The Impact of Impact Investing*, Paper series no. 22–008 (California: Law & Economics Center at George Mason University Scalia Law School, Stanford University, August 21, 2021), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3909166; Xiaoxia Lou and Albert Y. Wang, "Flow-Induced Trading Pressure and Corporate Investment," *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis* 53, no. 1, (2018):171-201, https://www.cambridge.org/ core/journals/journal-of-financial-and-quantitative-analysis/article/flowinduced-trading-pressure-and-corporate-investment/311B25170428674C82E07EE474743E6E.
- 39 Alexander Gelfand, "Why Divestment Doesn't Hurt 'Dirty' Companies," Insights by Stanford Business, October 27, 2021, https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/insights/why-divestmentdoesnt-hurt-dirty-companies.
- 40 Caldecott et al., How Can Net Zero Finance Best Drive, 4.
- 41 GFANZ, The Managed Phaseout of High-Emitting Assets: How to Facilitate the Early Retirement of High-Emitting Assets as Part of a Just Transition to a Net-Zero World (Glasgow: GFANZ, June 2022), 6, https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/63/2022/06/GFANZ_-Managed-Phaseout-of-High-emitting-Assets_June2022.pdf. See also Arnold et al., Transferred Emissions, 8.
- 42 GFANZ, The Managed Phaseout.
- 43 Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF), "Enabling Financial Institutions to Assess and Disclose Greenhouse Gas Emissions Associated with Financial Assets," 2023, https://carbonaccountingfinancials.com/.
- 44 https://ghgprotocol.org/
- 45 When EVIC is not available, the total book values of debt and equity are used, and when neither EVIC data nor the total book values of debt and equity are available, the total balance sheet value (total assets) is used as a proxy for company value (Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials, "Enabling Financial Institutions," 2023).
- 46 PCAF, "Enabling Financial Institutions."; Liam Hynes, "Creating a Baseline Carbon Footprint," S&P Global, April 28, 2021, https://www.spglobal.com/esg/insights/creating-a-carbon-footprint#:~:text=Weighted-Average%20Carbon%20Intensity%20%28TCFD%20recommended%29%20The%20WACI%20is,there%20is%20no%20direct%20connection%20 to%20real-world%20emissions.
- 47 Shiva Rajgopal, "The Hotchpotch World of Financed Emissions: A Case Study of Top Four US Banks in the Energy Sector," Forbes, April 19, 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/ shivaramrajgopal/2023/04/19/the-hotchpotch-world-of-financed-emissions-a-case-study-of-top-four-us-banks-in-the-energy-sector/?sh=4e56b090538b.
- 48 2° Investing Initiative, 'Science-Based Targets' for Financial Institutions. When measuring the decarbonization of an index, the EU's Technical Expert Group Final Report on Climate Benchmarks and Benchmarks' ESG Disclosures recommends adjusting for inflation based on the change in average enterprise value of the index's constituent companies. European Union Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance, TEG Interim Report on Climate Benchmarks and Benchmarks' ESG Disclosures, June 2019 (TEG), 60, https:// finance.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2019-06/190618-sustainable-finance-teg-report-climate-benchmarks-and-disclosures_en.pdf.
- 49 PCAF, "Enabling Financial Institutions."
- 50 Citibank, Taskforce on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures Report 2022: Citi's Approach to Climate Change and Net Zero, (New York: Citibank, 2023), 26, https://www.citigroup. com/rcs/citigpa/storage/public/taskforce-on-climate-related-financial-disclosures-report-2022.pdf.
- 51 IPCC, Climate Change 2022, AR6 WGII.
- 52 HLEG specifies "interim targets" as those for 2025, 2030, and 2035. United Nations' High-level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters, 12, 19.
- 53 See the guide at https://tfciguide.org/.
- 54 Pedro Faria and Nicole Labutong, "A Description of Four Science-based Corporate GHG Target-setting Methods," *Sustainability Accounting Management and Policy Journal* 11, no. 3 (2019), https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/A-description-of-four-science-based-corporate-GHG-Faria-Labutong/faf32e3ffe4f9baad9c71b0d461278a2e84df866.
- 55 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Interpretation Guide: Race to Zero Expert Peer Review Group (UNFCC Race to Zero Expert Peer Review Group, June 2022), https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/EPRG-interpretation-guide-2.pdf.
- 56 Ben Caldecott, "Post Covid-19 Stimulus and Bailouts Need to be Compatible with the Paris Agreement," *Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment* 12, no.3, (2022): para. 7, https://doi.org/10.1080/20430795.2020.1809292.
- 57 IPCC, "The Evidence Is Clear: The Time for Action Is Now. We Can Halve Emissions by 2030," April 4, 2022, para. 13, https://www.ipcc.ch/2022/04/04/ipcc-ar6-wgiii-pressrelease/001.
 58 A 2021 CCSI analysis revealed that companies use a wide range of base years. Jack Arnold and Perrine Toledano, "Corporate Net-Zero Pledges: The Bad and the Ugly," *Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment*, December 1, 2021, https://ccsi.columbia.edu/news/corporate-net-zero-pledges-bad-and-ugly.
- 59 Thomas Day, Silke Mooldijk, Sybrig Smit, Eduardo Posada, Frederic Hans, Harry Fearnehough, Aki Kachi et al., Corporate Climate Responsibility Monitor 2022: Assessing the Transparency and Integrity of Companies' Emission Reduction and Net-Zero Targets (Cologne: New Climate Institute, February 2022), 26, https://newclimate.org/sites/default/ files/2022/02/CorporateClimateResponsibilityMonitor2022.pdf.
- 60 Sam S. Rowan, "Pitfalls in Comparing Paris Pledges," Climatic Change 155, no. 4 (2019): 455–467, p. 458–459, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s10584-019-02494-7. pdf; Richie Merzian and Polly Hemming, Banking on Australia's Emissions: Why Creative Accounting Will Not Get Us to Net Zero Emissions (Canberra: The Australia Institute, May 2021), 11–12, https://australiainstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/P1076-Banking-on-Australias-Emissions-Commitments-.pdf.
- 61 See for instance: United States Environmental Protection Agency, "Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions," August 5, 2022, https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions.
- 62 Kirsch et al., Banking on Climate Chaos.
- 63 Jeanne Martin, Lydia Marsden, and Xavier Lerin. Why Investors Should Vote Against Barclays' 2022 Say on Climate Proposal. (Share Action, April 2022), https://api.shareaction.org/ resources/reports/Why-vote-against-Barclays-SoC-proposal.pdf.
- 64 Adele Shraiman and Ben Cushing, Leaders or Laggards? Analyzing US Banks' Net-Zero Commitments (Oakland: Sierra Club, November 2022), https://www.sierraclub.org/sites/ www.sierraclub.org/files/2022-10/US-Banks-Net-Zero-Progress-Report-November-2022.pdf.
- 65 Shraiman and Cushing, Leaders or Laggards?
- 66 The Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative, The Net Zero Asset Managers Commitment (Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative, n.d.), 1, https://www.netzeroassetmanagers.org/ media/2021/12/NZAM-Commitment.pdf.
- 67 The market for ESG-linked assets is estimated to grow to around USD 41 trillion by the end of 2022 (Saijel, Kishan, "ESG By the Numbers: Sustainable Investing Set Records in 2021," *Bloomberg Green*, February 3, 2022, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-02-03/esg-by-the-numbers-sustainable-investing-set-records-in-2021.) This represents an increase of over USD 10 trillion from 2018 (P&I Content Solutions, "ESG: Multi-Asset Investing," Pensions & Investments, September 19, 2022, https://www.pionline. com/ESGma-Report2022).
- 68 Kölbel et al., "Can Sustainable Investing Save."

- 69 Louis Fletcher and Thomas O'Neill, *Missing the Target: Why Asset Managers Have Not Committed to Net Zero* (London: Universal Owner, November 2021), https://www. universalowner.org/_files/ugd/4e1fd6_328f974fa2e24cf99499966fd2a1a120.pdf.
- 70 Fletcher and O'Neill, *Missing the Target*, para. 4.
- 71 Fletcher and O'Neill, *Missing the Target*.
- 72 "Under the control approach, a company accounts for 100 percent of the GHG emissions from operations over which it has control. It does not account for GHG emissions from operations in which it owns an interest but has no control... The company has **financial control** over the operation if the former has the ability to direct the financial and operating policies of the latter with a view to gaining economic benefits from its activities... A company has **operational control** over an operation if the former or one of its subsidiaries [...] has the full authority to introduce and implement its operating policies at the operation... Under the **equity share approach**, a company accounts for GHG emissions from operations according to its share of equity in the operation... Typically, the share of economic risks and rewards in an operation is aligned with the company's percentage ownership of that operation, and equity share will normally be the same as the ownership percentage" (emphasis added). World Business Council for Sustainable Development, March 2004), 19–20, https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/ghg-protocol-revised.pdf.
- 73 Jiarui Chen, Perrine Toledano, and Martin Dietrich Brauch, How Much Have the Oil Supermajors Contributed to Climate Change? Estimating The Carbon Footprint of the Oil Refining and Petroleum Products Sales Sectors (New York: CCSI, March 2022), https://ccsi.columbia.edu/content/oil-supermajors-carbon-footprint-refining-sales-climate-change.
- 74 BP Global, "From International Oil Company to Integrated Energy Company: BP Sets Out Strategy for Decade of Delivery Towards Net Zero Ambition," August 4, 2020, https://www. bp.com/en/global/corporate/news-and-insights/press-releases/from-international-oil-company-to-integrated-energy-company-bp-sets-out-strategy-for-decade-of-deliverytowards-net-zero-ambition.html. This stake was subsequently sold in 2022. Ron Bousso, "For BP's CEO, Russian Exit Eased by Reservations About Rosneft Stake," *Reuters*, June 23, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/bps-ceo-russian-exit-eased-by-reservations-about-rosneft-stake-2022-03-09/.
- 75 Argus, "Iraq approves BP Rumaila operations spin off," August 24, 2021. https://www.argusmedia.com/en/news/2247461-iraq-approves-bp-rumaila-operations-spin-off.
- 76 Kelly Trout and Emily Bugden, "The Loopholes Lurking in BP's New Climate Aims," Oil Change International, March 11, 2020, https://priceofoil.org/2020/03/11/the-loopholeslurking-in-bps-new-climate-aims/.
- 77 Reclaim Finance, "Revealed: Which of TotalEnergies' Shareholders Are Backing its Fossil Fuel Expansion Plans?" September 28, 2022, https://reclaimfinance.org/site/ en/2022/09/28/revealed-which-of-totalenergies-shareholders-are-backing-its-fossil-fuel-expansion-plans/.
- 78 Rochelle Toplensky, "Antitrust Threats Cloud Business Cooperation on Climate Action," Wall Street Journal, January 4, 2023. https://www.wsj.com/articles/antitrust-threatscloud-business-cooperation-on-climate-action-11672857017.
- 79 Munich Re, "Munich Re Discontinues NZIA Membership," media release, March 31, 2023, https://www.munichre.com/content/dam/munichre/mrwebsitespressreleases/Media-Release-MunichRe-31-03-2023.pdf/_jcr_content/renditions/original./Media-Release-MunichRe-31-03-2023.pdf.
- 80 Competition & Markets Authority, "Draft Guidance Environmental Sustainability Agreements," February 28, 2023, 4, https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/draftguidance-on-environmental-sustainability-agreements.
- 81 UNEPFI and UNPRI, Fiduciary Duty in the 21st Century: Final Report, October 2019, https://www.unepfi.org/industries/investment/fiduciary-duty-in-the-21st-century-final-report/.
- 82 Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, Fiduciary Duty in the 21st Century: Final Report (UNEP FI and PRI, October 2019). https://www.unepfi.org/industries/investment/fiduciary-dutyin-the-21st-century-final-report/.
- 83 Tom Gosling, "Net Zero Asset Management And The Fiduciary Duty Dilemma," Forbes, 10 January 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/lbsbusinessstrategyreview/2023/01/10/ net-zero-asset-management-and-the-fiduciary-duty-dilemma/?sh=3644cf25668f; Tom Gosling and Iain MacNeil, "Can Investors Save the Planet? NZAMI and Fiduciary Duty," *Capital Markets Law Journal* (forthcoming), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4277960; Martin Lipton, Adam O. Emmerich, Kevin S. Schwartz, Sebastian V. Niles, and Anna M. D'Ginto, *Understanding the Role of ESG and Stakeholder Governance Within the Framework of Fiduciary Duties* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, November 29, 2022), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4294180; Jon Lukomnik and James P. Hawley, *Moving Beyond Modern Portfolio Theory: Investing that Matters* (Routledge, 2021), https://www.routledge.com/Moving-Beyond-Modern-Portfolio-Theory-Investing-That-Matters/Lukomnik-Hawley/p/ book/9780367760823.
- 84 UNEPFI and UNPRI, Fiduciary Duty, 8.
- 85 UNEPFI, Commitment Document for Participating Asset Owners (UNEPFI and UNPRI, 2022), 2, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/04-UN-AOA-COMMITMENT-DOC-2022-D2.pdf.
- 86 UNEPFI, Position on the Oil and Gas Sector, 8, (UNEPFI, March 2023, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/NZAOA-Position-on-the-Oil-and-Gas-Sector. pdf.)
- 87 Jeff Green and Saijel Kishan, "America's Political Right Has a New Enemy No. 1: ESG Investors," *Bloomberg*, May 20, 2022, 8, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-05-20/ why-esg-investing-is-under-republican-attack?leadSource=uverify%20wall; Lance Dial, Elizabeth Goldberg, and Rachel Mann, "The Challenge of Investing in the Face of Anti-ESG Legislation," *Reuters*, August 24, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/legal/legalindustry/challenge-investing-face-state-anti-esg-legislation-2022-08-24/; Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts, "Texas Comptroller Glenn Hegar Announces List of Financial Companies that Boycott Energy Companies," August 24, 2022, https://comptroller.texas.gov/about/mediacenter/news/20220824-texas-comptroller-glenn-hegar-announces-list-of-financial-companies-that-boycott-energy-companies-1661267815099.
- 88 Akanksha Khushi, "Major U.S. Banks Threaten to Leave Mark Carney's Climate Alliance," Reuters, September 21, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/finance/major-usbanks-threaten-leave-mark-carneys-climate-alliance-ft-2022-09-21/.
- 89 Fiona McNally, "BNP Paribas Threatened with Climate Litigation Over Fossil Fuel Financing," Responsible Investor, October 28, 2022, https://www.responsible-investor.com/ bnp-paribas-threatened-with-climate-litigation-over-fossil-fuel-financing/; Friends of the Earth France, Notre Affaire à Tous & Oxfam France, "French Climate NGOs Take Unprecedented Legal Action Against BNP Paribas, Number One European Financier of Fossil Fuel Expansion," BankTrack, October 26, 2022, https://www.banktrack.org/article/ french_climate_ngos_take_unprecedented_legal_action_against_bnp_paribas_number_one_european_financier_of_fossil_fuel_expansion; Mathie Rosemain and America Hernandez, "BNP Paribas Sued in France Over Fossil-Fuel Financing," Reuters, February 23, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/article/bnp-litigation-climate-change-idAFL8N352670.
- 90 Julian Velasco, The Oxford Handbook of Fiduciary Law: Fiduciary Principles in Corporate Law, Evan J. Criddle, Paul B. Miller, and Robert H. Sitkoff (Eds.) (New York: Oxford University Press, 2019), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3374505.
- 91 UNEPFI, Net-Zero Banking Alliance (UNEPFI, n.d.), 2, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/UNEP-FI-NZBA-Commitment-Statement.pdf; UNEPFI, Commitment Document; Asia Investor Group on Climate Change, Ceres, Investor group on Climate Change, and Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change, The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative Net Zero Asset Owner Commitment, https://www.parisalignedinvestment.org/media/2021/03/PAII-Net-Zero-Asset-Owner-Commitment-Statement.pdf; PRI, Net Zero Investment Consultants Initiative (NZICI).
- 92 OECD, Regulatory Policy and Governance: Supporting Economic Growth and Serving the Public Interest (Paris: OECD Publishing, 2011), https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264116573-en.
- 93 Erin M. Reid and Michael W Toffel, "Responding to Public and Private Politics: Corporate Disclosure of Climate Change Strategies," *Strategic Management Journal* 30, no.11 (2009): 1157–78, https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.796; Kel Dummett, "Drivers for Corporate Environmental Responsibility (CER)," *Environment, Development and Sustainability* 8, no. 3 (2006): 375–89, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-005-7900-3.
- 94 Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN), "America's Zero Carbon Action Plan," 2020, https://www.unsdsn.org/Zero-Carbon-Action-Plan.
- 95 OpenSecrets, "Lobbying," 2022, https://www.opensecrets.org/industries/lobbying.php?cycle=2022&ind=F07.
- 96 OpenSecrets, "Money to Congress: 2022," February 1, 2023, https://www.opensecrets.org/industries/summary.php?ind=F07&cycle=2022&recipdetail=S&mem=Y.
- 97 OpenSecrets, "Industry Profile: Securities & Investment," https://www.opensecrets.org/federal-lobbying/industries/summary?cycle=2006&id=F07; OpenSecrets, "Money to Congress: 2006," June 17, 2013, https://www.opensecrets.org/industries/summary.php?ind=F07&recipdetail=S&sortorder=A&mem=Y&cycle=2006.
- 98 See summary of InfluenceMap data in Polly Bindman, "How 'Net Zero' Financial Firms Are Linked to Lobbying Against Climate Change Policy," *Capital Monitor*, June 29, 2022, https://capitalmonitor.ai/factor/environmental/net-zero-finance-linked-lobbying-against-climate-policy/.
- 99 Sam Knight, "Wall Street Lobbyists Admit Big Banks Don't Plan to Honor Their Climate Pledges," *Truthout*, October 12, 2022, https://truthout.org/articles/wall-street-lobbyists-admit-big-banks-dont-plan-to-honor-their-climate-pledges/.
- 100 InfluenceMap, Finance and Climate Change: An InfluenceMap Report (London: InfluenceMap, March 2022), para. 3, https://influencemap.org/report/Finance-and-Climate-Change-17639.
- 101 Kyle C. Meng and Ashwin Rode, "The Social Cost of Lobbying Over Climate Policy," Nature Climate Change 9, (2019): 472–476, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0489-6.
- 102 Christophe Bonneuil, Pierre-Louis Choquet, and Benjamin Franta, "Early Warnings and Emerging Accountability: Total's Responses to Global Warming, 1971–2021," Global Environmental Change 71, (2021): 102386, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378021001655#b0140.

- 103 UNEP, UN Global Compact, World Resources Institute, and World Wildlife Fund, Guide for Responsible Corporate Engagement in Climate Policy: A Caring for Climate Report" (Geneva: United Nations Global Compact, 2013), 23, https://unglobalcompact.org/library/501; The B Team, "Addressing Trade Association Misalignment on Climate Policy Toolkit," 2020, https://bteam.org/assets/reports/Addressing-Trade-Association-Misalignment-on-Climate-Policy.pdf; PRI and UN Global Compact, Converging on Climate Lobbying: Aligning Corporate Practice With Investor Expectations, (PRI, 2018), https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=4707.
- 104 Yamika Ketu, Todd Miller, and Steven M. Rothstein, Responsible Policy Engagement Analysis 2022: How Companies Are And Are Not Leading on U.S. Climate Policy (Boston: CERES, November 2022), https://www.ceres.org/sites/default/files/reports/2022-11/RPE%20Report_Nov22.pdf.
- 105 United Nations' High-Level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters.
- 106 Jake Barnett and Patrick Peura, The Future of Investor Engagement: A Call for Systemic Stewardship to Address Systemic Climate Risk (UNEPFI and PRI, April 2022), 20–21, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/NZAOA_The-future-of-investor-engagement.pdf.
- 107 Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, "Aligning Climate Policy Engagement with Net-Zero Commitments," April 2023, 2, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/ uploads/2023/03/Aligning-Climate-Policy-Engagement-with-Net-Zero-Commitments.pdf.
- 108 Asia Investor Group on Climate Change et al., The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative.
- 109 Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, Target Setting Protocol Second Edition (UNEPFI and PRI, 2022), https://www.unepfi.org/publications/target-setting-protocol-second-edition/; Adam Colling, Chris Fox, Danielle Boyd, Eniko Horvath, Hamish Stewart, Kirsten Spalding, MacKensey King et al., Investor Climate Action Plans (ICAPs): Guidance on Using Expectation Ladder (The Investor Agenda, July 2022), https://theinvestoragenda.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/guidance.pdf; Yan et al., Financial Sector Science-Based.
- 110 See a summary of InfluenceMap data in Influence Map, Finance and Climate Change.
- 111 A 2021 study estimated that the global GDP loss from climate change could be between 4% and 18%. Swiss Re Group, "World Economy Set to Lose Up to 18% GDP from Climate Change If No Action Taken, Reveals Swiss Re Institute's Stress Test Analysis," press release, April 22, 2021, https://www.swissre.com/media/press-release/nr-20210422-economics-of-climate-change-risks.html.
- 112 Goshen and Hamdani, "Can Systemic Stewardship Reduce Carbon Emissions?" (2023). Pre-publication draft, on file with authors.
- 113 David Hostert, Matthias Kimmel, Ian Berryman, Amar Vasdev, Nathaniel Bullard, Hugh Bromley, Kwasi Ampofo et al., New Energy Outlook 2022 (London: BloombergNEF, 2022), https://about.bnef.com/new-energy-outlook/?utm_campaign=NEO2016&utm_content=link&utm_medium=homepage&utm_source=carousel&utm_ term=.
- 114 Michael A. Urban and Dariusz Wójcik, "Dirty Banking: Probing the Gap in Sustainable Finance," Sustainability 11, no. 6, (2019): "Introduction," para. 6, https://doi.org/10.3390/ su11061745.
- 115 2° Investing Initiative, 'Science-Based Targets' for Financial Institutions.
- 116 International Energy Agency (IEA), Net Zero by 2050: A Roadmap for the Global Energy Sector (Paris: International Energy Agency, May 2021), https://www.iea.org/reports/net-zeroby-2050.
- 117 International Energy Agency (IEA), Emissions from Oil and Gas Operations in Net Zero Transitions Sector (Paris: International Energy Agency, May 2023), https://iea.blob.core. windows.net/assets/743af33c-b2f5-4a93-a925-1b08f6438e61/EmissionsfromOilandGasOperationinNetZeroTransitions.pdf.
- 118 Stockholm Environmental Institute, International Institute for Sustainable Development, Overseas Development Institute, E3G, and UNEP, *The Production Gap: Governments' Planned Fossil Fuel Production Remains Dangerously Out of Sync with Paris Agreement Limits* (Stockholm: Stockholm Environment Institute, October 2021), https://productiongap. org/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/PGR2021_web_rev.pdf.
- 119 Kelly Trout, Greg Muttitt, Dimitri Lafleur, Thijs Van de Graaf, Roman Mendelevitch, Lan Mei, and Malte Meinshausen, "Existing Fossil Fuel Extraction Would Warm the World Beyond 1.5° C," Environmental Research Letters 17, no. 6 (2022): 064010, https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/ac6228.
- 120 The IPCC concludes that "estimates of future CO2 emissions from existing fossil fuel infrastructures already exceed remaining cumulative net CO2 emissions in pathways limiting warming to 1.5°C (>50%) with no or limited overshoot" (IPCC, *Climate Change 2022*, AR6 WGII, *Technical Summary*).
- 121 United Nations' High-Level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters, 12.
- 122 IEA, World Energy Outlook 2022 (IEA, October 2022), 60, https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2022.
- 123 Mark Davis, Perrine Toledano, and Thomas Schorr, North Africa Can Reduce Europe's Dependence on Russian Gas by Transporting Wasted Gas Through Existing Infrastructure (New York: CCSI, March 2022), 2, https://ccsi.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/pics/publications/CCSI-Capterio-Associated-Gas-North-Africa-Address-Energy-Crisis-Mar-2022. pdf.
- 124 Measurement depends on the global warming potential basis used (Davis et al., North Africa Can Reduce, 3).
- 125 For a discussion on idle capacity on existing pipelines and terminals in North Africa, see Davis et al., North Africa Can Reduce, 3. For a discussion on the conversion of gas infrastructure to hydrogen infrastructure, see IEA, World Energy Outlook 2022.
- 126 Andrew Grant, "When Capex Met Climate," Carbon Tracker, February 20, 2019, https://carbontracker.org/when-capex-met-climate/. Fls following less ambitious scenarios such as "well below 2-degree" that would allow for new fossil projects should at least adopt a methodology tracking the compatibility of the capex plans of portfolio companies with these scenarios. Carbon Tracker assesses that 62% of investments approved at the end of 2021 and beginning of 2022, amounting to USD 103 billion, were inconsistent with the IEA's 1.7°C Announced Pledges Scenario. Thom Allen and Mike Coffin, Paris Maligned: Why Investors Should Assess the Climate Alignment of Oil & Gas Companies (London: Carbon Tracker, December 2022), https://carbontracker.org/reports/paris-maligned/paris-maligned-report/.
- 127 Allen and Coffin, Paris Maligned.
- 128 Ron Bousso, Simon Jessop, and Shadia Nasralla, "Climate-Focused Investors Irked By BP's Pivot to Back Oil," *Reuters*, February 10, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/business/ sustainable-business/change-bp-climate-goal-concern-emissions-focused-investors-shareholder-2023-02-10/.
- 129 Theodor Cojoianu, Francisco Ascui, Gordon L. Clark, Andreas G. F. Hoepner, and Dariusz Wójcik, "Does the Fossil Fuel Divestment Movement Impact New Oil and Gas Fundraising?" Journal of Economic Geography 21, no. 1, (2019): 141–164, https://ssrn.com/abstract=3376183.
- 130 Global Coal Exit List, "About Us," 2023, https://www.coalexit.org/about-us#:~:text=Urgewald%E2%80%99s%20Global%20Coal%20Exit%20List%20%28GCEL%29%20is%20 a,coal%20value%20chain%20visible%20to%20the%20financial%20sector.
- 131 Global Oil & Gas Exit List, "A New Tool to Move Finance Out of Fossil Fuels," 2022, https://gogel.org/.
- 132 Based on inputs received from Reclaim Finance.
- 133 See for instance, the situation of decommissioning in the Gulf of Mexico: Robert Schuwerk, Greg Rogers, and Stephen Greenslade, Double or Nothing: How Regulators are Gambling on the Future Self-interest of Large Oil and Gas Companies to Decommission the Gulf of Mexico's Aging Infrastructure (London: Carbon Tracker Initiative, June 2022), https:// carbontracker.org/reports/double-or-nothing/.
- 134 Lila Holzman, Eero Kekki, Shravan Bhat, Whitney Mann, and Alex Murray, Managed Coal Phaseout: Metrics and Targets for Financial Institutions, working paper (Basalt: RMI, January 2023), https://rmi.org/wp-content/uploads/dlm_uploads/2023/01/managed_coal_phaseout_metrics_and_targets_financial_institutions.pdf.
- 135 Shravan Bhat, Whitney Mann, Alex Murray, Lila Holzman, and Eero Kekki, *Financing Mechanisms to Accelerate Managed Coal Power Phaseout*, working paper (Basalt: RMI, January 2023), 8, https://rmi.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/financing_mechanisms_accelerate_managed_coal_power_phaseout.pdf.
- 136 Bhat et al., Financing Mechanisms to Accelerate.
- 137 United Nations' High-Level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters.
- 138 International Labour Organization, Guidelines for a Just Transition Towards Environmentally Sustainable Economies and Societies for All (ILO, 2015), https://www.ilo.org/global/ topics/green-jobs/publications/WCMS_432859/lang--en/index.htm.
- 139 World Benchmarking Alliance, Just Transition Assessment 2021: Are High-emitting Companies Putting People at the Heart of Decarbonisation? (Amsterdam: World Benchmarking Alliance, 2021), https://assets.worldbenchmarkingalliance.org/app/uploads/2021/11/2021_JustTransitionAssessment.pdf.
- 140 PRI, Statement of Investor Commitment to Support a Just Transition on Climate Change, https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=10382.
- 141 Nick Robins, Vonda Brunsting, and David Wood, Climate Change and the Just Transition: A Guide for Investor Action (London: Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, December 2018), 22, https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=9452.
- 142 GFANZ, The Managed Phaseout, 2022, 31; Peter Fraser, Carlos Fernández Alvarez, Kieran McNamara, and Gabriel Saive, Phasing Out Unabated Coal: Current Status and Three Case Studies (Paris: IEA, October 2021), https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/861dc94d-a684-4875-80fb-a1faaf914125/PhasingOutUnabatedCoal-CurrentStatusandThreeCaseStudies.pdf.
- 143 IEA, Net Zero by 2050.

- 144 Fergus Green and Richard Dennis, "Cutting With Both Arms of the Scissors: The Economic and Political Case for Restrictive Supply-Side Climate Policies," *Climate Change* 150, (2018): 73–87, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-018-2162-x.
- 145 Mission Possible Partnership, Net-Zero Steel Sector Transition Strategy (Mission Possible Partnership, October 2021, https://missionpossiblepartnership.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/10/MPP-Steel-Transition-Strategy-2021.pdf.
- 146 Mission Possible Partnership, Making Net-Zero, 1.5°C-Aligned Steel Possible: Infographics Summary (Mission Possible Partnership, September 2022), https://missionpossiblepartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/SteelInfographics.pdf.
- 147 James Mitchell, Lindsey Schafferer, Tyeler Matsuo, and Radhika Lalit, *Breaking the Code: Deciphering Climate Action Efforts in the Financial Sector* (Basalt: RMI, 2020), https://rmi.org/insight/breaking-the-code/.
- 148 International Capital Market Association, (ICMA), 2021 Working Group Climate Transition Finance (ICMA, 2021), https://www.icmagroup.org/assets/documents/Sustainable-finance/ToR/WG-Climate-Transition-Finance-ToR-2021-160321.pdf.
- 149 National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), "NASA Satellites Help Quantify Forests' Impacts on Global Carbon Budget," February 3, 2021, https://www.nasa.gov/ feature/goddard/2021/nasa-satellites-help-quantify-forests-impacts-on-the-global-carbon-budget.
- 150 Forests & Finance, "Data Deep Dive," n.d., https://forestsandfinance.org/data/.
- 151 Michael R. Bloomberg, Mark Carney, and Mary Schapiro, "Statement on Deforestation Financing from the Co-Chairs and Vice Chair of GFANZ," *GFANZ*, 2022, para. 8, https://www.gfanzero.com/press/statement-on-deforestation-financing-from-the-co-chairs-and-vice-chair-of-gfanz/.
- 152 Proforest, Understanding Commitments to No Deforestation, No Peat and No Exploitation (NDPE), InfoNote 04, (Proforest, February 2020), https://www.proforest.net/fileadmin/uploads/proforest/Documents/Publications/infonote_04_introndpe.pdf.
- 153 In line with the Principles for Paris-Aligned Financial Institutions published by 60 climate and human rights advocacy organizations around the world. Rainforest Action Network, *Principles for Paris-Aligned Financial Institutions* (San Francisco: RAN, September 2020), 2, https://www.ran.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/RAN_Principles_for_Paris-Aligned_ Financial_Institutions.pdf.
- 154 Trase, "Recent Updates to 'Deforestation Exposure," December 7, 2022, https://explore.trase.earth/; Andrea Hernández and Klervi Le Guenic, Stopping Soy-Driven Deforestation: Guidelines for Financial Institutions, (Paris: Reclaim Finance, May 2022), https://reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Soy_QA_briefing.pdf.
- 155 Emma Thomson and Amy Fairbairn, 2023: A Watershed Year for Action on Deforestation: Annual Report 2023, (Oxford: Global Canopy, 2023), Section 3, https://forest500.org/ publications/2023-watershed-year-action-deforestation.
- 156 Mark Hillsdon, "Despite Their Net-zero Pledges, Deforestation Remains a Big Blind Spot for Bankers," Reuters, January 5, 2023, "Summary," https://www.reuters.com/business/ sustainable-business/despite-their-net-zero-pledges-deforestation-remains-big-blind-spot-bankers-2023-01-05/.
- 157 Race to Resilience and Race to Zero, Frequently Asked Questions: Financial Sector Commitment letter on Eliminating Agricultural Commodity-Driven Deforestation (Global Canopy, n.d.), https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/FAQ_FI-commitment-letter_COP27.pdf.
- 158 Naran et al., Global Landscape.
- 159 Naran et al., Global Landscape.
- 160 IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change, AR6 WG III, Jim Skea, Priyadarshi R. Shukla, Andy Reisinger, Raphael Slade, Minal Pathak, Alaa Al Khourdajie, Renée van Damien et al. (IPCC, 2022), https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGIII_Full_Report.pdf.
- 161 IEA, World Energy Outlook 2022, 59.
- 162 IEA, Net Zero by 2050.
- 163 BloombergNEF, "Financing the Transition: Energy Supply Investment and Bank Financing Activity," February 28, 2023, https://about.bnef.com/blog/financing-the-transitionenergy-supply-investment-and-bank-financing-activity/.
- 164 Tim Quinson, "Banks Need Even Bigger Low-Carbon Pivot to Avert Climate Crisis," *Bloomberg*, February 28, 2023, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-02-28/banks-need-even-bigger-low-carbon-pivot-to-avert-climate-crisis?leadSource=uverify%20wall#xj4y7vzkg.
- 165 University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership, Bank 2030: Accelerating the Transition to a Low Carbon Economy (CISL, 2020), https://www.cisl.cam.ac.uk/system/ files/documents/bank-2030.pdf.
- 166 Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, Target Setting Protocol Third Edition (UNEPFI and PRI, 2022), https://www.unepfi.org/industries/target-setting-protocol-third-edition/.
- 167 See for instance for mining and mining value chains: Arjun Bhalla, Krishna Matturi, Ross Hamilton, Paul Huggins, Christelle van Vuuren, Renata Laton-Misra, Reinhardt Arp et al., Net Zero Roadmap to 2050: For Copper & Nickel Mining Value Chains (Washington, DC: International Finance Corporation, January 2023), https://commdev.org/publications/ifcnet-zero-roadmap/.
- 168 The term sustainability is used here as a catch-all term for green bonds, blue bonds, and transition bonds.
- 169 Libby Bernick, "Can Sustainable Companies Get a Lower Cost of Capital?" GreenBiz, March 4, 2019, https://www.greenbiz.com/article/can-sustainable-companies-get-lower-cost-capital.
- 170 Quinn Curtis, Mark C. Weidemaier, and Mitu Gulati, "Green Bonds, Empty Promises," Virginia Public Law and Legal Theory Research Paper, no. 2023-14, (2023), https://papers.ssrn. com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=4350209.
- 171 Ignacio de Calonje and Raquel de la Orden, "Sustainability-Linked Finance: Mobilizing Capital for Sustainability in Emerging Markets," EmCompass note 100 (Washington DC: IFC, January 2022), https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/306c321d-ea77-448d-85c6-7ce3899136a5/EMCompass_Note+110_Sustainability-Linked+Finance_web. pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=nVKABZX.
- 172 Naran et al., Global Landscape; Jeffrey D. Sachs, Perrine Toledano, Martin Dietrich Brauch, Tehtena Mebratu-Tsegaye, Efosa Uwaifo, and Bryan Michael Sherrill, Roadmap to Zero-Carbon Electrification of Africa by 2050: The Green Energy Transition and the Role of the Natural Resource Sector (Minerals, Fossil Fuels, and Land) (New York: CCSI, November 2022), https://ccsi.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/ccsi-roadmap-zero-carbon-electrification-africa.pdf.
- 173 United Nations' High-level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters, 13.
- 174 Sachs et al., Roadmap to Zero-Carbon Electrification.
- 175 International Renewable Energy Agency, Renewable Energy Finance: Sovereign Guarantees (Abu Dhabi: IRENA, 2020), https://www.irena.org/publications/2020/Jan/RE-finance-Sovereign-Guarantees.
- 176 Sachs et al., Roadmap to Zero-Carbon Electrification, 95.
- 177 The International Monetary Fund's definition of debt sustainability "includes both solvency and liquidity requirements" (International Monetary Fund, *Review of the Debt Sustainability Framework for Market Access Countries*, IMF Policy Paper (Washington, DC: IMF, 2021), 6, https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2021/02/03/ Review-of-The-Debt-Sustainability-Framework-For-Market-Access-Countries-50060.
- 178 These conditions are: "(1) the borrowing countries use the funds for highly productive SDG-related long-term productive investments (e.g., electrification, digital connectivity, schooling, healthcare, protection of natural capital, etc.); (2) the loans are with long maturities at fixed rates (within 200 bp of AAA-borrowers); and (3) the borrowing countries have long-term fiscal frameworks that aim to raise future tax revenues to service the higher level of debt, and long-term trade policies to promote net exports needed for future debt servicing." Jeffrey Sachs, *Recommendations of the Ad Hoc High-Level Working Group (HLWG) for an SDG Stimulus* (Sustainable Development Solutions Network, July 14, 2022).
- 179 Sachs, Recommendations of the Ad Hoc High-Level Working Group.
- 180 The Global Innovation Lab for Climate Finance (The Lab), "How it Works," November 12, 2020, https://www.climatefinancelab.org/about/how-it-works/.
- 181 Mithatcan Aydos, Perrine Toledano, Martin Dietrich Brauch, Ladan Mehranvar, Theodoros Iliopoulos, and Sunayana Sasmal, Scaling Investment in Renewable Energy Generation to Achieve Sustainable Development Goals 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy) and 13 (Climate Action) and the Paris Agreement: Roadblocks and Drivers (New York: CCSI, December 2022), https://ccsi.columbia.edu/content/renewable-energy-investment-roadblocks-drivers.
- 182 The Lab, The Global Innovation Lab for Climate Finance: Impact and Lessons Learned, 2014-2019 (San Francisco: Climate Policy Initiative, February 2020), 14, https://cpilabs. wpenginepowered.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/The-Lab_2020-Impact-Report.pdf.
- 183 Goldman Sachs, "Bloomberg Philanthropies and Goldman Sachs Backed Climate Innovation and Development Fund Announce its First Blended-Finance Investments," press release, November 7, 2022, https://www.goldmansachs.com/media-relations/press-releases/2022/announcement-11-07-2022.html.

- 184 Sarah Imrana Hussain, Helena Dill, and Banu Turhan Kayaalp, "Sovereign Green, Social and Sustainability Bonds: Mobilizing Private Sector Capital for Emerging World Bank Blogs, November 8, 2022, https://blogs.worldbank.org/climatechange/sovereign-green-social-and-sustainability-bonds-mobilizing-private-sector Markets." capital#:~:text=Green%2C%20social%2C%20and%20sustainability%20bonds%20allow%20governments%20to,their%20portfolios%20and%20achieve%20environmental%20 and%20social%20returns.
- 185 United Nations' High-level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters. For instance, South Africa signed a JETP with the United States, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, and the European Union to accelerate the decommissioning of South Africa's coal-fired power plants, among other energy transition issues. The package includes publicly funded mechanisms to crowd in private sector investment in new and riskier investment areas (Government of the United Kingdom, "South Africa Just Energy Transition Investment Plan: Joint Statement," press release, November 7, 2022, https://www.gov.uk/government/news/joint-statementsouth-africa-just-energy-transition-investment-plan.
- 186 Kölbel et al., "Can Sustainable Investing Save."
- 187 "Based on data obtained from Climate Action 100+, (...) that only 17% of [the 35] companies analyzed consider emissions reduction targets when deciding on CAPEX" (Arnold and Toledano, "Corporate Net-Zero Pledges").
- The need to assess whether corporate targets lead to real economy reductions has been established recently again by the Sala Institute for Climate and Sustainability at Harvard 188 University, "Corporate Net-Zero Targets Project," (Harvard University, 2023), https://salatainstitute.harvard.edu/projects/evaluating-net-zero-pledges/.
- GFANZ, Sectoral Pathways for Financial Institutions (Glasgow: GFANZ, June 2022), 13, https://assets.bbhub.io/company/sites/63/2022/06/GFANZ_Guidance-on-Use-of-Sectoral-189 Pathways-for-Financial-Institutions June2022.pdf.
- 190 GFANZ, Sectoral Pathways, 2022, 22.
- 191 Transition Pathway Initiative, "Corporate Bonds: Is it Time to Deny Debt to Companies Not Aligning to the Goals of the Paris Agreement?" October 11, 2020, https://www. transitionpathwayinitiative.org/publications/46?type=NewsArticle
- 192 Shivaram Rajgopal, "Debt Financed ESG," Forbes, February 28, 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/shivaramrajgopal/2023/02/28/debt-financed-esg/?sh=6b250990470e.
- 193 La Bank Postale SA, for instance, has imposed such conditions. Kirsch et al., Banking on Climate Chaos,
- 194 Thierry Philipponnat, The Problem Lies in the Net: How Finance Can Contribute to Making the World Reach its Greenhouse Gas Net-Zero Target (Brussels: Finance Watch, June 2022), https://www.finance-watch.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/Report%E2%80%93Making-Finance-contribute-to-a-Net-Zero-Economy.pdf; Jacob Waslander, Julie Bos, and Yili Wu, Banking Beyond Climate Commitments: Transforming Client Engagement and Products & Services for a Net-Zero Emissions Future, working paper (Washington, DC: World Resources Institute, August 2021), https://files.wri.org/d8/s3fs-public/2021-08/banking-beyond-climate-commitments.pdf?VersionId=w5tCECT74FHnX_XvraEmYj6jqMpBFkli.
- 195 Transition Pathway Initiative, "Corporate Bonds,"
- 196 Jie Cao, Hao Liang, and Xintong Zhan, "Peer Effects of Corporate Social Responsibility," Management Science 65, no. 12 (2019): 5449–5956, https://pubsonline.informs.org/ doi/10.1287/mnsc.2018.3100.
- Securities Exchange Act, 17 CFR § 240.14a-8(i)(7). Nur Uysal, Aimei Yang, and Maureen Taylor, "Shareholder Communication and Issue Salience: Corporate Responses to 'Social' Shareholder Activism," Journal of Applied Communication Research 46, no. 2 (2018): 179–201, https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2018.1437643.
- 198 Betsy Vereckey, "ESG Funds Often Fail to Vote Their Values, Research Shows," MIT Sloan School of Management, June 21, 2021, https://mitsloan.mit.edu/ideas-made-to-matter/ esg-funds-often-fail-to-vote-their-values-research-shows; ShareAction, "New Data Shows Scant Improvement in Fund Managers' Voting on ESG Resolutions," press release, December 15, 2021, https://shareaction.org/news/new-data-shows-scant-improvement-in-fund-managers-voting-on-esg-resolutions; Roni Michaely, Guillem Ordonez-Calafi, and Silvina Rubio, Mutual Funds' Strategic Voting on Environmental and Social İssues, Finance Working Paper 774/2021 (Brussels: ECGI, February 2022), https://www.ecgi.global/ sites/default/files/Paper:%20Roni%20Michaely,%20Guillem%20Ordonez-Calafi,%20Silvina%20Rubio.pdf; Tao Li, S. Lakshmi Naaraayanan, and Kunal Sachdeva, Conflicting Objectives of ESG Funds: Evidence from Proxy Voting (Rochester: SSRN, February 2023), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3760753.
- 199 Reid and Toffel, "Responding to Public and Private Politics."
- 200 Yonca Ertimur, Fabrizio Ferri, and Stephen R. Stubben, "Board of Directors' Responsiveness to Shareholders: Evidence from Shareholder Proposals," Journal of Corporate Finance 16, no. 1 (2010): 53–72, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0929119909000522.
- 201 Matthews et al., Net Zero Investment Framework, 18,
- 202 Matt Phillips, "Exxon's Board Defeat Signals the Rise of Social-Good Activists," The New York Times, June 9, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/06/09/business/exxon-mobilengine-no1-activist.html.
- 203 LGIM, Climate Impact Pledge 2022: Net Zero: Going Beyond Ambition (Chicago: LGIM America, June 2022), https://www.lgim.com/uk/en/responsible-investing/climate-impact-pledge/.
- 204 Majority Action, "Proxy Voting for a 1.5 Degree World," https://www.proxyvoting.majorityaction.us/.
- 205 Meagan Andrews, Shrinal Sheth, Greg Fischer, Tariq Nanji, Vinay Shandal, and William Lubega, Creating Value Through Sustainability in Private Markets (Geneva: World Economic Forum, April 2022), https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Creating_Value_through_Sustainability_in_Private_Markets_2022.pdf.
- 206 David Bank, "Japanese Pension Fund Pushes Asset Managers to Get Tougher on Sustainability," ImpactAlpha, November 25, 2019, https://impactalpha.com/japanese-pensionfund-pushes-asset-managers-to-get-tougher-on-sustainability/.
- 207 Barnett and Peura, The Future of Investor Engagement, 26,
- 208 Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, "Aligning Climate Policy Engagement."
- 209 Barnett and Peura, The Future of Investor Engagement, 6.
- 210 Net-Zero Asset Owners Alliance, "Aligning Climate Policy Engagement," 9.
- 211 Power et al., The Time to Green Finance.
- 212 Sophia Sunderji and Ben Ringel, "Institutional Asset Owners: Strategies for Engaging With Asset Managers for Impact," Global Impact Investing Network, January 2022, 6, https:// thegiin.org/assets/Institutional%20Asset%20Owners_Strategies%20for%20Engaging%20with%20Asset%20Managers%20for%20Impact_FINAL.pdf.
- 213 Sunderji and Ringel, "Institutional Asset Owners," 11.
- 214 Rathbones, "Engagement With Consequences," 2022, https://www.rathbones.com/investment-approach/responsible-investment/engagement.
- 215 Christine Oliver, "Sustainable Competitive Advantage: Combining Institutional and Resource-Based Views," Strategic Management Journal 18, no. 9 (1997): 697–713, https://www. stor.org/stable/3088134; Jeff Frooman, "Stakeholder Influence Strategies," Academy of Management Review 24, no. 2 (1999): 191–205, https://www.jstor.org/stable/259074.
- 216 For example, the insurance giant, Chubb, announced in March 2023 "new underwriting criteria for oil and gas extraction projects that will require clients to reduce methane emissions" (Chubb, "Chubb Announces New Climate and Conservation-Focused Underwriting Standards for Oil and Gas Extraction," March 22, 2023, https://news.chubb. com/2023-03-22-Chubb-Announces-New-Climate-and-Conservation-Focused-Underwriting-Standards-for-Oil-and-Gas-Extraction).
- 217 Brayden G. King, "A Political Mediation Model of Corporate Response to Social Movement Activism," Administrative Science Quarterly 53, no. 3 (2008): 395-421, https://doi. org/10.2189/asqu.53.3.395
- 218 Quigley, Universal Ownership in Practice; As You Sow, "Current Resolutions," https://www.asyousow.org/resolutions-tracker; Kate J. Neville, Jackie Cook, Jennifer Baka, Karen Bakker, and Erika S. Weinthal, "Can Shareholder Advocacy Shape Energy Governance? The Case of the US Antifracking Movement," Review of International Political Economy 26, no. 1 (2019): 104–133, https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/105336/1/Shareholder%20Advcocacy_TSpace.pdf.
- Ellen Quigley, Emily Bugden, and Anthony Odgers, Divestment: Advantages and Disadvantages for the University of Cambridge (Cambridge: University of Cambridge, October 219 2020), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3849513.
- 220 Barnett and Peura, The Future of Investor Engagement.
- 221 Sjöström, "Shareholder Activism for Corporate Social Responsibility."
- 221 Spstroll, Shareholder Activisition Corporate Social Responsibility.
 222 Camilla Hodgson, "Global Banks Keep Up Pace With \$742bn in Fossil Fuel Finance Despite Climate Pledges," *Financial Times*, March 30, 2022, https://www.tt.com/content/3eeee0f7-bb02-4950-a6d6-49da39c3cc41; Jasper Jolly, "Europe's Biggest Banks Provide £24bn to Oil and Gas Firms Despite Net Zero Pledges," *The Guardian*, February 13, 2022, https://www.tt.com/content/3eeee0f7-bb02-4950-a6d6-49da39c3cc41; Jasper Jolly, "Europe's Biggest Banks Provide £24bn to Oil and Gas Firms Despite Net Zero Pledges," *The Guardian*, February 13, 2022, https:// www.theguardian.com/business/2022/feb/14/europes-biggest-banks-provide-24bn-to-oil-and-gas-firms-despite-net-zero-pledges; Catherine Clifford, "Blackrock to Vote for Fewer Climate Shareholder Provisions in 2022 Than 2021," *CNBC*, May 11, 2022, https://www.cnbc.com/2022/05/11/blackrock-to-vote-for-fewer-climate-provisions-in-2022-than-2021.html; Ed Davey, "Banks Far from Hitting Paris Climate Targets, Groups Warn," *Associated Press*, July 28, 2022, https://apnews.com/article/science-asia-paris-17da845 63c39f9d096689d733224661a; Kirsch et al., *Banking on Climate Chaos*; Reclaim Finance, "The Oil and Gas Policy Tracker: A Tool to Detect Greenwashing Practices in the Finance Sector," press release, March 22, 2022, https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2022/03/22/the-oil-and-gas-policy-tracker-a-tool-to-detect-greenwashing-practices-in-the-finance-sector," *Environmental Finance*, "Only 13 Financial Institutions Plan to Restrict Oil Expansion, Says NGO," July 5, 2022, https://www.environmental-finance.com/content/in-brief/ only-13-financial-institutions-plan to-restrict-oil-expansion-says-ngo html only-13-financial-institutions-plan-to-restrict-oil-expansion-says-ngo.html.

- 223 Enhanced Disclosures by Certain Investment Advisers and Investment Companies about Environmental, Social, and Governance Investment Practices (May 25, 2022), https://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/2022/33-11068.pdf.
- 224 "Banks face mounting risk of fines, regulatory probes over sustainability claims," S&P Global Market Intelligence, February 27, 2023. https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/ en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/banks-face-mounting-risk-of-fines-regulatory-probes-over-sustainability-claims-74385257
- 225 Annabelle Liang, "HSBC climate change adverts banned by UK watchdog," BBC, October 19, 2022, https://www.bbc.com/news/business-63309878.
- 226 Kate Abnett, "EU proposes clampdown on companies using fake 'green' claims," *Reuters*, March 22, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/business/sustainable-business/eu-proposesclampdown-companies-using-fake-green-claims-2023-03-22/.
- 227 United Nations' High-level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters.
- 228 United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and upcoming 2023 revision of *G20/OECD Principles of Corporate Governance* which will address the major implications of climate change for corporate governance, among other topics, https://www.oecd.org/corporate/climate-change-and-corporate-governance-272d85c3-en.htm.
- 229 Yan, Aden, Cummis, White, Vandermosten, Linderyd, and Weber, Financial Sector Science-Based Targets Guidance, 101.
- 230 United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, Net-Zero Banking Alliance, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/UNEP-FI-NZBA-Commitment-Statement.pdf.
- 231 For instance, a 2021 paper found that no signatory company of the highly-publicized 2019 CEO sign-on Business Roundtable Statement on declaring corporate purpose to serve all stakeholders, not just shareholders, had changed their governance guidelines, shareholder proposal positions, or director compensation to align with the Statement. Lucian A. Bebchuk and Roberto Tallarita, "Will Corporations Deliver Value to All Stakeholders?," *Vanderbilt Law Review* 75, (2022): 1031–1091, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3899421; Research in 2020 showed signatories engaged in *more* shareholder-centric behaviors (including dividends, stock buybacks, and laying off or furloughing workers) than similar companies that did not sign. Jerry Useem, "Beware of Corporate Promises," *The Atlantic*, August 6, 2020, https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2020/08/companies-stand-solidarity-are-licensing-themselves-discriminate/614947/.
- 232 "Net Zero Pledges: Not Even Next Management's Problem," Financial Times, September 25, 2021, https://www.ft.com/content/083c3972-d729-4867-82dc-a6806b83a7bd.
- 233 Douglas Y. Park, "The Board's Role in Sustainability Governance: Connecting Long-Term Value Creation and Executive Compensation," The Handbook of Board Governance: A Comprehensive Guide for Public, Private and Not-for-Profit Board Members, (2016): 639–658, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/9781119245445.ch31; Duncan Hawthorne and Matt Reah, Paying for Net Zero: Using Incentives to Create Accountability for Climate Goals (London: PwC, 2023), https://www.pwc.co.uk/human-resource-services/pdf/payingfor-net-zero-using-incentives-to-create-accountability-for-climate-goals.pdf.
- 234 AIGCC, Ceres, IGCC, and IIGCC, The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative Net Zero Asset Owner Commitment, 17.
- 235 Colling, Fox, Boyd, Horvath, Stewart, Spalding, King, Roy, Filipovic, Queathem, Ellsworth, Chowdhury, Adams, Sciammacco, Fenton, Divgi, Grolee, Amstutz, Jenkins, Smith, Ho, Li, Kawauchi, Ward, Wang, Smith, and Tabor, *Investor Climate Action Plans (ICAPs)*, 7.
- 236 Andrea Schriber and Silvie Koppes, "Climate Risk is Financial Risk For Banks It's a Board-Level...: What Do The Latest Annual Reports Reveal About Banks' Approaches to Climate Change?," KPMG, April 7, 2021, https://kpmg.com/xx/en/home/insights/2021/04/banks-climate-change-reporting.html.
- 237 United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.
- 238 United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, UN-Convened Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance Governance (March 2022), 12–14, https://www.unepfi.org/wordpress/ wp-content/uploads/2022/07/NZAOA-Governance-Document_Approved-2022-2.pdf.
- 239 United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, UN-Convened Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance Governance, 13.
- 240 United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, UN-Convened Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance Governance, 14.
- 241 Robert Gorwa, "Regulating Them Softly," Centre for International Governance Innovation, October 28, 2019, 39–43, https://www.cigionline.org/articles/regulating-them-softly/.
- 242 Khalid Azizuddin, "Net Zero Reviewer SBTI Responds to Transparency Criticisms, *Responsible Investor*, May 5, 2022, https://www.responsible-investor.com/net-zero-reviewer-sbti-responds-to-transparency-criticisms/.
- 243 GFANZ, "About Us."
- 244 "About Us," GFANZ, https://www.gfanzero.com/about/; "Partners and Participants," The Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative, https://www.netzeroassetmanagers.org/partnersparticipants/; "Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance Steering Group," United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, https://www.unepfi.org/net-zeroalliance/partners/; "Partners & Participants," Paris Aligned Investment Initiative, https://www.parisalignedinvestment.org/partners-participants," "Net Zero Asset Owner Alliance," United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, https://www.unepfi.org/net-zeroalliance/partners/; "Partners & Participants," Paris Aligned Investment Initiative, https://www.unpri.org/about-us/governance/setticipants," Net-Zero Insurance Alliance," United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, https://www.unepfi.org/net-zero-insurance/; "About," Net Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance, https://www. netzeroserviceproviders.com/; "Board Members," Principles for Responsible Investment, https://www.unpri.org/about-us/governance/board/-members; "Banking Board," United Nations Environment Programme Finance Initiative, https://www.unepfi.org/banking/board); "Members," Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures, https://www. fsb-tcfd.org/members/; "Steering Committee," Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials, https://carbonaccountingfinancials.com/about#steering-committee; "Partners and Collaborators," Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials, https://carbonaccountingfinancials.com/about#steering-committee; "Partners," Global Alliance for Banking on Values, https://www.governance; "Our Board," IlGCC, https://www.iigcc.org/about-us/governance/.
- 245 Patrick McCully, It's Not What You Say, It's What You Do: Making The Finance Sector's Net-Zero Alliances Work For The Climate (Paris: Reclaim Finance, November 2021), https:// reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/FINAL_GFANZ_Report_02_11_21.pdf.
- 246 Ahren Lester, "UN Race to Zero Readies 'Compliance Mechanism,' *Environmental Finance*, August 25, 2022, https://www.environmental-finance.com/content/news/un-race-to-zero-readies-september-compliance-mechanism-announcement.html.
- 247 Owen Walker, Kenza Bryan, Camilla Hodgson, Stephen Morris, and Simon Mundy, "Finance Groups Risk Being Kicked Out of Mark Carney-Led Climate Coalition," *Financial Times*, August 22, 2022, https://www.ft.com/content/58575db9-5670-4b2d-a555-2c3aed0fdd6d.
- 248 Walker, Bryan, Hodgson, Morris, and Mundy, "Finance Groups Risk Being Kicked Out of Mark Carney-Led Climate Coalition."
- 249 Simon Mundy, Kenza Bryan, and Patrick Temple-West, "GFANZ Drops its Race to Zero Requirements," Financial Times, October 28, 2022, https://www.ft.com/content/26aa3014-6dad-4acb-b88a-c065bf8f5707?shareType=nongift.
- 250 Greenhouse Gas Protocol, https://ghgprotocol.org/companies-and-organizations.
- 251 John Biberman, Perrine Toledano, Baihui Lei, Max Lulavy, and Rohini Ram Mohan, Conflicts Between GHG Accounting Methodologies in the Steel Industry (New York: CCSI, January 2023), https://ccsi.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/docs/publications/ccsi-comet-conflicts-ghg-accounting-steel-industry.pdf.
- 252 The GHG Corporate Reporting Protocol classifies emissions into 3 scopes. Scope 1 emissions are direct emissions from sources owned or controlled by the company. Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions, usually purchased energy used in company operations. Scope 1 and 2 emissions are sometimes referred to as "operational" emissions. Scope 3 emissions are all other indirect emissions from sources not owned or controlled by the company, including up and down the corporate value chain.
- 253 Greenhouse Gas Protocol, "Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard: Supplement to the GHG Protocol Accounting and Reporting Standard," 8, https://ghgProtocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/Corporate-Value-Chain-Accounting-Reporing-Standard_041613_2.pdf#page=8.
- 254 "The Coalition on Materials Emissions Transparency (COMET)," Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment, March 2023, https://ccsi.columbia.edu/content/coalition-materialsemissions-transparency-comet.
- 255 Bjørn, Lloyd, and Matthews, "From the Paris Agreement to Corporate Climate Commitments," para. 1.
- 256 The Absolute Contraction Approach (ACA) is a "one-size-fits-all" approach whereby companies set targets for absolute emissions reductions (at a minimum of 2.5% per year). This approach does use absolute emissions but does not differentiate by sector. Under the Sectoral Decarbonization Approach, companies set *emissions intensity* targets that differentiate by sector (usually in line with the IEA's sectoral pathways). Alberto Carrillo Pineda, Heidi Huusko, Cynthia Cummis, and Alexander Farsan, "Understand the Methods for Science-Based Climate Action," *Science Based Targets Initiative*, February 25, 2021, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/news/understand-science-based-targets-methodsclimate-action; *Foundations of Science-based Target Setting* (Washington, DC: Science Based Targets Initiative, April 2019), https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/ foundations-of-SBT-setting.pdf.
- 257 IEA, Net Zero by 2050.
- 258 Sven Teske and Jaysson Guerrero, "One Earth Climate Model—Integrated Energy Assessment Model to Develop Industry-Specific 1.5°C Pathways with High Technical Resolution for the Finance Sector," *Energies* 15, no. 9 (2022): 3289, https://doi.org/10.3390/en15093289.
- 259 "NGFS IIASA Scenario Explorer," The Network of Central Banks and Supervisors for Greening the Financial System. NGFS IIASA Scenario Explorer, 2021, https://www.ngfs.net/ ngfs-scenarios-portal/.

- 260 Pathways to Net-Zero: SBTi Technical Summary (Washington, DC: Science Based Targets Initiative, October 2021), https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Pathway-to-Net-Zero.pdf.
- 261 Pathways to Net-Zero.
- 262 Saphira Rekker, Matthew C. Ives, Belinda Wade, L. Webb, and Chris Greig, "Measuring Corporate Paris Compliance Using a Strict Science-Based Approach," *Nat Commun* vol. 13 (2022): 441, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31143-4.
- 263 Bjørn, Lloyd, and Matthews, "From the Paris Agreement to Corporate Climate Commitments."
- 264 The Centre's metrics benchmark against a scenario that takes a precautionary approach to CCS/BECCS (it is CCS/BECCS-free) and integrate equity considerations by allocating a greater share of emissions reductions to organizations in OECD countries. It is an emissions-intensity metric like others and it calculates emissions "entitlement" on the basis of contribution to GDP (i.e., if a company is more profitable, it is entitled to emit more). "Innovating for Authentic Sustainability Accounting and Multicapitalism in the World," Center for Sustainable Organizations, https://www.sustainableorganizations.org/context-based-metrics-public-domain/.
- 265 Bill Baue, "Formal Complaint: Science Based Targets Conflicts of Interest," Medium (blog), February 15, 2021, https://bbaue.medium.com/formal-complaint-science-basedtargets-conflicts-of-interest-f8199407ac10.
- 266 Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (the "Taxonomy").
- 267 Holly Pettingale, Stéphane de Maupeou, and Peter Reilly, "EU Taxonomy and the Future of Reporting," Harvard Law School Forum on Corporate Governance, April 4, 2022, https:// corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2022/04/04/eu-taxonomy-and-the-future-of-reporting/.
- 268 Deborah Thür, "Green Taxonomies Around The World: Where Do We Stand?" Ecofact (blog), November 1, 2022, https://www.ecofact.com/blog/green-taxonomies-around-theworld-where-do-we-stand/.
- 269 "Where Does The EU Taxonomy Fit Into The Global Landscape?" Celsia (blog), March 14, 2023, https://www.celsia.io/blogs/where-does-the-eu-taxonomy-fit-into-the-global-landscape.
- 270 Francesca Odell, Maurits Dolmans, and Clara Cibrario Assereto, "The EU Taxonomy Traffic Light," *The HarvardLaw School Forum on Corporate Governance*, May 3, 2022, https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2022/05/03/the-eu-taxonomy-traffic-light/#:~:text=The%20report%20aims%20to%20support%20the%20European%20Commission%2C, detrimental%20 impact%20on%20the%20environment%20%28%E2%80%9C%20red%20%E2%80%9D%29; Pettingale, de Maupeou, and Reilly, "EU Taxonomy and the Future of Reporting."
- 271 "IIGCC Publishes Open Letter Calling for Gas to be Excluded From the EU Taxonomy," IIGCC Policy Programme, December 1, 2022, https://www.iigcc.org/resource/iigcc-publishesopen-letter-calling-for-gas-to-be-excluded-from-the-eu-taxonomy/.
- 272 "Open Letter Gas Attack in Taxonomy," World Wide Fund For Nature, https://wwfeu.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/225__scientists_financials_cso_open_letter__gas_attack_in_eu_taxonomy__march21_cl_11_1.pdf.
- 273 Open Letter from 92 CSOs: To Avoid Taxonomy-Enabled Greenwashing, Financial Institutions Must Exclude Fossil Gas and Nuclear Energy from All Their Products and Bonds Marketed as Sustainable or Green (Paris: Reclaim Finance, 2022), https://reclaimfinance.org/site/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Open-letter-from-92-CSOs-No-gas-and-nuclear-insustainable-products.pdf.
- 274 "Climate Change Mitigation Taxonomy," Observatory Against Greenwashing, https://www.greenwashed.net/sciencebasedtaxonomy/#datatable-customcode.
- 275 "1 in 3 Activities Labeled Green in EU Taxonomy Are Bad for the Planet, New Alternative Taxonomy Shows," Transport & Environment, January 18, 2023, para. 6. https://www. transportenvironment.org/discover/1-in-3-activities-labeled-green-in-eu-taxonomy-are-bad-for-the-planet-new-alternative-taxonomy-shows/.
- 276 European Commission, EU Taxonomy for Sustainable Activities, https://finance.ec.europa.eu/sustainable-finance/tools-and-standards/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities_en.
- 277 GFANZ, its six sector-specific sub-initiatives, the Investor Agenda, TCFD, SBTi, and PCAF.
- 278 "Voluntary Carbon Offsets Market Size [2022-2027] is Projected to Reach USD 700.5 Million, with 11.7% CAGR Growth Rate, Share, Emerging Technologies, Key Players, Regional and Global Industry Forecast to 2027 Says Market Reports World," *Market Reports World*, February 3, 2022, https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2022/02/03/2378160/0/en/ Voluntary-Carbon-Offsets-Market-Size-2022-2027-is-Projected-to-Reach-USD-700-5-Million-with-11-7-CAGR-Growth-Rate-Share-Emerging-Technologies-Key-Players-Regional-and-Global-Indust.html.
- 279 "VCMI: Carbon or Greenwashing Market?" Reclaim Finance (blog), June 23, 2022, para. 3. https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2022/06/23/vcmi-carbon-or-greenwashingmarket/#:~:text=Indeed%2C%20as%20Reclaim%20Finance%20and%20Amazon%20Watch%20previously,displaces%20%E2%80%93%20and%20does%20not%20reduce%20 %E2%80%93%20emissions.
- 280 For insights into accountability and accounting problems associated with making a claim on avoided emissions, see: Stephen Russell and Yelena Akopian, "Many Companies Inaccurately Estimate the Climate Benefits of Their Products" Greenhouse Gas Protocol (blog), March 12, 2019, https://ghgProtocol.org/blog/many-companies-inaccuratelyestimate-climate-benefits-their-products.
- 281 Akshat Rathi, Natasha White, and Demetrios Pogkas, "Junk Carbon Offsets Are What Make These Big Companies 'Carbon Neutral," Bloomberg Green, November 21, 2022, https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2022-carbon-offsets-renewable-energy/?sref=jjXJRDFv&leadSource=uverify+wall.
- 282 Rathi, White, and Pogkas, "Junk Carbon Offsets Are What Make These Big Companies 'Carbon Neutral."
- 283 Rathi, White, and Pogkas, "Junk Carbon Offsets Are What Make These Big Companies 'Carbon Neutral."
- 284 Myles Allen, Kaya Axelsson, Ben Caldecott, Thomas Hale, Cameron Hepburn, Conor Hickey, Eli Mitchell-Larson, Yadvinder Malhi, Friederike Otto, Nathalie Seddon, and Steve Smith, The Oxford Principles for Net Zero Aligned Carbon Offsetting (Oxford: University of Oxford, September 2020), https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/sites/default/files/2022-01/ Oxford-Offsetting-Principles-2020.pdf.
- 285 Patrick Greenfield, "Revealed: More Than 90% of Rainforet Carbon Offsets by Biggest Certifier are Worthless, Analysis Shows," The Guardian, January 18, 2023, https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2023/jan/18/revealed-forest-carbon-offsets-biggest-provider-worthless-verra-aoe.
- 286 SBTi Criteria and Recommendations (New York: Science Based Targets initiative, October 2021), https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/SBTi-criteria.pdf.
- 287 Allen, Axelsson, Caldecott, Hale, Hepburn, Hickey, Mitchell-Larson, Malhi, Otto, Seddon, and Smith, *The Oxford Principles for Net Zero Aligned Carbon Offsetting*.
- 288 Brad Page, Guloren Turan, Alex Zapantis, Jamie Burrows, Chris Consoli, Jeff Erikson, Ian Havercroft, David Kearns, Harry Liu, Dominic Rassool, Eve Tamme, Alex Townsend, and Tony Zhang, Global Status of CCS 2020 (Melbourne: Global CCS Institute, 2020), https://www.globalccsinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Global-Status-of-CCS-Report-2020 FINAL.pdf.
- 289 Wan Yun Hong, "A Techno-economic Review on Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage Systems For Achieving a Net-zero CO2 Emissions Future," Carbon Capture Science & Technology 3, (2022): 100044, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S277265682200015X.
- 290 "Carbon Capture & Storage (CCS)" Carbon Offset Guide, Greenhouse Gas Management Institute and Stockholm Environment Institute, https://www.offsetguide.org/avoiding-lowquality-offsets/vetting-offset-projects/carbon-capture-storage-ccs/.
- 291 "Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS)" World Resources Institute (blog), https://www.wri.org/initiatives/carbon-capture-and-storage-ccs.
- 292 Micah Macfarlane, "Assessing the State of the Voluntary Carbon Market in 2022," Carbon Direct (blog), May 6, 2022, https://www.carbon-direct.com/insights/assessing-the-state-of-the-voluntary-carbon-market-in-2022.
- 293 Sabine Fuss, William F. Lamb, Max W. Callaghan, Jérôme Hilaire, Felix Creutzig, Thorben Amann, Tim Beringer, Wagner de Oliveira Garcia, Jens Hartmann, Tarun Khanna, Gunnar Luderer, Gregory F. Nemet, Joeri Rogelj, Pete Smith, José Luis Vicente Vicente, Jennifer Wilcox, Maria del Mar Zamora Dominguez, and Jan C. Minx, "Negative Emissions—Part 2: Costs, Potentials and Side Effects," *Environmental Research Letters* 13, no. 6 (2022): 063002, https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/aabf9f/meta.
- 294 See for instance: "Biomass," Energy, European Commission, https://energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/renewable-energy/bioenergy/biomass_en; Jackie Vandermel, "Preventing Climate Change With BECCS: Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage," *Princeton Student Climate Initiative* (blog), November 15, 2020, https://psci.princeton.edu/ tips/2020/11/15/preventing-climate-change-with-beccs-bioenergy-with-carbon-capture-and-storage.

295 International Energy Agency, World Energy Outlook 2019: Flagship Report (2019), https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2019.

- 296 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2018: Mitigation Pathways Compatible with 1.5°C in the Context of Sustainable Development, In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty, (IPCC 2018: Mitigation Pathways Compatible with 1.5°C in the Context of Sustainable Development), https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-2/.
- 297 Adam G. Bumpus and Diana M. Liverman, "Accumulation by Decarbonization and the Governance of Carbon Offsets," *Economic Geography* 84, no. 2 (2008): 127–55, http://www.jstor.org/stable/30033170; '*Nature-based Solutions*': *Concealing a Massive Land Robbery* (Montevideo: World Rainforest Movement, April 2021), https://wrm.org.uy/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Boletin-255_ENG.pdf.
- 298 IPCC 2018: Mitigation Pathways Compatible with 1.5°C in the Context of Sustainable Development.

- 299 Aditi Sen and Nafkote Dabi, *Tightening the Net: Net Zero Climate Targets Implications for Land and Food Equity* (Nairobi: Oxfam International, August 2021), https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/handle/10546/621205.
- 300 Bumpus and Liverman, "Accumulation by Decarbonization and the Governance of Carbon Offsets."
- 301 Nick Cunningham is an independent journalist covering the oil and gas industry and climate change. Nick Cunningham, "So What the Heck is Net Zero, Anyway?: The Latest in Corporate Greenwashing, Explained" Sierra Club, February 7, 2022, https://www.sierraclub.org/sierra/so-what-heck-net-zero-anyway.
- 302 Keith Hyams, and Tina Fawcett, "The Ethics of Carbon Offsetting," WIREs Climate Change 4, no. 2 (2013): 91–98, https://wires.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/wcc.207.
- 303 Tom Dowdall, "Science-Based Net-Zero Targets: 'Less Net, More Zero," Science Based Targets Initiative (blog), October 7, 2021, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/blog/science-based-net-zero-targets-less-net-more-zero.
- 304 "Company Assessment Shell PLC," Climate Action 100+, September 24, 2022, https://www.climateaction100.org/company/royal-dutch-shell/.
- 305 United Nations Environment Programme, The Net-Zero Insurance Alliance: Statement of Commitment by Signatory Companies, 2021, https://www.unepfi.org/psi/wp-content/ uploads/2021/07/NZIA-Commitment.pdf.
- 306 United Nations Environment Programme, Target Setting Protocol Third Edition, January 2023, (UNEP Target Setting Protocol Third Edition), https://www.unepfi.org/industries/ target-setting-Protocol-third-edition/.
- 307 GFANZ, Sectoral Pathways for Financial Institutions.
- 308 United Nations Environment Programme, Guidelines for Climate Target Setting for Banks, April 2021, (UNEP Guidelines for Climate Target Setting for Banks), 5, https://www. unepfi.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/UNEP-FI-Guidelines-for-Climate-Change-Target-Setting.pdf.
- 309 IPCC Climate Change 2022, Full Report, AR6 WGII.
- 310 HLEG specifies "interim targets" as those for 2025, 2030 and 2035. United Nations' High-level Expert Group on the Net Zero Emissions Commitments of Non-State Entities, Integrity Matters, 12, 19.
- 311 UNEP Target Setting Protocol Third Edition.
- 312 UNEP Target Setting Protocol Third Edition.
- 313 "Business Alliance to Scale Climate Solutions," Business Alliance to Scale Climate Solutions, https://scalingclimatesolutions.org/ and "Credibility and Climate Action: A Corporate Blueprint," World Wide Fund for Nature, December 12, 2020, https://wwf.panda.org/wwf_news/?1172766/Blueprint-Corporate-Action-Climate-Nature.
- 314 See the guide at https://tfciguide.org/.
- 315 Pedro Faria and Nicole Labutong, "A Description of Four Science-based Corporate GHG Target-setting Methods," Sustainability Accounting Management and Policy Journal 11, no. 3 (2019), https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/A-description-of-four-science-based-corporate-GHG-Faria-Labutong/faf32e3ffe4f9baad9c71b0d461278a2e84df866.
- 316 Greg Muttitt, "Shell on Earth: Why Shell Fails on Climate," Oil Change International (blog), May 15, 2018, http://priceofoil.org/2018/05/15/shell-on-earth/.
- 317 McCully, Faul, Her, Pinson, Lentilhac, Guillot, Werlé, Louvel, Rocamora, and Cooper, Throwing Fuel on the Fire, https://u6p9s9c8.rocketcdn.me/site/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/ Throwing-fuel-on-the-fire-GFANZ-financing-of-fossil-fuel-expansion.pdf; Angelo Calvello, "The \$130 Trillion GFANZ Coalition Is Just More 'Blah Blah," Institutional Investor, January 19, 2022, https://www.institutionalinvestor.com/article/b1wcy05c38ntmh/The-130-Trillion-GFANZ-Coalition-Is-Just-More-Blah-Blah.
- 318 Adam Matthews, Claudia Kruse, Lucian Peppelenbos, Christina Olivecrona, Peter Smith, Michael Marshall, Faith Ward, David Adkins, Dewi Dylander, Craig Mackenzie, Bart Kuijpers, Inger Huus-Pedersen, Lupin Rahman, Kaisie Rayner, Francis Condon, and Murray Birt, Net Zero Investment Framework: Implementation Guide (IIGCC, March 2021), https://www. parisalignedinvestment.org/media/2021/10/Net_Zero_Investment_Framework_final.pdf.
- 319 United Nations Environment Programme, Target Setting Protocol Second Edition, January 2022, (UNEP Target Setting Protocol Second Edition), https://www.unepfi.org/ wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/NZAOA-Target-Setting-Protocol-Second-Edition.pdf.
- 320 "The Net Zero Asset Managers Commitment," The Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative, https://www.netzeroassetmanagers.org/commitment/.
- 321 UNEP Guidelines for Climate Target Setting for Banks.
- 322 Chendan Yan, Nate Aden, Cynthia Cummis, Eoin White, Jan Vandermosten, Donald Linderyd, and Chris Weber, *Financial Sector Science-Based Targets Guidance* (San Francisco: Science Based Targets Initiative, August 2022), https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/Financial-Sector-Science-Based-Targets-Guidance.pdf.
- 323 United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment, The Net Zero Investment Consultants Commitment, https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=14612.
- 324 "Commitment," Net Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance, https://www.netzeroserviceproviders.com/our-commitment/.
- 325 Anders Bjørn, Shannon Lloyd, and Damon Matthews, "From the Paris Agreement to Corporate Climate Commitments: Evaluation of Seven Methods for Setting 'Science-Based' Emission Targets," Environ. Res. Lett., vol. 16, (2021), 12. https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/abe57b/pdf.
- 326 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Interpretation Guide: Race to Zero Expert Peer Review Group (June 2022) (UNFCC Interpretation Guide: Race to Zero Expert Peer Review Group), https://climatechampions.unfccc.int/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/EPRG-interpretation-guide-2.pdf.
- 327 Joseph Power, Jordan McDonald, So Lefebvre, and Tom Coleman, The Time to Green Finance: CDP Financial Services Disclosure Report 2020 (London: CDP Worldwide, 2021), https://cdn.cdp.net/cdp-production/cms/reports/documents/000/005/741/original/CDP-Financial-Services-Disclosure-Report-2020.pdf?1619537981.
- 328 UNFCC Interpretation Guide: Race to Zero Expert Peer Review Group.
- 329 GFANZ's six sector-specific sub-initiatives include: the Net Zero Asset Managers initiative (NZAM); Net-Zero Banking Alliance (NZBA); UN-convened Net-Zero Asset Owner Alliance (NZAOA); Paris Aligned Asset Owners (PAAO), overseen by the Paris Aligned Investment Initiative (PAII); UN-convened Net-Zero Insurance Alliance (NZIA), Net Zero Financial Service Providers Alliance (NZFSPA); and Net Zero Investment Consultants Initiative (NZICI). GRRR.nl. (2022, November 17).
- 330 2022 Financial System Benchmark: Assessing 400 Global Financial Institutions on their Progress to Supporting a Just and Sustainable Economy (Amsterdam: World Benchmarking Alliance, 2022), para. 7. https://www.worldbenchmarkingalliance.org/publication/financial-system/.
- 331 Ben Caldecott, "Post Covid-19 Stimulus and Bailouts Need to be Compatible with the Paris Agreement," Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment 12, no.3, (2022): 886-893, https://doi.org/10.1080/20430795.2020.1809292.
- 332 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "The Evidence is Clear: The Time for Action is Now. We Can Halve Emissions by 2030," press release, April 4, 2022, para. 13. https://www.ipcc.ch/2022/04/04/ipcc-ar6-wgiii-pressrelease/001.
- 333 Jack Arnold and Perrine Toledano, "Corporate Net-Zero Pledges: The Bad and the Ugly," Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment (blog), December 1, 2021, https://ccsi. columbia.edu/news/corporate-net-zero-pledges-bad-and-ugly.
- 334 Thomas Day, Silke Mooldijk, Sybrig Smit, Eduardo Posada, Frederic Hans, Harry Fearnehough, Aki Kachi, Carsten Warnecke, Takeshi Kuramochi, Niklas Höhne, Corporate Climate Responsibility Monitor 2022: Assessing the Transparency and Integrity of Companies' Emission Reduction and Net-zero Targets (Cologne: New Climate Institute, February 2022), 26, https://newclimate.org/sites/default/files/2022/02/CorporateClimateResponsibilityMonitor2022.pdf.
- 335 Sam S. Rowan, "Pitfalls in Comparing Paris Pledges," Climatic Change 155, no. 4 (2019): 455–467, p. 458-459, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s10584-019-02494-7. pdf; Richie Merzian and Polly Hemming, Banking on Australia's Emissions: Why Creative Accounting Will Not Get Us to Net Zero Emissions (Canberra: The Australia Institute, May 2021), p. 11-12, https://australiainstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/P1076-Banking-on-Australiais-Emissions-Commitments-.pdf.
- 336 SBTi Corporate Manual (San Francisco: Science Based Targets Initiative, December 2021), 10, https://sciencebasedtargets.org/resources/files/SBTi-Corporate-Manual.pdf.
- 337 SBTi Corporate Manual, 12.
- 338 SBTi Corporate Manual.
- 339 Andrew Moseman, "Why Do We Compare Methane to Carbon Dioxide Over a 100-Year Timeframe? Are We Underrating the Importance of Methan Emissions?" MIT Climate Portal (blog), June 28, 2021, https://climate.mit.edu/ask-mit/why-do-we-compare-methane-carbon-dioxide-over-100-year-timeframe-are-we-underrating.
- 340 See for instance: "Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions," United States Environmental Protection Agency, August 5, 2022, https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sourcesgreenhouse-gas-emissions.



Columbia Center on Sustainable Investment

Jerome Greene Hall 435 West 116th Street New York, NY 10027

Phone: +1 (212) 854-1830

ccsi.columbia.edu